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Financial Highlights
MBWE

2023 2022
—E=SF =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
Revenue Uz 7,427,010 9,614,330
Gross profit EF 1,070,287 1,288,929
Profit for the year FRm=F 111,235 423,992
Profit attributable to owners of the Company ZAQ BB A &G G F 106,088 420,072
Gross profit margin FF= 14% 13%
Earning per share FhAEF
— Basic — &R RMBO0.068 RMBO0.268
AER® 00685t AR¥02687T
Total assets BEME 20,282,899 21,146,284
Net assets BEFE 17,206,801 17,390,864
Liquidity and Gearing nBhEERAR
Current ratio mEhLL 1 4.92 5.10
Quick ratio P ) Jn 2 4.65 4.69
Gearing ratio BELE 3 0.15 0.18
Notes: Kt -
1. Current ratio is calculated as current assets divided by current liabilities. 1. FEH BT EER BB EE -
2. Quick ratio is calculated as current assets less inventories divided by current 2. HE R B EE SR BB (EFTE -
liabilities.
3. Gearing ratio is calculated as total liabilities divided by total assets. 3 BIEHKITE (EEEEL B E A ETE o

—T o= FIERE | ENKE AR R AT 5



To our shareholders,

In 2023, China’s economy rebounded and showed signs of improvement.
Economic transformation and upgrading were actively promoted. The
gross domestic product (“GDP") growth rate for the year was 5.2%.
However, due to the sharp decline in real estate investment and slowdown
in the phase-out of backward capacity, the imbalance between supply and
demand in the cement industry escalated. Fierce competition had led to a
further decline in the overall profitability of the industry, with total profit
of the industry dropping by more than 50% year-on-year.

Low-carbon green development and elimination of excess capacity
are the most important factors affecting changes in the supply of the
cement industry, and they are also the main focus of the current industry
policy. 2023 has seen a continuation of the stringent regulation of the
cement industry. Following the joint publication of the “Implementation
Plan for Carbon Peak Achievement in the Building Materials Industry”
by the National Development and Reform Commission and four other
ministries in November 2022, the “Guiding Catalogue for Industrial
Structural Adjustment (2023 Edition)” of the National Development and
Reform Commission revised and redefined the encouragement category,
restriction category and prohibition category of the industrial catalogue.
In 2023, all provinces in the country gradually released their carbon peak
action plans or action plans for industry transformation and upgrading,
further accelerating the clearance and phase-out of backward capacity.
At the same time, the “Building Materials Industry’s Work Plan to Ensure
Growth Stability” proposed to study and promote the inclusion of the
cement industry in the national carbon emissions trading market. It is
also setting out detailed guidelines and uniform standards for ultra-
low emissions assessment and monitoring procedures and methods. As
a result, the increased compliance costs are likely to be borne by the
cement enterprises themselves. Small enterprises may be forced to exit the
market sooner than otherwise due to cost pressures. Simultaneously, the
implementation of the policy will help facilitate enterprises’ intensifying
their research and development efforts on key green and low-carbon
technologies.

During the past year, Asia Cement (China) demonstrated its strengths
and resilience in the face of adversity by upholding the business spirit of
“Integrity, Diligence, Austerity, Prudence and Innovation”. Focusing on
the two medium — and long-term goals of “technological innovation” and
“net zero emission”, the Group integrated its resources, strengthened
technological innovation system, expanded intelligent projects, continued
to implement energy saving, consumption reduction and emission
reduction in all aspects of production, steadily pushed forward the
implementation of ultra-low emission modifications, and accelerated the
digitalization and intelligentization process. Together with Ding & Ding
Management Consultants and Asia Engineering Co., Ltd., the Group had
built a dedicated intelligent energy management system, and expanded
intelligent projects around it to cover the aspects of optimization control,
quality management, logistics management, equipment management, etc;
continued to build integrated smart applications in Asia Cement (China)
to achieve seamless integration from raw materials, products, equipment,
workshops, factories to industrial chain, supply chain and value chain. This
comprehensive integration will improve energy conservation and reduce
consumption.

HEBRE :
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Over the past year, Asia Cement (China) has been actively optimizing its
business layout and pursuing a diversified and integrated development to
stabilize its operating results, cultivate new growth drivers and enhance its
ability to avert risk. The Group consolidated its clinker production capacity
in Hubei and planned to build a clinker production line in Huanggang, as
well as expanded ports along the Yangtze River and increased corridor
transportation, enabling the Group to sell its products in the core markets
in the Yangtze River Delta. Meanwhile, the aggregate projects had been
carried out in an orderly manner and the production capacity in Jiangxi
and Huanggang had been significantly increased, which helped the Group
to increase its revenue.

In the past year, Asia Cement (China) persisted in fulfilling its social
corporate responsibility by taking into account the harmonious coexistence
between people and nature in its development. The Group gave priority
to ecology preservation, environmental protection, safety, and efficient
use of resources in its work. Its mission was to be the preferred partner in
creating a sustainable green home, and strove to strengthen its ecological
power to build a beautiful China.

Affected by the macro environment, Asia Cement (China)’s operating
revenue in 2023 amounted to RMB7,427,010,000 representing a year-on-
year decrease of 23%. The gross operating profit and net operating profit
amounted to RMB1,070,287,000 and RMB285,251,000, representing
year-on-year decreases of 17% and 47% respectively. The gross operating
margin and net operating margin were 14.4% and 3.8% respectively,
representing year-on-year increased by 1.0 percentage point and
decreased by 1.7 percentage points.

In 2024, the global economic environment, net zero emissions and
artificial intelligence are three major challenges coming head-on. From this
complex and challenging situation, new development opportunities for
the cement industry will inevitably arise. China’s economy is undergoing
the transition from “old” to “new” growth drivers. The GDP growth
rate for the year is estimated to be around 4.5%, maintaining a medium
to high growth rate. Stabilization policies including the RMB1 trillion
sovereign debt and the “three major projects” create certain conditions
for stabilizing cement demand in 2024. However, the long-term decline
in industry demand is an inevitable trend for the transformation and
development of the economic structure. Cement enterprises will continue
to face the pressure of restructuring, development and profitability.
Enterprises with high-quality mineral resources, lower production and
energy costs, a more complete industrial chain layout, and a more rational
market layout will have a higher safety cushion.

At present, a new round of technological revolution and industrial
reforms are deepening, with an unprecedented wide range of influence
and profound impact. The cement industry, while shouldering the heavy
responsibility of green development, should also grasp the historical
opportunities brought by the new round of technological revolution and
industrial reforms, actively embrace changes and the new trend of Al
development, lead the industrial reforms with technological innovation,
focus on the high-level integration of energy-saving and intelligence,
with the aim to lay a solid foundation for the industry’s high-quality
development.

BE—F > DR(FPEEEHECHR - ZT—
BBRE  WSERQLERBEWIRE AN EEE
RE - RIEREE S - REES IR
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Looking ahead, Asia Cement (China) will proactively respond to the
opportunities and challenges brought about by the changing times,
focus on innovation and sustainability, and reshape its new development
advantages and core competitiveness. In the next five years, the Group
plans to initiate Al transformation, incorporate digital thinking into
operation and management, incorporate Al into workflow, actively
implement the popularization and application of artificial intelligence, and
build digital mines and smart factories. In terms of net zero emission, the
Group will focus on ultra-low emission, energy-saving and consumption
reduction technology modifications, and all cement and clinker production
lines will reach environmental protection class A standards. The Group
will also increase the sense of social corporate responsibility in all aspects
and actively participate in government’s waste-free cities construction.
At the same time, the Group will consolidate resource allocation, focus
on the cement + aggregates + concrete businesses, optimize existing
logistics and improve transshipment capabilities, make precise and
effective investments, significantly enhance the market position of its
existing businesses, continue to improve the efficiency and quality of its
operations, and raise the standard of environmental protection, safety and
health management. The Group will gather momentum and energy to
advance towards a green and smart future and achieve a high quality, and
more efficient and sustainable development!
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Macro perspectives of China and the industry

In 2023, despite numerous challenges such as sluggish
recovery in global economy, complex evolution in
international situation, frequent domestic natural disasters
and arduous task for reform, development and stability,
the national economy had been showing signs of recovery
and improvement, actively promoting transformation
and upgrading, and steadily advancing towards high-
quality development. Its major expected goals had been
successfully achieved. However, the external environment
remained complex and severe with insufficient domestic
effective demand, weak social expectations and various
risks and potential hazards. In order to drive further
recovery in the national economy, there is still a need to
overcome certain difficulties and challenges. In 2023,
China’s gross domestic product reached RMB126 trillion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 5.2%, higher than
the estimated global growth rate of approximately 3%.
China ranked among the world’s top major economies and
was the largest engine of world economic growth.

Since the beginning of the year, the domestic macro-
economy has continued to recover, while the real estate
industry remained in the phase of significant adjustment.
In 2023, China’s fixed asset investment increased by 3.0%
year-on-year; infrastructure investment increased by 5.9%
year-on-year; manufacturing investment increased by 6.5%
year-on-year; property development investment decreased
by 9.6% year-on-year; added value of industries above
designated size increased by 4.6% year-on-year; total profit
of industrial enterprises above designated size decreased by
2.3% year-on-year to RMB7.7 trillion.

2023 was a crucial year in the 14th Five-Year Plan.
Infrastructure investment had maintained steady growth
throughout the year. However, the real estate industry
was still undergoing a phase of deep adjustment, with
a significant negative impact on cement demand. The
total cement demand throughout the year remained
in a downward trend and characterized by weakening
seasonality during the off-peak and peak periods. Under
these circumstances, no cement companies across the
country would want to lose their market shares and
therefore they competed fiercely on prices, causing cement
prices to fluctuate at low levels and industry profits to
shrink. In 2023, the national cement output amounted to
2.02 billion tonnes, representing a year-on-year decrease
of 0.7%; cement industry profit was expected to be
approximately RMB32 billion, representing a decrease of
approximately 50% year-on-year.

(=)

BRRITELZBER
—Eo=F > BmHEHREEE
o BERBIEHES -
BABAKEEE HEEE
BEABEESZEHE - K
R EB A ML SRARTE
B SESERBELH
17 FEBEHEEZERRES
BRIK - ZRIINEIRIBAAIE
MEE  BMABMRERNE
HEBEHERS - BRBRESAA
8% HHERLCELE D
F oo D E % AR — N BBk
B —_T-_=ZF  KELKLE
ME1BEL L EFEER
52% @ RSN EH3I%AEH
RTERTIEE - AR ETELHE
Bt RyIAIF - S REE
BRAFEASIZE o

FLAR - BB EE L BB
R1E - BEMETEDNRINE
EABRER - —_ T =%
Z2HETEERERLEBE
3.0% - EWRHRERERLERE
59% « REEKERLLER
65% - EHEMEILE TR
9.6% ; =B E A £ T 318
MERLEREAI6%  2ER
B ETHMCEERABHRARE
778 BT KREAEREKL TE
2.3% °

TEC=FREmITOAIE
BT 2FEBRRE
RERBFEBER  BERME
TEDNERAEAERE - 4
KEBRKMNERIEFTHE 2
FRESESKRKBEDNETHB
B ORE RS EED -
FEULIRIE T @ SR EY
NEEERTSEME  BEE
FHR REXKEERERIE
HEBIT  TENEERE - =T
T=F > 2BKEES2021E
WE - ZR A E L TFE0.7%
FERTKRTTEFE 4932018 T
B T FE50% A4 ©



(2)

In 2023, there were 17 cement and clinker production lines
in China put into operation, which all were projects aiming
at reducing capacity and replacing older facilities, with a
total designed capacity of 24,920,000 tonnes.

Overview of the Group's business

In 2023, market demand remained weak. The domestic
cement market price trend in general exhibited an initial
rise followed by subsequent declines with fluctuations
and adjustments. The development trend for the cement
industry in the central and downstream regions of the
Yangtze River and Sichuan region, being the two major
long-term markets in which the Group has key operating
activities, is as follows:

A. The market conditions in the central and
downstream regions of the Yangtze River fluctuated
throughout the year. Demand was sluggish, and
seasonality during the off-peak and peak periods
weakened. In the first quarter, industry inventory
level remained high since the end of last year.
Demand recovery accelerated after the Spring
Festival, and supply reduced owing to staggered
peak production and kiln shutdown for overhaul.
As a result, cement prices began to pick up. In the
second quarter, under the combined influences
of traditional factors such as festive holidays, high
school and college examinations, frequent rainy
weather, and funding issues in relation to housing
and infrastructure projects, cement demand had
rapidly declined. In addition, the inauguration
of new production capacity along the river led
to an imbalance between supply and demand;
competition within the industry intensified in the
third quarter and cement prices remained in a
downward trend. By the end of the third quarter,
raw material prices rose. In the fourth quarter,
led by major enterprises, cement prices rose and
underwent periodic fluctuations. There was,
however, insufficient support from cement demand,
and prices began to fall in December.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 3% 8 51 @ K& 24T

In Sichuan, benefiting from the strict implementation
of the staggered peak production policy, cement
prices were able to maintain at a relatively high level
in 2023. However, affected by the macroeconomic
environment, cement market demand remained
weak. In addition to the traditional off-season
factors, the Sichuan region is also affected by
factors such as the influx of low-priced cement from
eastern Sichuan and Chongging and the convening
of the Universiade. The cement market had been
depressed for a long time, and prices declined
throughout the second and third quarters. Although
cement demand recovered in the fourth quarter,
air pollution warnings were frequently issued and
construction work at construction sites was slowed
down. Cement prices fell again under inventory
pressure after a price hike.

In 2023, the Group’s total sales volume of cement products
(cement and clinker) amounted to 26,093,000 tonnes,
down by 6.7% when compared to that of 2022.

Table 1: Total sales volume (Unit:"000 tonnes)
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24,037 0.1
3,940 (48.2)
262 (48.5)
28,239 (7.1)

Table 2: Sales volume of cement by region
(Unit:'000 tonnes)

Southeastern region =)
Central region ERR
Southwestern region AEE

= KRS ES B
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4,510 (15.3)
7,282 (9.0)
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Table 3: Sales volume of high grade and low grade %= : B{EEMRKIEHEHKET
cement (Unit:’000 tonnes)

(BRfL - )

2023 2022
—EB=F —E——
Sales Sales

volume Percentage volume Percentage
i 4. e A5l
e (C7)) iHE (%)
High grade cement SIZEKE 22,567 94 22,851 95
Low grade cement EAZIKE 1,487 6 1,186 5
24,054 100 24,037 100

Table 4: Sales volume of bagged and bulk cement XM : S&&KIEHERE

(Unit:'000 tonnes) (BEfI - Fmg)
2023 2022
=== —F--
Sales Sales
volume Percentage volume Percentage
EE G Lt
$E (%) $HE (%)
Bulk cement B 21,432 89 21,779 91
Bagged cement BEICE 2,622 11 2,258 9
24,054 100 24,037 100
Operating Results ReExE
Revenue W
The Group's principal business activities are manufacture and REBZFTEBEKAEERBEK

sale of cement, concrete and related products. As shown in
the table below, for 2023, the Group’s revenue amounted to
RMB7,427,010,000, representing a decrease of RMB2,187,320,000
or 23% from RMB9,614,330,000 in 2022. The decrease in revenue
was mainly attributable to the decrease in the average selling price
of the Group’s products during 2023.

e RREREBESR TR
RO2023FARAEBZRFZAAR
& 7,427,010,000 JT © ¥ 2022 F A
R % 9,614,330,000 7T B 2 A R #
2,187,320,000708k23% ° Wi+
DR AEEERFHEEN2023F
TBEFTER ©

Southeastern region EE 4,199,856 57 5,182,554 54
Central region G 970,058 13 1,515,268 16
Southwestern region sl 2,257,096 30 2,916,508 30

7,427,010 100 9,614,330 100

In respect of revenue contribution for 2023, sales of cement
accounted for 86% (2022: 81%) and sales of concrete accounted
for 2% (2022: 3%). The table below is a sales analysis by product
for the reporting period:

T2023FWEBRIME @ KEHER
1586% (20224F : 81%) * MR+ 84
EBE(H2%(20224F : 3%) o R
NS HRIRE RS D 2 HEEST
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Cement K 6,362,330 86 7,790,743 81
Clinker PR 486,129 7 1,180,834 12
RMC TERRRE T 185,335 2 252,706 3
Blast-furnace slag powder  SIEFREEH 27,271 0 54,633 1
Others HAth 365,945 5 335,414 3
7,427,010 100 9,614,330 100

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit HERRREEF

The Group's cost of sales primarily includes cost of raw materials,
fuel expenses (consisting of coal and electricity costs), employee
compensation and benefits, depreciation and amortisation
and other overhead costs. In 2023, the Group’s cost of sales
decreased by approximately 24% to RMB6,356,723,000 from
RMB8,325,401,000 in 2022 due to the decrease in coal cost.

The gross profit for 2023 was RMB1,070,287,000 (2022:
RMB1,288,929,000), with a gross profit margin of 14% (2022:
13%). The decrease in gross profit was mainly attributable to the
selling price of the Group’s products declined and the decrease in
coal cost compared with that of the previous year.

Other Income

Other income mainly comprises government grants, transportation
fee income, interest income and sales of scrap materials. For 2023,
other income amounted to RMB237,211,000, representing an
increase of RMB25,103,000 from RMB212,108,000 in 2022. The
increase in other income was attributable to the increase in interest
income.

Other Expenses, Other Gains and Losses

Other expenses, other gains and losses mainly comprise net foreign
exchange loss, government penalties and related surcharge, gain
(loss) on fair value changes on financial assets at FVTPL, (losses)
gains in fair value of investment properties and losses on disposal/
write-off of property, plant and equipment. For 2023, other
expenses, other gains and losses amounted to RMB14,916,000,
representing a decrease of RMB16,544,000 from RMB31,460,000
in 2022. The decrease was principally attributable to gain (loss) on
fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL.
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Distribution and Selling Expenses, Administrative
Expenses and Finance Costs

The distribution and selling expenses increased from
RMB437,244,000 in 2022 to RMB447,257,000 in 2023. Mainly
attributable to an increase in handling charges of cement products
during 2023.

Administrative costs, including employee compensation and
benefits, depreciation expenses and other general office expenses,
increased by approximately 6%, from RMB318,983,000 in 2022 to
RMB337,779,000 in 2023.

The 37% increase in finance costs was mainly due to the increase
in bank borrowing interest rate compared to 2022.

Profit before Tax
As a result of the foregoing factors, the profit before tax for

2023 decreased by RMB217,370,000, constituting a profit of
RMB471,631,000 (2022: profit of RMB689,001,000).

Income Tax Expense
In 2023, income tax expense increased by RMB95,387,000 or

approximately 36% to RMB360,396,000, from RMB265,009,000
in 2022.

Non-controlling Interests

In 2023, non-controlling interests amounted to RMB5,147,000,
representing an increase of RMB1,227,000 or approximately
31% compared with RMB3,920,000 in 2022, primarily due to an
increase in profit contribution from Jiangxi Yadong.

Profit for the Year

For 2023, the net profit of the Group amounted to
RMB111,235,000, representing a decrease of RMB312,757,000
from the profit of RMB423,992,000 in 2022.
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The Group maintained a strong financial position for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Total assets decreased by approximately
4% to RMB20,282,899,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
RMB21,146,284,000), while total equity decreased by approximately
1% to RMB17,206,801,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
RMB17,390,864,000).

Restricted Bank Deposits, Bank Balances and Cash

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances that are placed in restricted
bank accounts in accordance with the applicable government regulations
amounting to RMB6,016,000 (2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank balances and cash
amounted to approximately RMB9,256,549,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB8,900,448,000), of which approximately 99% was denominated in
RMB, with the remainder denominated in US dollars, Hong Kong dollars
and Singapore dollars.

Cash Flow

The Group derived its cash inflow from operations primarily through the
receipt of payments for the sale of its cement and concrete products.
The Group’s cash outflow from operations was used primarily for raw
material purchases, payment for fuel and power, distribution costs and
staff salaries. Cash generated from operating activities decreased from
RMB1,614,656,000 in 2022 to RMB1,531,770,000 in 2023.

The Group’s cash inflow from investing activities primarily consisted of
interest income, withdrawal of USD Notes and proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment. The Group’s cash outflow from investing
activities primarily consisted of purchase of financial assets, purchases
of property, plant and equipment. In 2023, cash used in investing
activities of the Group amounted to RMB2,814,690,000 (2022: cash from
RMB257,340,000).

In 2023, the cash used in financing activities of the Group amounted to
RMB973,667,000 (2022: cash from RMB138,927,000). This was primarily
due to repayments of bank borrowings in 2023.

Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB310,078,000 (31 December 2022: RMB379,592,000),
and capital commitments as at 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB77,910,000 (31 December 2022: RMB57,692,000).
Both capital expenditure and capital commitments were mainly related
to the purchases of plant and equipment for new production lines.
The Group anticipates that such commitments will be funded by future
operating revenue, bank borrowings and other sources of finance as
appropriate.
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Borrowings

The Group’s borrowings as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are
summarized below:

Short-term borrowings REEE 1,148,000

Long-term borrowings RHEE 625,000

Currency denomination FEEE

- RMB - AR 1,773,000

— US dollars —3ETT =

Borrowings B

—unsecured and unguaranteed — K & EIER 1,773,000

Interest rate B

— fixed-rate RMB - ARBEERE 1,493,000
bank borrowings

— fixed-rate USD —EnTELEER =
bank borrowings

— variable-rate RMB —ARBZERE 280,000

bank borrowings

EE
INEEEFA20234F 2202212 A31 A 2 B E#E
T

65 1,014,000 43

35 1,361,646 57

100 2,306,000 97

= 69,646 3

100 2,375,646 100

3.31% to 1,791,000 2.15% to

4.45% 3.51%

3.31%E 2.15%%&

4.45% 3.51%

N/A 69,646 5.09%
FER

3.55% to 515,000 2.48% to

3.78% 3.29%

3.55%F 2.48%=

3.78% 3.29%

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had unutilized credit facilities in the
amount of RMB9,171,000,000.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately
15% (31 December 2022: 18%). The calculation of the gearing ratio was
based on total liabilities and total assets as at 31 December 2023 and
2022, respectively.

Pledge of Assets

The Group did not have any pledge or charge on assets as at 31 December
2023.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report, the Board
of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is not aware of any material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2022: Nil).
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Human Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 2,966 employees. The Group
participates in retirement insurance, medicare, unemployment insurance
and housing provident fund scheme according to the applicable PRC laws
and regulations for its employees in the PRC. The Group remunerated
its employees based on their work performance and experience.
Remuneration packages are subject to review on a regular basis.

In addition, the Group also adopted the Share Option Scheme, under
which eligible directors and employees are entitled to various share
options to subscribe for the ordinary shares in the Company according to
their past and potential contribution to the growth of the Group, on 27
April 2008. The Share Option Scheme was expired on 26 April 2018.

Material Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiaries and
Affiliated Companies

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no material acquisitions or
disposals for the year ended 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: Nil).

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

The Group’s sales and purchases during the reporting period were mostly
denominated in RMB.

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates of RMB
may vary significantly from the current or historical exchange rates as a
result of controls imposed by the PRC government. The exchange rates
may also be affected by economic developments and political changes
domestically and internationally as well as the demand and supply of RMB.
The appreciation or devaluation of RMB against foreign currencies may
have an impact on the operating results of the Group.

The Group’s management monitors foreign exchange exposure at any
time and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.
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Industry challenges

In 2024, the cement industry continues to face various
difficulties and challenges, which are mainly found in the
following:

First, the national real estate market is still in a phase of
deep adjustment. It is expected that the real estate market
is likely to stabilise after reaching its bottom in 2024.
Since the end of 2023, a series of supportive policies to
revive and rejuvenate the real estate market have been
successively introduced. The financing environment of the
property sector has slightly improved, with property sales
and investments likely to reach their lowest levels and
stabilise in the first half of 2024 and moderately recover in
the second half of the year. However, the impact of policy
launch and implementation on cement demand follows a
certain cycle in order to be felt. It will therefore take time
for the cement market demand to unleash.

Second, in 2023, the problem of excessive cement capacity
exacerbated, leading to severe imbalance between supply
and demand. The market disequilibrium could not be
rectified despite cement enterprises across the country
supressed cement production through common measures
such as implementation of staggered peak production
program. Enterprises competed ferociously, leading to
markets in various regions experiencing multiple rounds
of price downturns and significant decline in industry’s
profitability. It is expected that there will still be new
capacity additions in 2024. Although efforts to implement
staggered peak production program in various regions
will step up, the weak demand pattern will remain. High
inventory level in the industry is very likely to persist, and
there is a relatively high possibility that the cement price
will exhibit a bottoming-out and volatile trend.

Third, coal prices continued to fluctuate at high levels,
putting pressure on the production costs of enterprises.
Since 2023, coal prices have gradually declined to RMB900-
1,200 per tonne, but they are still at historically high levels.
In early February, the State Council approved “Coal Mine
Safety Production Regulations”, which is scheduled to be
implemented in May. In future, the supervision of coal
mines’ safety in China may further enhance, leading to
possible tightening of coal supply. This could pose a risk in
coal price rise.
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Industry trend

In 2024, there are still various difficulties and challenges on
the supply side and demand side. Nevertheless, there are
also positive expectations. The Group remains cautiously
optimistic:

On the demand side, in 2024, the key focus of the real
estate sector is still on “ensuring delivery of housing
projects” and “controlling risks”, while accelerating the
construction of affordable housing, the construction of
public facilities with dual normal and emergency use, and
urban village redevelopment. Efforts to push forward
these three major projects will continue to be stepped up.
As a result, decline in property investment is likely to be
mitigated. The downward impact of the real estate sector
on cement demand is significantly weaker when compared
with those in 2022 and 2023. On the other hand, with the
gradual implementation of the new infrastructure projects
financed by the RMB1 trillion additional government
bonds issued at the beginning of the year, infrastructure
investment will continue to increase. Infrastructure
investment remains an important means of supporting the
economy in 2024.

On the supply side, efforts to implement staggered peak
production program stepped up in 2023. However, owing
to weak cement demand, staggered peak production
programs in various regions produced relatively little
benefits. As such, in 2024, staggered peak production
policies in various regions are inclined to further extend the
duration of kiln suspension. Cement prices have remained
at low levels over a long period of time. With enterprises
seeking to reduce losses, the implementation of staggered
peak production policies is expected to improve. Although
there is still an overall excess supply, the imbalance
between supply and demand has relatively eased. From
a long-term perspective, the dual carbon goals and ultra-
low emission policy of the cement industry will impose
stricter requirements, which will pose greater challenges to
cement enterprises in terms of their investment capabilities.
As to smaller individual cement enterprises, they will face
even greater pressure and difficulties. In the long run, the
stricter requirements will be conducive to the elimination
of obsolete cement and clinker capacities and reduction
of total production capacities, which will further increase
industry concentration.
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The Group’s business outlook

The Group expects that the cement demand will slightly
decrease throughout the year of 2024, and the cement
market prices will remain low and volatile.

In view of the various factors including economic situation,
market demand, industry supply, the Group plans to sell
26,590,000 tonnes of cement products (cement and
clinker) in 2024, which is basically in line with the sales
volume of 2023.

In 2024, the Group continues to adhere to the operational
strategies of high efficiency, high quality, excellent service
and high environmental protection. The Group will enhance
customer service efforts and customers experience.
Furthermore, it will fully leverage its integrated storage
and transportation competitive edge to continue to pursue
cost reduction and efficiency improvement. It will strive to
lower costs at each stage of production while maintaining
product quality. At the same time, the Group will actively
participate in the intensifying market competition through
a more efficient and professional business team. All these
will help maintain the Group’s share in core markets, and
create greater value for the country, society, shareholders
and employees.
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The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices to safeguard the interests of the Company’s
shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability. These
can be achieved by an effective Board, segregation of duties with clear
accountability, sound internal control, appropriate risk assessment
procedures and transparency to all the shareholders.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to ensuring
that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to maintaining and
developing robust corporate governance practices that are intended to
ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded,

- that overall business risk is understood and managed appropriately;
and

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to the satisfaction
of customers; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.

The Company has complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry with each
of the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the year
under review. Details of the shareholding interests held by the Directors as
at 31 December 2023 are set out in pages 52 to 53 of this annual report.
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The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the business strategy,
reviewing and monitoring the business performance of the Group,
approving the financial statements and annual budgets as well as
directing and supervising the management of the Company. Execution
of operational matters and the powers thereof are delegated to the
management by the Board with clear directions.

The Board has a balanced composition of executive and non-executive
Directors to ensure independent viewpoints in all discussions. The Board
currently comprises of eleven Directors, including six executive Directors,
one non-executive Director and four independent non-executive Directors.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, Board members are listed
below:

Executive Directors

Mr. HSU, Shu-ping (Vice Chairman)

Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung (Retired on 9 June 2023)
Mr. CHEN, Ruey-long (Appointed on 9 June 2023)
Mr. LEE, Kun-yen

Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. LIN, Seng-chang

Ms. WU, Ling-ling

Non-executive Director
Mr. HSU, Shu-tong (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic
Mr. WANG, Wei

Mr. LEE, Kao-chao

Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming

Biographical information of the Directors is set forth on pages 41 to 46 of
this annual report.

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with the
Company, Mr. HSU, Shu-ping has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 13 March 2023, each
of Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen and Mr. LIN, Seng-chang has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing
on 27 April 2023, Ms. WU, Ling-ling has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 April
2022, and Mr. LEE, Kun-yen has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 10 June 2022 and Mr.
CHEN, Ruey-long has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of three years commencing on 9 June 2023, all of which may
be terminated in accordance with the provisions of the service contract by
either party giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing.

The Company has issued an appointment letter to Mr. HSU, Shu-tong,
non-executive Director, for a term of three years commencing on 27 April
2023, which may be terminated in accordance with the provisions thereof
by either party giving to the other not less than one month’s prior notice
in writing.
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The Company has issued an appointment letter to each of the independent
non-executive Directors for a term of three years. The Company has issued
an appointment letter to Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic, Mr. WANG, Wei,
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao and Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming commencing on 7 April
2023, 13 April 2021, 13 April 2021 and 1 October 2021 respectively, all
of which may be terminated in accordance with the provisions thereof by
either party giving to the other not less than two months’ prior notice in
writing.

The Company has received from of each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence and
the Company considers each independent non-executive Director to be
independent. To further enhance accountability, any appointment of an
individual non-executive Director who has served on the Board for more
than nine years will be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by
shareholders.

Mr. TSIM, Tak-Lung Dominic has served as a director of the Company
for more than 9 years. As independent non-executive Director with an
in-depth understanding of the Group's operations and business, he has
expressed objective views and provided reliable independent guidance to
the Company over the years and continues to demonstrate commitment
to his role as independent non-executive Director. In view of this, the
Board considers that the long-term service of this director would not affect
his exercise of independent judgement.

The independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors
have attended general meeting of the Company to gain and develop a
balanced understanding of the view of the Shareholders.

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board, which allows the Board
effectively exercises independent judgment to better safeguard
Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement or
further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what actions
of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the Board
performance, for instance, addressing individual training and development
needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the Board
will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board Independence
Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board which will collectively
discuss the results and the action plan for improvement, if appropriate.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, all Directors has completed
the independence evaluation in the form of a questionnaire individually
and supplemented by individual interviews. The Board Independence
Evaluation Report was presented to the Board and the evaluation results
were satisfactory.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. To ensure a balance of power and
authority, the Company has appointed Mr. HSU, Shu-tong as Chairman
and Mr. CHANG Chen-kuen as Chief Executive Officer.

The relationship between the Board members is disclosed on page 50 of
this annual report.

The Chairman of the Board held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors during the year.

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the Company and is
responsible for overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board makes
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. All Directors,
including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The Group’s
senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Group's business and is responsible for overseeing the general operation,
business development, finance, marketing, and operations.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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The Board meets regularly in person or by means of electronic
communication. The Board planned to meet at least four times a year
and four meetings were held in 2023. Regular board meetings scheduled
at the beginning of the year to give all Directors adequate time to plan
their schedules to attend. Directors received at least 14 days’ prior written
notice of regular Board meetings and an agenda. The Board resolutions,
including supporting analysis and relevant background information, were
sent to all Directors at least three days before the Board meeting. For
other Board meetings, Directors were given as much notice as possible in
the circumstances.

The table below sets out the details of Board meeting attendance of each
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Director in 2023. 15 o
Mr. HSU, Shu-tong BBRTAE 3/4
Mr. HSU, Shu-ping WIBE LA 4/4
Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung (retired on 9 June 2023) SRA MR (202356 A9HEMT) 2/2
Mr. CHEN, Ruey-long (appointed on 9 June 2023) PRI P e 4= (202396 A9 R (FE%) 2/2
Mr. LEE, Kun-yen FHEA LA 3/4
Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen RIREB AL 4/4
Mr. LIN, Seng-chang MAESTE 3/4
Ms. WU, Ling-ling RIEL+ 3/4
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic EEELAE 4/4
Mr. WANG, Wei FREESE 4/4
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao e E 4/4
Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming T ERRIE L 4/4

According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests due to a substantial shareholder or a
Director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. The Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles”) also contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

According to Article 86 of the Articles, any Director appointed to fill
a casual vacancy should be subject to re-election by the shareholders
at the first general meeting after their appointment and any Director
appointed as an addition to the existing Board should be subject to re-
election by the shareholders at the next following general meeting after
their appointment. According to Article 87 of the Articles, one-third of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation and are subject to re-election
at annual general meeting at least once every three years.

The non-executive Director is engaged on an appointment letter for a term
of three years and shall be subject to retirement by rotation once every
three years.
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The Company will provide a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
to each of the newly appointed Directors on his/her first appointment
in order to enable him/her to have an appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and to be fully aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Directors
are continually updated on developments in the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. The Company has provided timely technical updates,
including the briefing on the amendments on the Listing Rules and the
news release published by the Stock Exchange to the Directors.

During the year, the Company received training records from all
Directors relevant to the Company’s business or to Directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

The individual training record of each Director received for financial year
ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:
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Executive Directors BITES
Mr. HSU, Shu-ping BT EE AandB AKB
Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung (retired on 9 June 2023) RA M A (2023F6 A9HRME) AandB AKB
Mr. CHEN, Ruey-long (appointed on 9 June 2023) PR ¥m % 5 A4 (2023% 6 A9 H T8) AandB AKB
Mr. LEE, Kun-yen TR AandB AKB
Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen RIRE ST A& AandB ARB
Mr. LIN, Seng-chang MABRE AandB AKXB
Ms. WU, Ling-ling RREL L AandB AKB
Non-executive Director EMITES
Mr. HSU, Shu-tong BIBR A AandB ARB
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAFRITES
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic EEREs AandB AKB
Mr. WANG, Wei TREE AandB AKB
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao FEEALE AandB AKB
Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming FEIAE L AandB AKB

Notes: Hrat -
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

o To review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the internal audit division or
external auditor before submission to the Board;

o To review the relationship with the external auditor by reference
to the work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of
engagement, and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor; and

o To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

During the year under review, a summary of the work carried out by the
Audit Committee include:

- making recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of
the external auditors, as well as approving the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditors;

- reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards;

- monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the
Company and the Company’s annual report and accounts, interim
report and quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgments contained in such reports; and

- overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems, including but not
limited to, review of financial control, risk management and
internal control systems, consideration of actions to be taken in
respect of any findings of major investigations of risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or at its
own initiative and management'’s response thereto, and review of
the Group'’s financial and accounting policies and practices.

The Audit Committee comprises of Mr. HSU, Shu-tong who is a non-
executive Director and Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic and Mr. LEE, Kao-chao
who are independent non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is
chaired by Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic.
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Four meetings of the Audit Committee were held with the management
and/or the external auditors in 2023. Members of Audit Committee

attendance at committee meetings held during their term of office are
listed below:

Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic (chairman) EER LA (EE)
Mr. HSU, Shu-tong BIBRSLE
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao TEELE

R2023FE RTINS BERE N I
BB L EZESE  c BXZEEKE
HETHRBTZZESSZBROT ¢

4/4
3/4
4/4

A set of written terms of reference, which described the authority and
duties of the Audit Committee, was adopted by the Board on 16 March
2012 and amended on 28 December 2015 and the contents of which are
in compliance with the CG Code. The said terms of reference of the Audit
Committee adopted by the Board are available on Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited's ("HKEx") website at www.hkexnews.hk and on the
Company’s website at www.achc.com.cn.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and
structure and remuneration packages of the executive Directors and the
senior management. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for
establishing transparent procedures for formulating such remuneration
policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration
will be determined by reference to the performance of the individual
and the operating results of the Company as well as market practice and
conditions.

During the year under review, a summary of the work carried out by the
Remuneration Committee include:

- making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for remuneration of Directors and senior
management, and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent process for developing the remuneration policy;

- determining the specific remuneration packages of all
executive Directors and senior management, as well as making
recommendations to the Board in relation to the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

- reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board
from time to time; and
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- ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee comprises of Mr. HSU, Shu-tong who
is @ non-executive Director and Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic and Dr.
WANG, Kuo-ming who are independent non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee is chaired by Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming.

One meeting was held in 2023. Members of Remuneration Committee

attendance at committee meeting held during their term of office are
listed below:

Committee members

Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming (chairman) TEMRBL(EE)
Mr. HSU, Shu-tong RIBRELHE
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic EEELE
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A set of written terms of reference, which described the authority and
duties of the Remuneration Committee, was adopted by the Board
on 16 March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance
with the CG Code. The said terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee adopted by the Board are available on the HKEx's website at
www.hkexnews.hk and on the Company’s website at www.achc.com.cn.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company disclosed the remunerations of Directors in full, and
shareholders are entitled to vote for remuneration of the Directors while
the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company is authorised
to determine the remuneration of the Directors at the annual general
meeting. Such remuneration is disclosed by name, amount and type in
note 12 to the financial statements.

The remuneration of the members of senior management by bands in
2023 is set out below:

Remuneration bands

HK$1,000,001
HK$2,000,001

- HK$1,500,000
- HK$2,500,000
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INDEPENDENCE COMMITTEE

The primary functions of the Independence Committee include reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board in relation to the connected
transactions of the Group.

During the year under review, a summary of the work carried out by the
Independence Committee include:

- reviewing all transactions between the Group, Asia Cement
Corporation, Far Eastern New Century Corporation and Far Eastern
Group to ensure that they are conducted on normal commercial
terms and in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group, and to recommend to the Board the corrective measures
in such transactions if needed or not to proceed with such
transactions;

- establishing, where applicable, guidelines for management to
follow in its ongoing transactions between the Group, Asia Cement
Corporation, Far Eastern New Century Corporation and Far Eastern
Group;

- reviewing and assessing ongoing relationships between the Group,
Asia Cement Corporation, Far Eastern New Century Corporation
and Far Eastern Group to ensure compliance with the Committee’s
guidelines established as aforesaid and to ensure the continuation
of such relationship remains fair to the Group; and

- analyzing and assessing any potential conflict of interests between
the Group, Asia Cement Corporation, Far Eastern New Century
Corporation and Far Eastern Group.

The Independence Committee comprises of Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic,
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao and Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming who are independent non-
executive Directors. The Independence Committee is chaired by Mr. LEE,
Kao-chao.

One meeting of the Independence Committee was held in 2023. Members

of Independence Committee attendance at committee meeting held
during their term of office are listed below:

Committee members

Mr. LEE, Kao-chao (chairman) ek A(EE)
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic EEELRE
Dr. WANG Kuo-ming FEIRAEL
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Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transaction” in the Director’s Report, no additional ongoing relationships
or potential conflict was identified during the year.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

° To review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
make recommendations regarding any proposed changes;

o To identify suitable candidates for appointment as Directors;

o To make recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-
appointment of and succession planning for Directors; and

o To assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee are then put to the Board for decision.

During the year under review, a summary of the work carried out by the
Nomination Committee include:

- assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

- recommending to the Board on the re-election of Directors; and

- reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, to recommend to the Board the proposed
changes to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee comprises of Mr. HSU, Shu-tong who is a
non-executive Director, and Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic and Mr. WANG,
Wei who are independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination
Committee is chaired by Mr. HSU, Shu-tong.

A set of written terms of reference, which described the authority and
duties of the Nomination Committee, was amended and adopted by the
Board on 1 September 2013 and the contents of which are in compliance
with the CG Code. The said terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee adopted by the Board are available on the HKEx's website at
www.hkexnews.hk and on the Company’s website at www.achc.com.cn.
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One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held in 2023. Members
of Nomination Committee attendance at committee meeting held during
the year are listed below:

Committee members

Mr. HSU, Shu-tong (chairman) BBREAE(LE)
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic EEE LA
Mr. WANG Wei FEEE
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Number of
Nomination
Committee
Meetings

attended/held
REEZAE
THMHE 2THE

11
11
11

Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules requires the Board should have a board
diversity policy. The Nomination Committee has adopted a policy
concerning diversity of Board members (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on
25 October 2013 and amended the same on 31 December 2018, which
is achieved through consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience of the Board members. Annually, the Nomination
Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy and will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. As of
the date of this annual report, there is a total of 1 female and 10 male
directors on the Board of the Group. The Nomination Committee will also
identify suitable female candidate(s) for appointment to the Board on
merit against objective criteria.

The Board had targeted to achieve at least one female Director and
appropriate balance of female employees at all level of the Group and
considers that the Company’s current gender diversity is satisfactory.

CEMBANDEI3REET  EECEFTS
TTALBUR - IREBEBEEM20139F10825H
%%ﬁ%é%ﬁﬁﬁymkﬁﬁﬁé$aym
LB D) » WH2018F12 831 BIEE] » %K
REBEEZEAZE - @%@WEEAIEEJ F
B XUERHBEBEESREELS  HRERE
%ﬁﬁ‘z,%i;ﬁ{t REZEBSTFTHENZ
B - rlma e ENTAEI RaESES
TR HREES Lxﬁig % ML o

tERIZ Tt
ARREREESBARINERNZ T - BE
AEEHREAH  AEEEESHA UL
EXMOLBMES - IREZ BT RERE
ARBEERERE - I EBREYEAEN I
NEUNREREEEKE -

EFEENEBRRELE RUMES  TES
EEERNZMER THAZREE V- AR
REARF BRI ZTTEBERS ARE

32 Annual Report 2023 | ASIA CEMENT (CHINA) HOLDINGS CORPORATION



The Company adopted a Director Nomination Policy on 31 December 2018
setting out the criteria and process in the nomination and appointment
of Directors of the Company and ensure that the Board of the Company
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the Company, and also ensure the Board continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the Nomination
Committee should consider criteria including but not limited to character
and integrity, qualifications, diversity of the Board, requirement for the
Board to have independent directors in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules,
potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity, and
willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board.

Under the Director Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee should rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate. The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship. Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee should make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
director at the general meeting.

The principal duties of the Corporate Sustainability Committee include the
following:

o Consolidation and disclosure of information relating to corporate
sustainability

o Planning and execution of corporate sustainability projects

o Coordination and submission of information relating to external
evaluations on corporate sustainability.

Resolutions adopted through member voting or discussion by the
Committee shall be evaluated by applicable departments, subsidiaries or
task forces for implementation, and the result shall be reported at the next
meeting. The rules of procedure of the Committee included hereinabove
are governed by the Corporation’s Articles of Association.
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Corporate Governance Report (b B ATRE

During the year under review, a summary of the work carried out by the
Corporate Sustainability Committee include:

- The policy, system, or relevant management guidelines and concrete
promotion plans for implementing sustainable development
initiatives.

- Major stakeholders and their concerns.

- Results and assessment of the execution of corporate governance,
fostering of a sustainable environment, maintenance of public
welfare and promotion of economic development.

- Directions of future enhancement and goals.

The Corporate Sustainability Committee comprises of Dr. WANG, Kuo-
ming who is an independent non-executive Director, and Mr. HSU, Shu-
ping and Ms. WU, Ling-ling who are executive Directors. The Corporate
Sustainability Committee is chaired by Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming.

A set of written terms of reference, which described the articles of
association and policies of the Corporate Sustainability Committee, was
amended and adopted by the Board on 8 September 2023 and the
contents of which are in compliance with the CG Code. The said terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee adopted by the Board on the
Company'’s website at www.achc.com.cn.

Two meeting of the Corporate Sustainability Committee was held in 2023.

Members of Corporate Sustainability Committee attendance at committee
meeting held during the year are listed below:

Committee members

Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming TERREL(FE)
Mr. HSU, Shu-ping RIBFERAE
Ms. WU, Ling-ling R+
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The Board is responsible for determining the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate governance
duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code as follows:

(i) developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements (where
applicable);

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the employees and
Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG code and disclosure
requirements in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board's annual review of the Company's corporate governance
practices for the year ended 31 December 2023 has covered the aforesaid
matters.

The Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for making
sure that the financial statements for each financial year are prepared to
reflect the true and fair view of the state of affairs, results and cash flow
of the Group in compliance with relevant law and disclosure provisions of
the Listing Rules. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting
policies and applied them consistently; made judgement and estimates
that are prudent and reasonable, and have prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis. The Directors also ensure that the
financial statements of the Group are published in a timely manner.
The statement by the external auditors of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities of the financial statements of the Group is set
forth in the Independent Auditor’s Report on page 58 of this annual
report.

The Company has engaged Tricor Services Limited, an external services
provider, and Ms. Mok Ming Wai (“Ms. Mok"”) has been appointed as the
company secretary of the Company during the year. Ms. Mok's primary
contact person at the Company is Mr. WU Shen-hsin, the Secretariat
officer. During the year 2023, Ms. Mok undertook over 15 hours of
professional training to update her skill and knowledge.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.
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The Group appointed Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the Group's
principal external auditor. The acknowledgement of their responsibilities
on the financial statements is set forth in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 62 and 63 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid to Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for services
rendered in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 was as follows:

AEBEEREIRE « R SEETARE
B2 T RINEZHED - RERP MK AN
H2 ERENAFRFEC2EE ZBILEH
HEE

HZE2023F12A31HILFE SiZH e iixm
PRSI TIRERBRAES A ZEBEnT

Audit Services EZIRTE 6,000 6,000
Non-audit Services IEEAZ RS 3,497 -
Total 1Bzt 9,497 6,000

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Group's risk management
and internal control systems and for reviewing its effectiveness. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Annually, the Board, together with the Group'’s internal audit department
and management, conduct reviews of the effectiveness of the Company’s
risk management and internal control systems, including those of its
subsidiaries. The Audit Committee reviews the findings and opinion
from the Group’s risk management and internal audit department and
management on the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems, and reports to the Board on such reviews. In
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board considered the
risk management and internal control systems effective and adequate.
No significant areas of concern which might affect Shareholders were
identified.

The risk management and internal audit division of the Group should
ensure that the Company maintains sound and effective risk management
and internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and
the Company'’s assets. The main functions of the risk management and
internal audit division are to audit the operating efficiencies of each
of the operating units, to carry out audit upon resignation of any key
management personnel, to assist Board in reviewing the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and to
review risk management and internal controls of business processes and
project based auditing. Evaluation of the Group’s risk management and
internal controls covering financial, operational compliance controls and
risk management functions had been done on an ad hoc basis.
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Besides, the Internal Audit Department reviews the material controls of the
Group on a continuous basis and aims to cover all major operations of the
Group on a cyclical basis so as to identify major risk area and control issue.
Overall, internal audits are designed to provide the Board with reasonable
assurance that the internal control systems of the Group are sound and
effective. The Board also reviews regularly the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training programmes and budget.
Audit Committee has evaluated the performance of the risk management
and internal control system during the year and was satisfied with the
effectiveness of the function.

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy for employees of
the Company and those who deal with the Company to raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, with the Head of Internal Audit or the Audit
Committee about possible improprieties in any matters related to the
Company.

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to safeguard
against corruption and bribery within the Company. The Company has an
internal reporting channel that is open and available for employees of the
Company to report any suspected corruption and bribery. Employees can
also make anonymous reports to the Head of Internal Audit or the Audit
Committee, which is responsible for investigating the reported incidents
and taking appropriate measures. The Company continues to carry out
anti-corruption and anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture of integrity,
and actively organizes anti-corruption training and inspections to ensure
the effectiveness of anti-corruption and anti-bribery.

For the purpose of managing sustainable development initiatives, the
Company establishes the Corporate Sustainability Committee for enforcing
and implementing sustainable development policies, system or relevant
guidelines, and reporting on the same to the board of directors on a
regular basis. The Company shall establish the Corporate Sustainability
Promotion Committee, for executing matters relating to corporate
sustainability. The Chief Executive Officer shall act as the director of the
said committee, various relevant units shall be responsible for promoting
corporate sustainability works. The Secretariat of the Administration
Office shall be the General Convener. establish relevant risk management
policy or strategy for managing economic, environmental and social risks
and impact. To effectively implement management in terms of integrity
and ethics, the Head of Internal Audit of the Company arranges regular
inspection on all auditing items according to their risk levels every year,
and reports the audit results to the Audit Committee of the Company.
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With respect to inside information, the Group has adopted from time to
time certain regulatory measures as appropriate to prevent violation of the
disclosure requirements of the Group, including:

= Only a limited number of personnel (mainly the senior management
and Directors) have access to inside information upon request.
Employees having access to the inside information are fully aware
of their confidentiality responsibilities.

- All employees (including the Directors of the Group) must
strictly comply with the employment provisions regarding the
administration of confidential information.

The Group complies with the requirements of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (SFO) and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless
the information falls within the safe harbours as provided in the SFO.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that
the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensuring
that information contained in announcements or circulars is not false or
misleading as to material facts, or false or misleading through the omission
of material facts, and presenting information in a clear and balanced way,
which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant information to
shareholders in a timely manner. Annual and interim reports offer
comprehensive information to shareholders on operational and financial
performance whereas annual general meetings provide a forum for
shareholders to exchange views directly with the Board. The Company
regards annual general meetings as important events and all Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors), senior management
and external auditors shall make an effort to attend such meetings to
address shareholders’ queries. All shareholders are given a minimum of
21 clear days’ notice of the date, venue and agenda of such meetings. All
resolutions put to vote at the Company’s general meetings are taken by
poll. Poll results are published on the websites of the Company and the
HKEX.

In accordance with Article 58 of the Articles, one or more shareholders
holding, at the date of the deposition of requisition, not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at
general meetings may request by writing for the attention of the Directors
or the Company secretary to convene extraordinary general meetings and
put forward proposals at such meetings within 21 days of such deposit.
The purposes of the meetings and the businesses to be transacted in the
meeting must be specified in the requisition and lodged with the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 11/F, Lippo Leighton
Tower, 103 Leighton Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director, please refer to
the procedures as set out in the guidelines entitled “Director Nomination
Policy” on the Company’s website at www.achc.com.cn.
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The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in
particular, through annual general meetings and other general meetings.
The Chairman of the Board, all executive Directors, independent non-
executive Directors, and the chairmen of all Board committees (or their
delegates) will make themselves available at the annual general meetings
to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Board adopted a shareholders’ communication policy on 16 March
2012 to set out the Company’s procedures in providing the shareholders
with prompt and equal access to information about the Company, in order
to enable the shareholders to access the Company's overall performance,
exercise their rights in an informed manner and engage actively with the
Company.

The 2023 annual general meeting of the Company (“2023 AGM") was
held on 9 June 2023. The notice of the 2023 AGM was sent to the
shareholders on 25 April 2023.

The attendance record of the Directors at the general meetings is set out
below:
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Executive Directors BITESE

Mr. HSU, Shu-ping B AE ”n
Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung (retired on 9 June 2023) RA M A (2023F6 B9HEMT) 7
Mr. CHEN, Ruey-long (appointed on 9 June 2023) PR ¥mfE S A (202346 A9 H 1TE) ”n
Mr. LEE, Kun-yen TR S 7
Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen RIRE L 71
Mr. LIN, Seng-chang MEZELE 1/1
Ms. WU, Ling-ling RIGHE+ 7
Non-executive Director FRITEE ”n
Mr. HSU, Shu-tong IRIBR & 71
Independent Non-executive Directors BIEMITES 11
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic EERELE ”n
Mr. WANG, Wei TREESE 171
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao FEEEE 1”1
Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming TEIRFIE L 1/

The Company’s external auditor also attended the 2023 AGM.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at http://www.achc.com.cn, where up-to-date information and updates
on the Company'’s financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are posted.

The Group believes that investor relations are important to a listed
company to enhance its transparency and corporate governance. During
the year, the executive Directors and senior management of the Group
maintained sound communications with the investment community by
actively participating in various investor-related activities and meetings. On
these occasions, the Group's investor relations representatives introduced
the Group’s strengths and growth strategies in order to gain support
and recognition from the market and investors. Investors are welcome to
share their views with the Board by writing to the Company at its Hong
Kong headquarters or sending enquiries to the Company’s website at
www.achc.com.cn.

The Board established a dividend policy and adopted it on 31 December
2018 setting out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends
to apply when considering the declaration, payment or distribution of
its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company. The
Company is subject to the Articles and all applicable laws (including the
Cayman Company Laws), rules and regulations, during declaration and
payment of dividends to Shareholders.

The Company will pass its Memorandum and Articles of Association to
update with the latest changes in the Listing Rules at 2023 annual general
meeting. Details of the amendments are set out in the circular dated 25
April, 2023 to the shareholders.
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The Company has six executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
four independent non-executive Directors. Their details are set out below:

Mr. HSU, Shu-tong (#&X/B2), aged 82, is the chairman of the Group.
Mr. HSU's principal responsibilities involve leading the overall strategy and
business development of the Group in China. Mr. HSU is also the chairman
of Far Eastern Group, conglomerates based in Taiwan. It comprises of 243
companies extending into China with operations in countries including
America, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore, Malaysia, Thailand and Vietnam.
Far Eastern Group has a workforce of 58,000, and in 2023, it has total
assets of US$105.3 billion and annual revenues of US$23.4 billion.

Far Eastern Group has nine public companies, which are leaders in their
respective fields including Petrochemicals & Energy; Textile & Polyester
Fiber; Cement/Building Material; Sea/Land Transportation; Financial
Services; Construction; Telecommunications; Retail/Department Stores and
Hotels. Group Foundations are committed to social responsibilities and
include the establishment of Taiwan'’s leading private university, technical
institute, and medical center/hospital. Mr. HSU is also the chairman of Far
Eastern New Century Corporation, U-Ming Marine Transport Corporation,
Far Eastern Department Stores Ltd., Oriental Union Chemical Corporation,
Far EasTone Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Asia Cement Corporation,
the vice chairman of Far Eastern International Bank and a director of
Everest Textile Co., Ltd., which are listed in Taiwan.

Outside Far Eastern Group, Mr. HSU’s professional and other affiliations
in prominent organizations include: Director of MasterCard Asia/Pacific
Regional Advisory Board, Member of Asia Business Council, Director
of Asian Cultural Council, Advisor of International Advisory Council for
Wuhan Municipal People’s Government, Director of Chung-Hua Institution
for Economic Research, Director of the Straits Exchange Foundation,
Director of Chiang Ching-kuo Foundation for International Scholarly
Exchange, Board Member of National Cultural & Arts Foundation,
Chairman of Asian Cultural Council Taipei, Trustees Emeritus of University
of Notre Dame, former President of International Textile Manufacturers
Federation (ITMF), and former Co-Chair of Nature Conservancy Asia Pacific
Council.

Mr. HSU graduated from the University of Notre Dame, IN (BA, MA) with
post-graduate studies in economics at Columbia University, NY in the US.
Since 2002 he holds an honorary doctorate of management from Chiao
Tung University in Taiwan. Mr. HSU is brother of Mr. HSU, Shu-ping,
executive Director of the Company.
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Mr. HSU, Shu-ping (% B3F), aged 78, is an executive Director and the
vice chairman of the Group. Mr. HSU's principal responsibilities involve
formulating the overall business strategy of the Group in China. Mr.
HSU is also the director of Far Eastern New Century Corporation, and
the director of Asia Cement Corporation and the director of Far EasTone
Telecommunications Co. Ltd. and the director of U-Ming Marine Transport
Corporation, all of which are listed in Taiwan. Mr. HSU graduated from
Stanford University with a master degree in Operation Research. Mr. HSU
is brother of Mr. HSU, Shu-tong, Chairman and non-executive Director of
the Company.

Mr. CHEN Ruey-long (BR%i[£), aged 76. Is an executive Director of
the Group.Mr. CHEN held various positions in the Ministry of Economic
Affairs of Taiwan, and was based in Switzerland from 1987 to 1996 and
in Belgium from 1974 to 1979. Mr. CHEN served as the chairman of
the board of the Institute for Information Industry in Taiwan from 2008
to 2009. Mr. CHEN is currently the chairman of the board of SINOCON
Industrial Standards Foundation in Taiwan and the vice president of Cross-
Strait CEO Summit. He is also a director of HannStar Board Corporation,
Asia Cement Corporation, BES Engineering Inc. and Tatung Company; a
managing director and independent director of Formosa Chemicals and
Fibre Corporation; an independent director of INVENTEC CORPORATION,
which are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange. He also serves as an
independent non-executive director of Natural Beauty Bio-Technology
Limited, which is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He also served
as a director of Bank of Panhsin in Taiwan, Teknowledge Development
Corporation and Powerchip Semiconductor Manufacturing Corp, which
are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHEN graduated from the Faculty of Economics at National Chung
Hsing University in Taiwan in June 1970. He served as the Minister of the
Ministry of Economic Affairs of Taiwan from 2006 to 2008, and he was
successively appointed as the secretary-general and the vice president of
Cross-Strait CEO Summit from 2013.
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Mr. LEE, Kun-yen, aged 83, is currently the Director and general
manager of Asia Cement Corporation. Mr. LEE is also the director of
U-Ming Marine Transport Corporation and Ya Tung Ready Mixed Concrete
Co., Ltd respectively. Mr. LEE also acts as chairman of Taiwan Cement
Manufacturers Association and director of Chinese National Federation of
Industries.

Mr. LEE joined Asia Cement Corporation since 1954. He started as a
general staff and took up the position of general manager since 2000.
Mr. LEE has more than 60 years of experience in cement and concrete
related industries. He is a professional manager specializing in corporate
management and business marketing. Mr. LEE is engaged in industrial
upgrading work such as the operation management, technology and
resource efficiency improvement of cement, ready-mix concrete, precast
and construction projects. Mr. LEE is also experienced in the management
of industries such as transportation, electric energy, and stainless steel.

Ms. WU, Ling-ling (R¥%#), aged 57, has served as an executive
Director since April 2016. Ms. WU is also the executive vice president of
Asia Cement Corporation, the controlling shareholder of the Company
and a limited liability company incorporated in Taiwan with its shares
listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation, and its affiliate, Far
Eastern Group of Taiwan (“FEG"”). Ms. WU serves as a director and
supervisor for more than 30 companies including being a supervisor and
former member of the board of directors of Oriental Union Chemical
Corporation, a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation,
and a supervisor of Chia Hui Power Corporation, a subsidiary of Asia
Cement Corporation and Ms. WU is the former Executive Director of
China Shanshui Cement Group Limited serving from 14 October 2015
to 1 December 2015 and since 23 May 2018. From June 2001 to July
2007, Ms. WU served as Vice President of Internal Audit Department and
Corporate Controller of Far EasTone Telecommunications Co., Ltd., which
is also a listed affiliate of the FEG. Ms. Wu has more than 30 years of
experience working with international public accounting, manufacturing,
telecommunications and internet service provider and she has extensive
experience in the cement industry in the People’s Republic of China as well
as abroad.

Ms. WU has financial expertise in mergers and acquisitions, working capital
management, process control, and regulatory accounting and reporting.
She specializes in supporting corporate strategy including streamlining,
controllership, and growth initiatives. She has been successful in leading
both corporate turnarounds and rapid growth expansion through two
initial public equity offerings and multiple acquisitions. In addition, with
her experience in public and private companies in United States, Hong
Kong and Taiwan, Ms. WU also has in-depth experience and knowledge
of corporate governance and best practices.

Ms. WU is a certified public accountant registered in the United States and
Taiwan. She received a Master of Business Administration degree having
majored in Accounting from the California State University, Los Angeles
in 1993 and a Master of Business Administration degree from Chengchi
University in Taipei in 2008.

FEMREE 835k - FTHASLLERRIEMES
MACR () A B ERFRALE - WEREMER
FE () AR BREHERL(R)DAES
B wEAaEBRIOETEREAGFHIE
= 2EIXEEERTRIS -

FRAEBI1SBAFEBREMORAR - {EE
8 T MG + 70 20004F F fA TR (E AR S R B A 22
S HRRMRRIIHBMERE RERE0S
FLELR  RERNEREEREBITEL
BEREEA - BAORKR - EHERL - BE
RERTRZEEER it RERBUERET
SEFARTE 4B - EHRRNTES
MEEXNKERMERRLSE -

R¥EBELXL 575 0 P2016F4 8 HEARR A
WITESE - RRTIMADNIKERDBERA A
RITRIAAEE - NKRBRDBR AR AR
NEERERER G EEMK BB BRA
A B EREEAR S LET WARE
REEE([RREB|WMEB AR - Rzt
TRBB=ZTRARNEEMERABL - 8
REBBEZZH T ARRELERNER
NEIMERARMEESKE « MKRRD
ARARNTRARRZEENRMNERARKNE
A o RLZEH2015F 10148 Z=2015512
A18 Kk20184F5 23R 25 HEEH B L KK
EEBERARNNITESE - 52001F6AZ
2007F7R  RLTMEERREBEMN EMEH
BARIREEEROBRAFINAGTBERE
HEERANEETEZ - RRTBBB=TFH
HEELS  TERERME - 2iEE - S
HPREHEN AT TE  TEFEARL
B K BINARE TN E B E &5 o

REZENHBRKE E2EE - RERESI R
EESM BRI ARG LELR - WEME
AXEREERRE - BEBHRE  ZEHEKE
REE o RN MIRE R AFEREE RZIRHE
SHPRNHALEER R AR PR
R o ttoh - BERNERE  BERBEARKR
FRADRIEENRR  REULTTREEER
TTRBTHA L= 0K LA

REZTESEFRFEEGFMEEENER - i
1993 F TE SIM M L KER IS REVE T
AEEBEL - EE2E - WHR2008F &1L
SARERETIHEREST -



Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen ((R#RE), aged 76, is an executive Director,
the chief executive officer of the Group. Mr. CHANG is responsible for
all the top management work of the Group. Mr. CHANG has more than
50 years of experience of engineering and management in the cement
industry. Mr. CHANG is also a director of Asia Cement Corporation, a
company listed in Taiwan. Mr. CHANG joined Asia Cement Corporation
in 1968 and joined the Group in December 1997. Mr. CHANG graduated
from Taipei University of Technology majoring in mechanical engineering.

Mr. LIN, Seng-chang (# &%), aged 79, is an executive Director,
the business consultant of the Group. Mr. LIN is primarily responsible
for providing consultations on the sales and marketing strategies of the
Group as well as overseeing its sales and marketing activities. Mr. LIN has
more than 60 years of experience of sales and management in the cement
industry. Mr. LIN joined Asia Cement Corporation in 1962 and joined
the Group in October 1999. Mr. LIN graduated from Taipei University of
Business in October 1962.

Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic (&), JP, aged 77, has served as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since April 2008.
Mr. TSIM runs his own consultancy business which provides macro-level
economic and political analysis to clients. Mr. TSIM served two terms on
the Central Policy Unit of the Hong Kong Government in the 1990's. Mr.
TSIM graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 1968 with a Bachelor
of Arts degree in English.

Mr. LEE, Kao-chao (Z5#), aged 85, has served as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since April 2015. Mr. LEE
completed his M.A. from Agricultural Economics Graduate School of
Taiwan University in 1960. In 1973, Mr. LEE went to Vanderbilt University,
Tennessee, USA, for his second M.A. in Economic Development, before
returning to his position as the Director of Economic Research Department
in Council for Economic Planning and Development (“CEPD"), Executive
Yuan, Taiwan. Later on, Mr. LEE was promoted as Vice Chairman, or
Deputy Minister of CEPD, which position he had stayed for eight years
and he was responsible for coordination of economic policies. Mr. LEE has
been a director of the board of Taipei City Bank, now privatized Taipei —
Fubon Bank, for eight years, and a director of the board of Chang Hwa
Bank for three years, well contributing his knowledge on economic and
financial development at home and abroad. Mr. LEE has long been the
adjoint professor in Taiwan University, teaching Inter-industry relationship,
or Input-output Study, which area he has well practicing the interactions
of industries. He had been teaching managerial economics in the Business
School of Yuan Ze University after retiring from government sector. Mr.
LEE served as an independent director of Asia Cement Corporations from
June 2005 to June 2014.
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Mr. WANG, Wei (E£1&), aged 67, has served as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since April 2015. Mr. WANG was
the vice president of China National Materials Company Limited (“Sinoma”)
and retired in 2016. Mr. WANG served as a director and the president
of Sinoma International Engineering Co., Ltd from December 2001 to
December 2009 and as the chairman of the board of Sinoma International
Engineering Co., Ltd from December 2009 to September 2014. Mr.
WANG served as the supervisor of Sinoma from July 2007 to March 2010
and was appointed as the vice president of Sinoma in March 2010. Mr.
WANG joined the Sinoma group in 1984 and held various positions,
such as deputy head of Nanjing Cement Industry Design and Research
Institute. Mr. WANG served as the deputy general manager and general
manager of China National Non-Metallic Materials Corporation from June
2001 to March 2002. As a nationwide outstanding entrepreneur in the
building materials industry entitled to a special government allowance
provided by the State Council, Mr. WANG has extensive knowledge of the
industry. Before he retired, he also served as the vice chairman of China
Chamber of Commerce for Import and Export of Machinery and Electronic
Products, an executive member of the Mergers and Acquisitions Financing
Committee of the China Association for Public Companies, the China
director of the BRICS Business Council, the vice president of China Building
Materials Federation and the vice president of China Cement Association.
Mr. WANG graduated from Nanjing University of Technology in January
1982, majoring in cement engineering. He is currently a professorate
senior engineer.

Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming (EE8A), aged 79, has served as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since October 2015. Dr. WANG
graduated from the Kansas State University with a master degree and PhD
degree in Industrial Engineering. Following graduation, he returned to
Taiwan and joined Taiwan Tsing Hua University, where he was an associate
professor, professor, head of the department of industrial engineering,
and secretary general. In 1989, Dr. WANG was appointed as the founding
president of Yuan Ze University. Under his 10 — year leadership from 1989
to 1999, Yuan Ze University developed into the best private university in
Taiwan. Dr. WANG then returned to Taiwan Tsing Hua University and
served as the dean and professor of Technology Management College
from 2000 to 2003.

With regards government service, Dr. WANG served as chief consultant
to the Minster of Education from 1986 to 1988. He also had one year
of experience with the central government of Taiwan as director of the
Control Department and the Managing Information Systems Division of
Research and Development, Control and Evaluation Commission. Being the
first PhD in industrial engineering in Taiwan, Dr. WANG was the founding
convenor of the Industrial Engineering Division of the National Science
Council. He was also the first recipient of the Industrial Engineering Medal
awarded by the Chinese Institute of Industrial Engineers.
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In 2004, Dr. WANG was elected president of Nan Kai University of
Technology. During his 6-year tenure there, Dr. WANG devoted himself in
gerontechnology and service management and built Nan Kai University of
Technology into the first university in Taiwan focusing on this area. He also
found the Chinese Society of Gerontechnology and Service Management
in 2009, and served as the president of the society for four years. Dr.
WANG is currently the University Emeritus Professor of Yuan Ze University
and he keeps leading the promotion and development in gerontechnology
in Taiwan.

Mr. YU, Jen-ping (&71®IR), aged 73, is the deputy chief executive
officer. Mr. YU is primarily responsible for production technology and
research and development. Mr. YU graduated from Taipei University of
Technology. Mr. YU joined Asia Cement Corporation in August 1974
and joined the Group in July 2004. He has over 40 years of experience in
production management in the cement industry.

Mr. YU, Dong-lin (RE ), aged 72, is the deputy chief executive
Officer, and is primarily responsible for managing human resources of the
Group, and is in charge of the daily administration and procurement of
the Group. Mr. YU has over 40 years of experience in human resources,
administration and operation in Asia Cement Corporation, the parent
company of the Group, and joined the Group in November 2014.

Mr. SHEN, Chia-hsing (3t X ), aged 50, is the senior financial officer,
and is primarily responsible for the finance, accounting and Information
duties of the Group. Mr. SHEN graduated from the Department of
Accounting, Taipei University. Mr. SHEN joined Asia Cement Corporation
in November 1999 and joined the Group in October 2008.

Mr. Ouyang, Li-ming (Ef5¥#8), aged 45, is the operations officer
of the Group, and is primarily responsible for the sales and marketing
duties of the Group. Mr. OU YANG graduated from Nanjing University of
Chemical Technology. He joined the Group in July 2000.

Ms. Mok Ming Wai (E83£) was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on August 5, 2022, which took effect on the same day.

Ms. Mok is currently an executive director of Corporate Services of Tricor
Services Limited. She is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance
Professional and a fellow of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators). Ms. Mok holds a degree of Master of
Science in Applied Accounting and Finance. She has over 25 years of
experience in the corporate secretarial field and has been providing
professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as
multinational, private and offshore companies.
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The Directors are pleased to present their Annual Report, including the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group’s
principal business activities are manufacture and sales of cement, concrete
and related products. The activities of the principal subsidiaries are set
out on pages 179 to 183 of this annual report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year
under review.

A fair review of the Group’s business and financial performance, including
the principal risk and uncertainties facing the Group, the important events
affecting the Group that have occurred for the financial year ended 31
December 2023, and the likely future development in the Group's business
can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 6
to 8 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 20 of the
annual report. Details about the Group’s financial risk management are
set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements. This discussion
forms part of this Directors’ Report.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 64 of this annual report.

The Board of Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMB4.1 cents per ordinary share, totaling RMB64,241,000 in respect of
the current year to shareholders on the register of members on 12 July
2024. The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022
has been approved at the Company’s Board meeting on 4 March 2024.
Details of the dividends for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
forth in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

A final dividend of RMB16 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year
2022 was paid on 21 July 2023.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
4 June 2024 to Friday, 7 June 2024, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at
the annual general meeting, all share transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on Monday, 3 June 2024.
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Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
9 July 2024 to Friday, 12 July 2024, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered for the purpose of
determining the entitlement of shareholders to receive the final dividend.
The proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company after close of
business at 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 12 July 2024 being the record date for
determination of entitlement to the final dividend. In order to qualify for
the proposed final dividend, all share transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on Monday, 8 July 2024.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year under review are set forth in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 67 to 68 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Cayman Islands Companies
Law, amounted to approximately RMB3,878,263,000, which may be
distributed provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB2,600,000 (2022: 9,800,000).

Details of movement of property, plant and equipment of the Group,
during the year in the fixed assets are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Share capital of the Company during the year are set forth in note 34.

During the year under review, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

Details of the Group's transactions with its major suppliers and customers
during the years 2022 and 2023 under review are set out below:

Aggregate purchase attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the total purchase of the Group in
both the years of 2022 and 2023.

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest customers
were less than 30% of the total turnover of the Group in both the
years of 2022 and 2023.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, at no time during the year
under review did any Director, their close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) or any shareholder of the Company that
owned more than 5% of the Company's issued shares, had direct
or indirect interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 38
to the consolidated financial statements. To the best knowledge of the
Directors, none of these related party transactions constitutes connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules.

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr.
Mr.

Mr
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HSU, Shu-ping (Vice Chairman)
CHANG, Tsai-hsiung (Retired on 9 June 2023)

. CHEN, Ruey-long (Appointed on 9 June 2023)
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Ms.

LEE, Kun-yen

CHANG, Chen-kuen (Chief Executive Officer)
LIN, Seng-chang

WU, Ling-ling

Non-executive Director

Mr.

HSU, Shu-tong (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic
Mr. WANG, Wei

Mr.

LEE, Kao-chao

Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming

Note

Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung retired as the executive director on 9 June 2023.
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In accordance with the Articles of the Company, not less than one third
of the Directors being shall retire by rotation at annual general meeting
every year, among which, Directors subject to retirement shall be those
who have been longest in office since their appointment and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. Also, any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
A circular containing the explanatory statement on repurchase by the
Company of its shares, the biographical details of the Directors eligible
for re-election and the notice of annual general meeting will be sent to
shareholders of the Company in due course.

Mr. HSU, Shu-tong, Chairman and non-executive Director and Mr. HSU,
Shu-ping, Vice Chairman and executive Director, are brothers.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors has any financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with one another.

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 41 to 46 of this annual report.

There are no changes to the Director’s information as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Company in 2023 are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

No Director nor any connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to the business of the Group to which a controlling
shareholder of the Company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party at any time during the financial year ended
31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries or a controlling shareholder of
the Company was a party, and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial year
ended 31 December 2023 or at any time during the financial year ended
31 December 2023.
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Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with the
Company, Mr. HSU, Shu-ping has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 13 March 2023, Mr.
CHANG, Chen-kuen and Mr. LIN, Seng-chang have entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing on 27
April 2023. Ms. WU, Ling-ling has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 April 2022. Mr.
LEE, Kun-yen has entered into a service contract with the Company for
a term of three years commencing on 10 June 2022, Mr. CHEN, Ruey-
long has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of
three years commencing on 9 June 2023, all of which may be terminated
in accordance with the provisions of the service contract by either party
giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

The Company has issued an appointment letter to Mr. HSU, Shu-tong,
non executive Director, for a term of three years commencing on 27 April
2023, which may be terminated in accordance with the provisions thereof
by either party giving to the other not less than one month'’s prior notice
in writing.

The Company has issued an appointment letter to each of the independent
non-executive Directors for a term of three years. The Company has issued
an appointment letter to Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic, Mr. WANG, Wei,
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao and Dr. Wang, Kuo-ming commencing on 7 April
2023, 13 April 2021, 13 April 2021 and 1 October 2021 respectively, all
of which may be terminated in accordance with the provisions thereof by
either party giving to the other not less than two months’ prior notice in
writing.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not terminable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than normal statutory compensation.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has given an annual
confirmation of independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors meet the independence guideline set forth in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of
the guidelines.

Save as disclosed in the “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” and the
“Share Option Schemes” below, at no time during the year was the
Company, or any of its holding company or subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or their spouse or children under 18
years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO")) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (b) were required to be and
were entered in the register required to be maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or (c) were required, pursuant to
the Model Code, as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company
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Number of ordinary shares

BERNE % of the

Personal Equity Total Company'’s

interests derivatives interests issued shares

1. 3/

B RTER

Name of Directors BAfEE BREGEIR Bok
Mr. HSU, Shu-tong RIBREAE 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 0.19%
Mr. HSU, Shu-ping BBFEE 200,000 - 200,000 0.01%
Mr. LEE, Kun-yen THR T 200,000 - 200,000 0.01%
Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen RIRE %4 713,000 - 713,000 0.05%
Mr. LIN, Seng-chang M =2hAE 700,000 - 700,000 0.04%
Ms. WU, Ling-ling RREI T 50,000 - 50,000 0.003%
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Long positions in shares and underlying shares of associated HRiEESEE 2R REBRD 2FE
corporation

Type of interest % of

EEm Total no. of shareholding

shares in the in the

Name of associated Through associated associated

Name of Directors corporations Personal spouse corporation  corporation

HEEE {5HBEE

Espd HEEE R 11N EBEE g | KRS

Mr. HSU, Shu-tong Asia Cement Corporation 23,278,334 6,352,467 - 29,630,801 0.84%

("Asia Cement”)
RIBREHE TMKRBRHBRAR
(AR

Mr. HSU, Shu-ping Asia Cement 13,454,981 - - 13,454,981 0.38%
RIBFEAE MR

Mr. LEE, Kun-yen Asia Cement 3,333,557 - - 3,333,557 0.09%
FIARE MR

Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen  Asia Cement 29,745 5,358 - 35,103 0.001%
ER=bi AR

Mr. LIN, Seng-chang Asia Cement 16,892 476 - 17,368 0.0005%
MAELE MK

Ms.WU, Ling-ling Asia Cement 180,000 - - 180,000 0.005%
RR&ELL KR

Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming Asia Cement - 1,841 - 1,841 0.00005%
TEAEL KR

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors  B& FXX#EESN - W2023F 128318 » ##E
and chief executives of the Company and their associates had any interests AR ABZEERFTETHAERFEE 7S AL
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As at 31 December 2023 and to the best knowledge of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company, persons (other than Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position, in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company, as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Long positions in Shares
Substantial shareholders
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Asia Cement (Note 1) Beneficial owner 1,061,209,202 67.73%
MR aET) E=BA
Interest of corporation controlled 83,652,798 5.34%
THEE 2 s
1,144,862,000 73.07%
Far Eastern New Century Beneficial owner 1,061,209,202 67.73%
Corporation (Note 2) EnEEA
R AR (A E2) Interest of corporation controlled 83,652,798 5.34%
EHNEE 2
1,144,862,000 73.07%
Notes:

Asia Cement beneficially owns approximately 67.73% interest of the Company.
Asia Cement Singapore holds approximately 4.07% interest in the Company,
which is 100% owned by Asia Cement. Asia Cement is deemed to be interested
in approximately 4.07% interest of the Company by virtue of its corporate
interest in Asia Cement Singapore. Asia Engineering Enterprise Corporation
holds approximately 0.20% interest in the Company, which is approximately
99.76% owned by Asia Cement. Asia Cement is deemed to be interested in
approximately 0.20% interest of the Company by virtue of its corporate interest
in Asia Engineering Enterprise Corporation. Further, Falcon Investments Private
Limited holds approximately 1.07% interest in the Company and is owned as to
100% by U-Ming Marine Transport (Singapore) Private Limited, which is in turn
owned as to 99.99% by U-Ming Marine Transport Corporation. U-Ming Marine
Transport Corporation is owned as to 39.25% by Asia Cement. Asia Cement is
deemed to be interested in approximately 1.07% interest of the Company under
the SFO.
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2. As at 31 December 2023, Far Eastern New Century Corporation held
approximately 21.16% of the issued share capital of Asia Cement and together
with certain companies which Far Eastern New Century Corporation is entitled
to exercise or control the exercise of more than one-third of the voting power at
their general meetings, held approximately 24.96% of the issued share capital
of Asia Cement.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief executives
of the Company) who also had interests or short positions on the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

The Share Option Scheme approved and adopted by the Company on 27
April 2008 expired on 26 April 2018. No options have been granted under
the Share Option Scheme.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
human resources department of the Group on the basis of their merits,
qualifications and competence.

The emolument policy of the Directors is determined by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
duties and performance and comparable market statistics.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme under
rules and regulations of MPF Schemes Ordinance for all its employees in
Hong Kong. All the employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to
join the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ salaries and are charged to consolidated income statement
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years as of 31 December 2023.

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC, in compliance with the applicable
regulations of the PRC, participated in a state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the local government. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a specific percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement
benefits schemes. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified contributions.

During the year, the total amounts contributed by the Group to the
schemes and costs charged to the consolidated income statement
represent contribution payable to the schemes by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes.
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As far as the Directors and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operations of the
Group. During the year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

The Group is committed to promoting awareness and decisions that
contribute to achieving environmentally sustainable development. We
will comply fully with all applicable environmental laws and regulations.
We will use fuel, water and other natural resources efficiently and
conservatively. We recognise this to be a continuous process of
improvement and we seek to actively look for environmental friendly
options and carry out environmental friendly practices whenever
appropriate and possible.

Employees are remunerated equitably and competitively. Continuing
training and development opportunities are provided to equip them to
deliver their best performance and achieve corporate goals. During the
reporting period, our staff members continuously pursued training and
career development through our training system.

Customers’ feedback and advice had been taken into account via
customer communication channel.

The Group uses suppliers that reflect its values and commitment. The
Group has policies and procedures to select suppliers and contractors who
share our social, environmental and labour practice standards.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with Asia Cement”
and “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus, no additional ongoing
relationships or potential conflict of interests was identified during the
year. Besides, the independent non-executive Directors conducted an
annual review on the compliance of the Deed of Non-Competition (as
defined in the Prospectus) which was amended by an amendment deed
entered into between Asia Cement Corporation (“Asia Cement”), Far
Eastern New Century Corporation (“Far Eastern New Century”) and
the Company on 24 June 2014, and approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company on 6 August 2014 (the “Amended Deed”).

In determining whether each of Asia Cement and Far Eastern New
Century had fully complied with the non-competition undertakings during
the year ended 31 December 2023 for the annual review, the Company
noted that (a) each of Asia Cement and Far Eastern New Century declared
that they had fully complied with the terms of the Amended Deed at 31
December 2023, (b) no new competing business was reported by each of
Asia Cement and Far Eastern New Century as at 31 December 2023; and
(c) the independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the compliance
of non-competition undertakings by each of Asia Cement and Far Eastern
New Century as the part of the annual review process.
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In view of the above, the Company confirmed that all of the non-
competition undertakings in the Amended Deed have been complied with
by each of Asia Cement and Far Eastern New Century for the year ended
31 December 2023.

There are no significant events after the end of the reporting period.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered
into or in existence during the year ended 31 December 2023.

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the
Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors of the Company
was not in force during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws
of Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the related party
transactions as stated on page 49 constitutes connected transactions as
defined under the Listing Rules.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to
the best knowledge information and belief of the Directors, at least 25%
of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public, as at
the date of this annual report.

The Company has appointed Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
auditor of the Company for the year under review. Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for their reappointment
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Hsu Shu-tong
Chairman

4 March 2024
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ASIA CEMENT (CHINA) HOLDINGS
CORPORATION
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asia Cement
(China) Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 187,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA™). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Estimated provision of expected credit losses (“ECL") for trade receivables

X5 B R T ARG R I8 X

With the impact of the property market recession and the
sluggish recovery on the economy in 2023, the property
developers and the constructors who were the indirect
and ultimate customers of the Group respectively faced
massive debt and cash flow issues. As at 31 December
2023, the trade receivables of the Group was approximately
RMB325,778,000, net of allowance amounting to
RMB220,381,000. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group reversed RMB66,843,000 of ECL of trade
receivables.

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables
as a key audit matter due to the significance of trade
receivables to the Group’s consolidated financial position
and the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the ECL of the Group’s
trade receivables at the end of the reporting period.

As disclosed in note 40(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables based on a
provision matrix through grouping of various debtors
that have common risk characteristics, after considering
debtors’ aging, repayment history and past due status of
respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information. Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are
separately assessed for ECL individually. The loss allowance
amount of the credit-impaired trade receivables is measured
as the difference between the asset’s gross amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows with the
consideration of expected future credit losses.
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Our procedures in relation to allowance for ECL included:

Obtaining an understanding of the relevant key
controls over the assessment and monitoring of credit
risks, and determination of allowance for ECL;

Evaluating the model used by management in
determining the allowance for ECL with the support of
internal valuation experts;

Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance on trade receivables
as at 31 December 2023, including their identification
and provision of credit-impaired trade receivables,
the reasonableness of management’s grouping of the
remaining trade debtors into different categories in
the provision matrix, and the basis of estimated loss
rates applied in each category in the provision matrix
(with reference to historical default rates and forward-
looking information); and

Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the provision matrix,
including trade receivables aging analysis as at 31
December 2023, on a sample basis, by comparing
individual items in the analysis with the relevant sales
invoices and other supporting documents.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors of the Company’s
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threat or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Wong Shun Yu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
4 March 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z=2023F12 A31H I FE

Revenue Wz 5 7,427,010 9,614,330
Cost of sales SHE R (6,356,723) (8,325,401)
Gross profit EF 1,070,287 1,288,929
Other income HAib g A 7 237,211 212,108
Reversal of expected credit losses on REGERFIAEE

trade receivables, net =S EIpectec) 66,843 30,425
Other expenses, other gains and losses HEihBR - Eablzs MEE 8 (14,916) (31,460)
Distribution and selling expenses DEH R E R (447,257) (437,244)
Administrative expenses TE R (337,779) (318,983)
Share of losses of associates JE{LEt S N Rl EE 21 (22,136) (4,516)
Share of (losses) profits of joint ventures — FE(L & &2 (1) T 20 (2,566) 6.812
Finance costs BE Rk AN 9 (78,056) (57,070)
Profit before tax MR A B8 471,631 689,001
Income tax expense PSR 10 (360,396) (265,009)
Profit and total comprehensive FERHAEEEmEA

income for the year 11 111,235 423,992
Profit and total comprehensive income FEIRFERR R M2 EBA

for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company RAREBA 106,088 420,072

Non-controlling interests RV RE 2 5,147 3,920

111,235 423,992
RMB RMB
AR® AR

Earnings per share GRRZET

Basic HAK 14 0.068 0.268




As at 31 December 2023 72202312 A31H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE NERE 15 6,112,737 6,583,410
Quarry B% 16 825,620 878,641
Right-of-use assets PHEEE 22 722,655 748,504
Investment properties WEWE 17 133,352 134,142
Goodwvill RIS 18 554,241 554,241
Intangible assets B AE 19 3,158 3,760
Interests in joint ventures REERE S 20 94,068 84,640
Interests in associates NN - 21 777,688 799,824
Deferred tax assets RIETRIEEE 32 139,633 161,804
9,363,152 9,948,966
CURRENT ASSETS WENEE
Inventories FE 23 606,947 905,512
Trade and other receivables R 5 N E b EWGRIE 24 893,986 1,252,660
Financial assets at fair value through BAVERAEBRZ
profit or loss (“FVTPL") TREE 27 138,726 117,156
Tax recoverable B ek 6,005 8,303
Amount due from an associate JFE Wi Bt 2 N B FR0R 25(a) 6,057 7,778
Amount due from a joint venture FEUR & S FNIB 25 (b) 5,461 5,461
Restricted bank deposits ZR B RITIFK 26 (a) 6,016 -
Bank balances and cash IRTTHEBMIRS 26 (b) 9,256,549 8,900,448
10,919,747 11,197,318
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENAE
Trade and other payables 5 REMPERFIE 28 825,163 948,248
Amounts due to joint ventures JERT& & ¥ FIR 25 () 22,515 19,567
Amount due to an associate FEH & R B FUE 25 (d) = 256
Tax payables FEI B 96,357 58,900
Borrowings — due within one year BE ——FRNEHE 30 1,148,000 1,014,000
Lease liabilities HEaE 37 6,464 6,112
Contract liabilities ARAE 29 119,067 148,141
2,217,566 2,195,224
NET CURRENT ASSETS ROEERE 8,702,181 9,002,094
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HERERTBHAR
LIABILITIES 18,065,333 18,951,060




As at 31 December 2023 72202312 A31H

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

FRBAR

Borrowings — due after one year BE— —FE 5 H 30 625,000 1,361,646
Lease liabilities HeEas 37 89,940 88,767
Provision for environmental restoration RIBIMIEEE 33 53,972 58,168
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEE 32 89,620 51,615
858,532 1,560,196
NET ASSETS EERE 17,206,801 17,390,864
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEREME
Share capital R 34 140,390 140,390
Reserves i 16,702,461 16,847,069
Equity attributable to owners of the RNTEB AL
Company HEnE 16,842,851 16,987,459
Non-controlling interests JEPEAR RS 43(b) 363,950 403,405
TOTAL EQUITY b=t ot 17,206,801 17,390,864

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 187 were approved F64E187B VA RACHESER
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 4 March 2024 and 202443 A48 #L/ REEET)E - WHIATA
are signed on its behalf by: THRERFEZ

HSU, SHU-PING CHANG, CHEN-KUEN

R FE RIRE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

EF EF



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F 12 A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BATNAARH

Share
capital

Share
premium

Statutory

reserves reserves

U]
RUB000

ARRTR

BihER
RBO00
ARRTTL

(noted)

i |
RMB'000
ARETTL
(note b)

)

RitE
RABO00

ARETR

(note d)

Other Revaluation

reserve

Efte
RMB'000

ARR TR

(note d)
)

ARETR

Attributable
to non-
controlling
interests
il
HEk
RMB'000
NEETT

Retained
eanmings

Special

reserve Sub-total Total
L |

RMB'000

R
RABO0D
ARRTTL

it
RMBO00
ARRTTL

it
RABO00

ARRTR

(notee)

Asat 1 January 2022 NEIRIAZER 140390 508060 3732707 286,038 155,741 1635906 10813628 17272410 401310 17,673,840
Profitand total comprehensve ~ FREHRE AL LE
income for the year - - - - - - 40072 a00m 390 43992
Appropriation & - - 512,104 - - - (512,104) - - -
Dividends recognised as ElEN R RS D)
distribution (note 13) - (508,060) - - - - (197003 (705,083) - (705,083)
Didends paid tonon-conroling - F3E AR g R ATRE
interests - - - - - - - - (1,889 (1,885)
As at 31 December 2022 AONENANAER 140,39 -4 286,038 155,741 1635906 10524573 16987459 403405 17,390,864
Proftand totd comprehensive  ERETIR2ER L8
income for the year - - - - - - 106088 106,088 5141 111235
Appropriation i - - 213,668 - - - (213,668) - - -
Diidends recognised as BRBARIRE M)
distrbution (note 13) - - - - - - (250,69)  (250,696) - (250,69%)
Dividends peid to non-conroling — FFF AR AR
inferests - - - - - - - - (44,602)  (44,602)
As 4t 31 December 2023 AUBENAYEER 140,390 - 4458479 286,038 155741 1,635,906 10,166,297 16,842,851 363,950 17,206,801
Notes: HisE -
a. In accordance with the Cayman Islands Companies Law, share premium is one  a. RIFFISFEE RN E)E - BRI7 % 1E2 2 Al A #53
of the Company’s reserves available for distribution. Bay#EZ — ©
b. In accordance with the relevant laws and requlations of the People’s Republic of ~ b. RIEFEANRKEFE ([FE]) F R ZEZRERZE

China (the “PRC"), the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to provide for PRC
statutory reserves, including enterprise expansion fund and general reserve fund,
by way of appropriations from their respective statutory net profit (based on the
subsidiary’s PRC statutory financial statements) but before dividend distributions.

All appropriations to the funds are made at the discretion of the subsidiaries’
board of directors. The board of directors shall decide on the amounts to be
appropriated based on the profitability of each subsidiary each year.

The enterprise expansion fund may be used to increase registered capital subject
to approval from the relevant PRC authorities. The general reserve fund may
be used to offset accumulated losses or increase the registered capital of the
subsidiary subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities.

The above reserve funds are not available for dividend distributions to the
shareholders of the subsidiaries.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 43 & ¥ m

AN v

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023%12 A31H L FE

Notes: (continued)

68

Other reserves as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 mainly comprise (i) capital
contributions from Asia Cement Corporation (“Asia Cement”), immediate
and ultimate holding company of the Company, and the non-controlling
shareholders; (i) the remuneration paid by Asia Cement to certain employees
of Asia Cement and its subsidiaries for their service provided to the Group (the
“Payments”), and (iii) a waiver of advances from Asia Cement in relation to the
audit fees of the Group for the three years ended 31 December 2004, 2005
and 2006 paid by Asia Cement on behalf of the Group. The Payments were
not recharged to the Group and therefore the Payments were treated as capital
contribution from Asia Cement.

Revaluation reserve represents an associate of the Group, Yuan Ding Enterprise
(Shanghai) Limited, transferred its property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets to investment properties on 31 December 2021, and the respective
sharing of difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets was recognised in the
other comprehensive income.

Special reserve as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 represents mainly (i)
approximately RMB1,623,254,000 as the difference between the nominal
value of the ordinary shares issued by the Company and the aggregate of
share capital and share premium of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company
through the exchange of shares during the Company’s reorganisation in
2004; (ii) approximately RMB3,577,000 as the difference between the capital
injected by Der Ching Investment Co. Ltd. (“Der Ching Investment”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Asia Cement, and the increase in carrying amount of the
non-controlling interest as a result of the deemed disposals in 2007. After the
capital injection, Der Ching Investment’s interest in Sichuan Yadong Cement
Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Yadong"”) was further increased from 18.92% to 36.84%;
(iii) approximately RMB54,216,000 as the difference between the consideration
in acquiring the remaining 36.84% equity interests in Sichuan Yadong from
Der Ching Investment and the decrease in the carrying amount of the non-
controlling interest as deemed contribution from Asia Cement in 2008; and
set off by (iv) approximately RMB37,987,000 as the difference between the
decrease in the non-controlling interests of approximately RMB60,076,000 (being
the reduction in the proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net assets
of Wuhan Yaxin Cement Co., Ltd. (“Wuhan Yaxin”)) and the consideration paid
of approximately RMB98,063,000 in relation to the acquisition of additional
20% equity interest in Wuhan Yaxin from non-controlling shareholder.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z=2023F12 A31H L FE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEER
Profit before tax BR A5 B 471,631 689,001
Adjustments for: KR
Depreciation and amortisation PrEe L sy 834,780 842,310
Finance costs BB A 78,056 57,070
Losses (gains) on fair value changes on KEYERREBE
investment properties BEpEL (=) 790 (200)
(Gain) loss on fair value changes on LA EAENESREE
financial assets measured at FVTPL NHEZE) (W) 1Bk (21,570) 23,009
Reversal of allowance for expected credit 32 5 fEUL R IETE HA{E B8 5550
losses on trade receivables, net HER (66,843) (30,425)
Losses on disposal/write-off of property, HE HEDE  BEKR
plant and equipment BB EE 20,992 2,806
Loss on early termination of right-of-use  1RATAIH{EREEE &
assets and lease liabilities HEaEEX 91 -
Interest income on bank deposits RITE A BURA (189,193) (159,102)
Share of losses (profits) of joint ventures  [E(5&&EEE(CER]) 2,566 (6,812)
Share of losses of associates FE(EH 2R A 1E 22,136 4,516
Impairment loss — property, plant and W - WERREREEX
equipment - 87,817
Operating cash flows before movements — &iE& & &A1~
in working capital KEREME 1,153,436 1,509,990
Decrease in inventories FERD 298,565 235,241
Decrease in trade and other receivables 3T 5 N B pE S SR TE R 483,271 888,003
Decrease in amount due from an associate &L E < A 7] A TB R 1,721 166
Increase in restricted bank deposits SR BRI T SRAE N (6,016) -
Decrease in trade and other payables 225 N H b R~ A R (108,164) (415,832)
Increase in amounts due to joint ventures  JE{T& &2 FRIE L AN 2,948 5,341
(Decrease) increase in amount FEH & A E OB CRl ) 180
due to an associate (256) 256
Decrease in contract liabilities sERaERD> (29,074) (35,807)
(Decrease) increase in provisions EES G (4,196) 6,323
Cash generated from operations RS ATSIR S 1,792,235 2,193,681
Income taxes paid BATFTISH (260,465) (579,025)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING RERBHRARALSHE

ACTIVITIES 1,531,770 1,614,656




For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

REEE

Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE% - BE & & (313,192) (359,574)
Investments in bank deposits with —EAMNEFBER
maturity of more than three months (5,172,308) (925,844)
Redemption of bank deposits with BE =AU EERER
maturity of more than three months 2,559,620 1,531,680
Purchase of intangible assets BEBTEE (854) (953)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BENAARBEZE#E)
FFABHIERN SR EE - (74,963)
Purchase of quarry & B RIERE (2,669) -
Payments for right-of-use assets BECRAEEE (9,092) -
Interest received from bank deposits RITIF R EWFILE 131,439 95,515
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEMZE - BEREEZ
plant and equipment Pk 4,360 1,299
Dividends received from a joint venture BREEDPEZRE 1,506 8,180
Investment in joint ventures WEEEE (13,500) (18,000)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM RAZE(FRA)FERLSHE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (2,814,690) 257,340
FINANCING ACTIVITIES w2 R E
Bank borrowings raised FgEE 1,498,669 6,980,141
Repayments of bank borrowings BEEy (2,101,315) (6,073,458)
Interest paid EENEAS (72,635) (49,901)
Dividends paid EARIRE (250,696) (705,083)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  [A) 3E1% PR AE 25K 1< IR 2, (44,602) (1,885)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEEARE (3,088) (10,887)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REEE (FA)FBR&PH
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (973,667) 138,927
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH HR&RR&SESEM(RL )18
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B8 (2,256,587) 2,010,923
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S¥yHRE&RFEEED
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 7,974,604 5,963,681
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S$XReRRLEEY
END OF THE YEAR DSTRBRASKR 5,718,017 7,974,604
Represented by R&
Bank balances and cash RITHR IR E 9,256,549 8,900,448
Bank deposits with maturity of more —EAMNEFBER
than three months (3,538,532) (925,844)
5,718,017 7,974,604




For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z=2023F12 A31H L FE

Asia Cement (China) Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) is
a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
7 April 2004 under the Companies Law (2003 Revision), Chapter
22 of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company have been
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) with effect from 20 May 2008. The immediate and
ultimate holding company is Asia Cement Corporation, a company
incorporated in Taiwan with its shares listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange Corporation. The address of the registered office of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the principal place of
business of the Company is at Portion of Unit B, 11th Floor, Lippo
Leighton Tower, 103 Leighton Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively
the “Group”) are manufacture and sale of cement, concrete and
related products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January
2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

IFRS 17 (including the June
2020 and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two model Rules

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Disclosure of Accounting Policies
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 12

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in the
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

2.1

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 12
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments narrow the scope of
the recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of IAS 12
Income Taxes so that it no longer applies to transactions
that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

In accordance with the transition provision:

(i) the Group has applied the new accounting policy
retrospectively to leasing transactions that occurred
on or after 1 January 2022;

(i) the Group also, as at 1 January 2022, recognised a
deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised)
and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary difference associated with right-
of-use-assets and lease liabilities.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial position and performance,
except that the Group disclose the related deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities of RMB25,124,000 on a
gross basis in note 32 but it had no impact on the retained
earnings at the earliest period presented.
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New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)

2.2  Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting

Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of

those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses
to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy

information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the "Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to

the Practice Statement.

2.3  Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 12
Income Taxes International Tax Reform — Pillar Two

model Rules

The Group is yet to apply the temporary exception during
the current year because the Group’s entities are operating
in jurisdictions which the Pillar Two legislation has not
yet been enacted or substantially enacted. The Group
will disclose known or reasonably estimable information
that helps users of financial statements to understand the
Group'’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in the Group’s
annual consolidated financial statements when the Pillar
Two legislation is enacted or substantially enacted and will
disclose separately current tax expense/income related to

Pillar Two income taxes when it is in effect.
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Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture!
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Amendments to IAS 1
Amendments to IAS 1
Amendments to IAS 7

and IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
these amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs. For the purpose of preparation
of the consolidated financial statement, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Going concern assessment

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
where the Company:

° has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

3.1

3.2
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiaries and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the years are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the

Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies

in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income
and expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries

upon liguidation.

3.2
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating unit
("CGU") (or groups of cash-generating units (“CGUs"))
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose
and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the
amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed
of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
an associate and a joint venture is described as below.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group'’s
share of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

(continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the

investment is acquired.

The Group assess whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may
be impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS
36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate or joint venture and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group's accounting policies relating
to contracts with customers is provided in notes 4, 5 and
29.

3.2

BEXREFHEE(E)

REERRARGELEXZRE
(%)

AN EE T FREERRHE
BhEZHARESNEREEAY
1 NERRLERKRET
Z 2R - T R E B
RIBHER - WRIEERET
ZERIZE ISR < BEIA - AKER
BRABE R maEbE
B HZREESERERE
E - AIREEERZBRAF
BtEREED  MZAFE
WAL B HRERE 2 Q2 E -
BENRASAEERNKIER
RfEmAE A2 RmELTW
REERMERERTRE
BRERER 2 EMMER
HAFERZEZR  SREE
HEZBERRABEDLEL
Yoah sk B 1B IS ARR o tESh - K
SEEHLEAEEMEEKA
B ERERA EEEER
ZBESBEAR  EEEZE
BRAEIRAELEEERNEMN
WEEXBEMHEEER -
Wit - fHZBE AR KAED
EEAMENEM 2L AER
ZWEsEE - enth SR
BEIEBEREFOHRER
@ AIASREERN& ERAE
SRR R EB R ERE
%?ﬁiﬁé&#ﬁé%ﬁﬁﬁ
B o

e

fiaf 55 [ B B8 B AN SR (B 2 Bk
ARBEREETRS |
BERmAaE bR o Emi
AEEERA BT - HEE
NRAHAEECEETRHME
EZaNEEER  TERAS
BiREMBRERPER

i
il

[
2

REFEFEHZWE
BsE4 - SAN2942 M 7 AL E &R
EEAHMENSFTEREES



For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes other than
construction in progress as described below. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment

losses, if any.

Properties and equipments in the course of construction
for production, supply or administrative purpose are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management,
including costs of testing whether the related assets is
functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Sale proceeds of items that are produced while
bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management
(such as samples produced when testing whether the
asset is functioning properly), and the related costs of
producing those items are recognised in the profit or loss.
The cost of those items are measured in accordance with
the measurement requirements of IAS 2. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended

use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as "right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value
model. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are

classified as property, plant and equipment.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than
construction in progress) less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on

a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals

and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at
their fair values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued

operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the

period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the

property is derecognised.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of IFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group applies the practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office and dormitories that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies
the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS
9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the

cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease

is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as

at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group

under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

terminate the lease.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market
rental rates are initially measured using the market rental
rates as at the commencement date. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are not
included in the measurement of lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets, and are recognised as expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment

occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted

by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases

are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value

model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contract with Customers (“IFRS 15”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone

selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional

lease payments from lessees.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
Quarry

Quarry represents the expenditures incurred by the Group
on the (i) acquisition of rights to explore mines and (ii)
fulfilment of those specific conditions attached to such
rights such as overburden removing, geological conditions
improvement and geological exploration. The quarry
is stated at cost less amortisation and any recognised
impairment loss. The cost of quarry is amortised on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful
life or the period of the excavation permit of the quarry.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of

goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the

impairment loss, if any.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of

goodwill above) (continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the

relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of

future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of

goodwill above) (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amounts of
a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of
the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets
of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of
CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances
no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, contract or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred
to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the
useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
including state-managed retirement benefit schemes in the
PRC are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw
the offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises

any related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another IFRSs requires or permits the inclusion of the

benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)

after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that another IFRSs requires or permits their

inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end

of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit and at the time of the transaction does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of

goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, and
interests in joint ventures and associates, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in

the foreseeable future.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related
assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax
asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation

authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in

the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and

collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.

0) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Debt instruments/receivables classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts
for debt instruments/receivables classified as at
FVTOCI as a result of interest income calculated
using the effective interest method are recognised
in profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying
amount of these debt instruments/receivables are
recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI")
and accumulated under the heading of FVTOCI
reserve. Impairment allowances are recognised
in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment
to OCI without reducing the carrying amounts of
these debt instruments/receivables. When these
debt instruments/receivables are derecognised, the
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
OCl are reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the "“other expenses, other gains
and losses “line item.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, restricted bank
deposits, bills receivables at FVTOCI, amount due from
an associate, amount due from a joint venture and bank
balances and cash) which are subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since

initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of

future conditions.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade

receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a

default occurring since initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets
(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and (i) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial re-
organisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights. Trade receivables that are credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed
individually using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For collective assessment of trade receivables,
the Group takes into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the grouping:

o Debtors’ aging;
o Repayment history; and
o Past due status.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Except for bills receivables that are measured at
FVTOCI, the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables, note receivables,
other receivables, amount due from an associate
and amount due from a joint venture where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account. For bills receivables that
are measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve without reducing
the carrying amount of these debt instruments/
receivables. Such amount represents the changes in
the FVTOCI reserve in relation to accumulated loss
allowance.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another

entity.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of bills receivables classified as at FVTOCI,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the

FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a

financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amounts due to joint ventures, amount due to an associate
and borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised

cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration

paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the
net amount presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently
has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Provision for environmental restoration

The Group is required to incur costs for environment
restoration after the quarry has been excavated. Provision
for restoration costs were recognised when the Group
has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Provision is measured at the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of each reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Such provision is measured based on the present
value of future cash outflows expected to be incurred to
settle the obligation (where the effect of the time value
of money is material). The limestone excavated from the
quarry is used for the production of cement. Estimates are
regularly reviewed and adjusted as appropriate for new
circumstances.
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In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in trading of cement products and related
products. The Group concluded that the Group acts as the principal
for such transactions as it controls the specified good before it
is transferred to the customer after taking into consideration
indicators such as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to provide the goods and the Group is exposed
to inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the performance
obligation, the Group recognises trading revenue in the gross
amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised
revenue relating to cement products and related products
amounted to RMB7,241,675,000 (2022: RMB9,361,624,000).
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually. In addition, the Group uses practical expedient
in estimating ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed
individually using a provision matrix and involves of subjective
judgement including credit periods and customer categories. The
provision rates are based on debtors’ aging, repayment history
and past due status as groupings of various debtors taking into
consideration the Group’s historical default rates and forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable and
available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in
notes 40 (b) and 24, respectively.
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0]

(i)

(iii)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i) REEFEHVZWEDF
customers

At a point in time X—HFRBsRER

recognition:
— Sales of cement products and  — $4E KB E @ MR E @
related products 7,241,675 9,361,624

— Sales of concrete —HERRT 185,335 252,706

Total A&t 7,427,010 9,614,330
Performance obligations for contracts with (il ZEFEHAzZENEE
customers
Sales of cement products and related products HEKEEmRRIEEERUR
and concrete (revenue recognised at one point BRI (N RE—EFREEE
in time) i)
The Group sells cement products and related products and AEBRMBELEDHEHEHEEK
concrete directly to customers (including distributors). Ve MAERAE A NCER L o
Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has EEmIZEsEDEE - BlE
transferred, i.e. when the goods have been transferred ERORXNERE MK EEIE
out from the Group’s warehouse (delivery). After leaving FE 2B () B RS -
the warehouse, the customers and distributors have full REE - BER&HEEA 2
discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell BHERAERENTANRERE
the goods, have the primary responsibility when selling B WHEEEBESERZIES
the goods, and bear the risks of obsolescence and loss ERERBEERIBLZRER -
in relation to the goods. The normal credit term is 30 to RIS EERE - KEREPZ
180 days for cement customers and 180 to 365 days for ZEHE—A302180H ' MR
concrete customers upon delivery. RTEPZEEH—KRA180E

365H -

A contract liability represents the Group'’s obligation to ARABGEEAEEREEEREFIK
transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has BREmMBERREFEZEERCE
received consideration from the customer. o
Transaction price allocated to the remaining (i) PHEEEFEFENBRTENE
performance obligation for contract with E2R5E
customers
All performance obligations for sale of cement products and HENEEM - BERLTNIERE
related products and concrete are for periods of one year EmZBERHOEEE AE—

or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

FPUT - HANERI B HRE
RERIF ISR AR - WEHE
DEERFEARATHENZRZS

B -
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Internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief executive
officer, being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"),
for the purposes of resource allocation and the assessment of
segment performance focus on the revenue and operating results
of the cement business and the concrete business, respectively.
They are considered as the reportable segments of the Group
under IFRS 8. Information relating to assets and liabilities in each
segment is not included in the internal reports regularly reviewed
by the CODM.

The cement business segment and the concrete business segment
both include a number of operations in various cities within PRC
each of which is considered as a separate operating segment of
the CODM. For financial statements presentation purpose, these
individual operating segments have been aggregated into the
cement business segment or the concrete business segment by
taking into account the following factors:

o these operating segments have similar long-term gross
profit margins;

o the nature of the products and production processes are
similar; and
o the methods used to distribute the products to the

customers are the same.

— = 4F R | EEiMKIR (FRE )RR A

THREFAIEBEEREE) (X2
BREE DD ﬁﬂéﬁ&pﬂé“*ﬁ%iﬁ
i e Az R 2 AEP RS 2 ISR KR
EBRERT 2B WS RSB %S -
RIBERR B R EER|E85% - HR
BAEEKESBRERDEL ﬁﬁﬁﬂ
’“*BﬁF&EEZﬁﬂITEH\I
BERRETHHEM ZAIBRENA ©

NORFEE D ERROR R L R DRI B
R BRI TR T A 2 B R 752 0E

FEERRASTESERARENB L ZE
DEb - REINMBHRRZ BN ZFB
SMEEDFMEE R TIIRARRAF AKX
REBDMIORRLEB DB

E’ MAFHEENRES

. EmEE REERERE &

. A% P2 HEMRZJERR °
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 6.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
reportable segments:

DEER(E)
AEBIZSROAE D 2SR EED
MranT

#E2023F12A31HILLFE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

116

Cement Concrete
business business Total Elimination Consolidated
KiR%% RALEE - Hy ] =8
0] RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ABRTT ARBTT AR%TTT ARRTT ARBTT
Revenue rid
External sales HIMEE 7,241,675 185,335 7,427,010 - 7,427,010
Inter-segment sales NEEHE 39,737 - 39,737 (39,737) -
Total Bt 7,281,412 185,335 7,466,747 (39,737) 7,427,010
Segment result NEFE 602,862 2,309 605,171 - 605,171
Unallocated income FABMA 31,357
Central administration costs, directors’ A RATELAKA »
salaries and other unallocated EZHENAN
expenses FAOERR (62,139)
Share of losses of joint ventures [EEAENEER (2,566)
Share of losses of associates NG (22,136)
Finance costs BERK (78,056)
Profit before tax BRBER 471,631
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE2022F12 8318 1EFE

Cement Concrete
business business Total Elimination Consolidated
K BRLER Fa fiisa Fa
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Revenue s
External sales HIMEE 9,361,624 252,706 9,614,330 - 9,614,330
Inter-segment sales DibEHE 54,085 - 54,085 (54,085) -
Total =t 9,415,709 252,706 9,668,415 (54,085) 9,614,330
Segment result NEEE 777,971 3723 811,694 - 811,694
Unallocated income APEBA 23,378
Central administration costs, directors’ A S {TERAK A »
salaries and other unallocated BEZHORHEMD
expenses FOERX (91,297)
Share of profits of joint ventures lhABOERT 6,812
Share of losses of associates il YNl 53 (4,516)
Finance costs BEKK (57,070)
Profit before tax ESEThel 689,001
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The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same
as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Segment
result represents profit or loss earned by each segment without
allocation of certain unallocated income, central administration
costs, directors’ salaries and other unallocated expenses, share of
profits or losses of joint ventures and associates, and finance costs.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales were charged at market price or where no
market price was available at cost plus a percentage of profit mark-

up.

Other segment information

2023

Amounts included in the measure
of segment profit or loss:

Interest income on bank deposits

Government grants income

Depreciation and amortisation

Losses on disposal/write-off of property,
plant and equipment

Loss on early termination of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities

Reversed of allowance for ECL on
trade receivables, net

Exchange (gain) loss, net

Amounts that regularly provided
to CODM:
Additions to non-current assets (note)

2023

HESDREHBE
EAZRE

BITRHMERA

B8

TEREH

HE/HEn%  BER
REZER

FREZERHEEAR
RATRILBX

RPEAHERAERRR
BE#E

B3 () B #E

ENREEEIARE
Rtz oH
REFRBAE M)

(148,536)

(23,655)
92,708
20,904
91

(51,529)
(161)

289,792

WD EZ GEFBOREREE RS
Pt @t IRERAAR) » 7 BREAE IR D |
FRER 2 Wom sk & 18 - MERE Mty BB
DEAMBA ~ Eibes R BB - R RTT
BFX - EFH REMRDAFHX -
EIEALREMBERRRMARBE
AR 2 DG © WIS E IR Bl B3k
RHEMEIE2ERREREZFES
= o

7 B E R Bk (M EME) A
DSt FIAR B ANAK R YER o

Hitho BB & H
(3.792) (36,865) (189,193)
(166) (302) (24,123)
1302 79 94,806
63 25 20,992
- - 91
(15,314) - (66,843)
) 5,931 5,761
12,235 8,051 310,078
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 6.

2 EPEFH (&)

Other segment information (continued)

Hitb 7 &R ()

Cement Concrete
business business Unallocated Consolidated
KT RAR A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT
2022 20225
Amounts included in the measure  HEHBESHEE
of segment profit or loss: ERZEE:
Interest income on bank deposits FATRFBRA (132,868) (3,146) (23,088) (159,102)
Government grants income BUF#ER (26,912) (130) (290) (27,332)
Depreciation and amortisation WER#S 86,104 2,355 807 89,266
Losses on disposaliwrite-off of property, & /HiENE  BER
plant and equipment SEER 2,717 7 62 2,806
Reversed of allowance for ECLontrade X SEMEHEREEEL
receivables, net BEFE (10,988) (19,238) (199) (30,425)
Exchange loss, net EHERZE 4 - 4210 4252
Impairment losses on property, plantand A& - BEMZENRE
equipment Bk 87817 - - 87817
Amounts that regularly provided ~ EHRTEETAEE
to CODM: Rt EE:
Additions to non-current assets (note) REETHEEN ) 371,766 4,291 3,535 379,592

Note:  Additions to non-current assets mainly include property, plant and Wit FnBEECEYFE  BERRE &
equipment, quarry, investment properties, intangible assets and right- 5B REVE BEEERRHEE
of-use assets. ZE o

Geographical Information wEER

The Group’s revenue by location of customers is principally derived
from the PRC. The Group’s non-current assets (property, plant and
equipment, quarry, goodwill, investment properties, intangible
assets, interests in joint ventures, interests in associates and right-
of-use assets) are principally located in PRC.

Information about major customers

No individual customer contributed over 10% of the total sales of
the Group for both years.

AEFBREFMELE D 2 W E E 2R
BFE - AEBZIERBEE(BEY
¥ WERRE BE REWE B
B BEPEE SELEFNBRA - B
BEEENBWARFREEE) MR
o

FREREFEFZER

RREFERN  HEEFEASEH
EHEEEHEIRB10% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H IFFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. EAA

2023 2022

—E-= ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETFIT
Interest income on bank deposits RITIF A BULA 189,193 159,102
Government grants income (note 41)  BUTHBIMA (A75E41) 24,123 27,332
Sales of scrap and raw materials SHE RERL R R 14,808 14,727
Rental income Ha A 5,638 2,920
Solid waste treatment services BEEREEWA 2,396 6,344
Transportation fee income BRI 1,053 1,683
237,211 212,108

8. OTHER EXPENSES, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HtER  HalkxpEa

2023 2022
—E_=H —E -

RMB’000 RMB'000
UN: ARETT

Losses on disposal/write-off of property, & HfisE#E -

plant and equipment B Bs K AR 1R (20,992) (2,806)
Penalties and related surcharge from tax 75 K B &1 5% K AB B M 0 &

and government authority (8,852) (4,207)
Exchange losses, net M 5 8 E (5,761) (4,252)
(Losses) gains on fair value changes on & & Y13 2 B (B8 ) e

investment properties (note 17) (Kret17) (790) 200
Loss on early termination of right-of-use EAREEEMEEEE

assets and lease liabilities AT IEIEE (91) -
Gain (loss) on fair value changes on NAFEEEMEE

financial assets at FVTPL BEh e (Ei8) 21,570 (23,009)
Reversal of consideration for acquisition F2A 1Y ¥ ER)EEE

of a subsidiary - 2,614

(14,916) (31,460)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H L FE

9. FINANCE COSTS

BE KA

2023 2022
———

— m——

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT

Interest on bank borrowings RITEEF S 73,443 52,327
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEF A 4,613 4,743
78,056 57,070

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. FrE%iFExX

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFIT
Current tax: BIHEARRIE -
— PRC enterprise income tax — R Bl EEFTIS
("EIT") ([1EmRERD 163,245 246,238
Over-provision in prior years in B\EEEREE
respect of PRC EIT FiSTi B EEA (3,242) (23,112)
Deferred tax (note 32) EIERE TR (H15#32) 200,393 41,883
360,396 265,009

The Company is not subject to income tax in the Cayman Islands
or any other jurisdiction.

Neither provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax nor Singapore income
tax has been made in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as the Group had no assessable
profit arising in these jurisdictions for both years.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, pursuant to
the Enterprise Income Tax Law and Implementation Regulations
of the Law of the PRC, the applicable tax rate of PRC subsidiaries
is 25%, except for certain subsidiaries entitled to different
preferential tax rates.

Pursuant to “The announcement on Continuation of Enterprise
Income Tax Policy for Western Development” (the Ministry of
Finance, the State Administration of Taxation and the National
Development and Reform Commission [2020] No. 23), Sichuan
Yadong Cement Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Yadong”), Sichuan Lanfeng
Cement Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Lanfeng”) and Sichuan Ya Li
Transportation Co., Ltd. were granted a tax concession to pay
corporate income tax at a preferential rate of 15% from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2030.

AN R SRR S B S E A 7
SEERFTEE -

RN 5 B R R Y A B8 M
IRELEERBUGER] - R ENER AR
m kA2 R AR BB RGN
RTINS PRS IV 4 -

BZE2023F12 A31 A 2022412 431
AIEFE - RIE(PEAREMBE R X
FISBUR) RSP EARKMBDRME
BURBEBIREL) - P EIM B A FER
BR25%  ETHEBARZEETR
BRI

RIBECERIEE A EAMEH
BEROAENBRE B LB [2020]
235%)  PUJIER KR A R A AN ([ 1)l
SER ) - M)l RFEEBR AR ()
B ) &) RREE AR A &R T
TRABER - 7W2021F1A1HE20304F
12A31BIERBI5% 2 BEHR XL A
XS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z=2023F12 A31H I FE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 10.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

FTiS#ip < ()
FRFTG RIS iR A

B kHEMEE

o2 K B R BB 2 AR -

2023 2022
—E-= =
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREBT T
Profit before tax B 5 B E | 471,631 689,001
Tax at the PRC EIT rate of 25% LR BTSN R 25%
(2022: 25%) (20224 : 25%)
HECHIE 117,908 172,250
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  R[HNFIFE S 2 FiiE R/ &
for tax purposes 41,851 50,778
Tax effect of share of losses (profits) BEEECEBBCEN) 2
of joint ventures Mg e 642 (1,703)
Tax effect of share of losses of RGBS N R BB Tiis 2
associates 5,534 1,129
Effect of tax concessions granted FEIMBARIZEHIA
to PRC subsidiaries BEITE (31,363) (40,253)
Over provision in respect of prior years @1 G EEEIRIB (3.242) (23,112)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RIERTIIEREIE 2 i 2 47,809 55,909
Tax effect of deductible temporary AR TR EZRE
differences not recognised TS 2 5,225 21,812
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B/ SLRIAR FHERZ
recognised IEEE (2,983) (575)
Deferred tax on undistributed earnings AR B A FA D R ZF
of PRC subsidiaries ZIEREFIR 179,015 28,774
Income tax expense for the year 360,396 265,009
Details of movements in deferred tax have been set out in note 32. IEER B S B RS EH 32 -

TR =F FERE | ENKR(hE) AT
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Profit for the year has been arrived at
after charging:

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

FREFNENERTFI5R

Depreciation and amortisation T K 5
— Property, plant and equipment —W% - BB kB
(note 15) (K1zt15) 734,033 742,406
— Quarry (note 16) —TES (K1a16) 64,441 63,032
— Right-of-use assets (note 22) —(EREEE(H722) 34,850 35,301
— Intangible assets (note 19) — R EEME19) 1,456 1,571
Total depreciation and amortisation TER#EEAE 834,780 842,310
Less: Capitalised in inventories B FEERE (739,974) (753,044)
94,806 89,266
Staff costs, including directors’ EENAK  BEEEME
remuneration (note 12(a)) (K1t 12(a))
Salaries and other benefits e REMER 530,849 539,128
Retirement benefits scheme RIRENFT B
contributions 38,729 42,882
Total staff costs 1R BN ERE 569,578 582,010
Less: Capitalised in inventories o FEEARL (441,006) (403,392)
128,572 178,618
Impairment losses recognised on TEE - BEMREERE
property, plant and equipment BRET SRR
included in cost of sales - 87,817
Auditors’ remuneration ZE NS 6,000 6,000
Cost of inventories recognised as WRERSZ ZFEKRA
expenses (including the provision (ERBMELEERE
for environmental restoration AR#E21,442,0007T
RMB21,442,000 (2022: (20224 -
RMB22,178,000)) AER#22,178,0007T)) 6,356,723 8,237,584
Gross rental income from investment & & AT S U
properties 1,311 1,095
Less: direct operating expenses W FRNEEREYEES
incurred for investment properties WA Z BEEEERY
that generated rental income
during the year (72) (78)
1,239 1,017
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. EEREEMS
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) E=EME
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the BENSENEERITRERZ
Company and chief executive officer are as follows: T
Year ended 31 December 2023 #XF2023F12A31HILLEE

Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total

wak @t
g Rt KRR ot
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT  AR®TI  ARWTR  ARRTR

Chief executive officer TREHRATER
and executive director

Mr. Chang, Chen-kuen RIRELE 229 1,201 - 1,430

Executive directors BiTES

Mr. Hsu, Shu-ping BRBELE 216 - - 216

Mr. Chang, Tsai-hsiung (note a) 3R 1 % 4 (fifita) 96 - - 96

Mr. Lin, Seng-chang MEEEE 216 488 - 704

Ms. Wu Ling-ling REat 229 - - 229

Mr. LEE, Kun-yen TR S 216 - - 216

Mr. Chen, Ruey-long (note b)  BEImIE 54 (Hth) 121 - - 121

Non-executive director FRITES

Mr. Hsu, Shu-tong BEREE 270 138 = 408

Independent non-executive B FH{TES

directors

Mr. Tsim, Tak-lung Dominic EERLLE 270 - - 270

Mr. Wang Wei TERE 270 - - 270

Mr. Lee Kao-chao EXSE 270 - - 270

Dr. Wang Kuo-ming TEMAEL 270 - - 270
2,673 1,827 - 4,500
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. EEREEME (E)
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EE=ME(E)

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022 H#F2022F12A3181LLEE

Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total

Y RAGER
2k EtiE A st Bl it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT  AREBTR  ARETRL

Chief executive officer TRRERATES

and executive directors

Dr. Wu Chung-lih (note ¢) RAVEL(HEc) 97 1,716 - 1,813

Mr. Chang, Chen-kuen RIREFA 214 1,339 - 1,553

Executive directors BiTESE

Mr. Hsu, Shu-ping RIBT %4 207 - - 207

Mr. Chang, Tsai-hsiung RAERE 207 - - 207

Mr. Lin, Seng-chang MAERAE 207 1,080 - 1,287

Ms. Wu Ling-ling Rt 219 - - 219

Mr. LEE, Kun-yen THAKE 115 - - 115

Non-executive director  JEHTEE

Mr. Hsu, Shu-tong RIBRSEE 259 138 - 397

Independent non-executive BHIFHTEE

directors

Mr. Tsim, Tak-lung Dominic EEELE 259 - - 259

Mr. Wang Wei FREE 259 - - 259

Mr. Lee Kao-chao FRBEE 259 - - 259

Dr. Wang Kuo-ming TEBEL 259 - - 259
2,561 4,273 - 6,834

Notes: Hiat -

a. Mr. Chang, Tsai-hsiung was retired as the executive director on a. RIS ER2023F6H9H
9 June 2023. BREFHNTESE -

b. Mr. Chen, Ruey-long was appointed as the executive director b. [ IEEE S 4 R 2023F6 H9H
on 9 June 2023. B AHITES -

C Dr. Wu, Chung-lih was resigned as the chief executive of c Bh iy EA 20225 H 10
the Company on 10 May 2022 and retired as the executive A B (F K R G177 B 48 2
director on 10 June 2022. R2022F6 /10 H R IFH

TTEE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H IFFE

12. DIRECTORS'’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. EBREEM=(E)

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) E=E=ME(E)
(continued)
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for EXFIRCHTEEHeEE
their services in connection with the management of the AREARAGEAEBEBRE
affairs of the Company and the Group. 8.2 R% -
The non-executive director’s emoluments shown above was EXIRZERTEEM S
for his services as the director of the Company. TEET AN B EHKH B A A

ERECRGER -

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments X PR Z L IEITE F B
shown above were for their services as directors of the SEFHAEERARAES 2R
Company. HEA -
There was no arrangement under which a director or the FRWELHE R RITHAEE
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration WESR B RETFE -
during the year.

(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEMS
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the RAEEREERHFALTH -
year included one director (2022: two directors), details of E—RQ002F  MA)BEAR
whose remuneration are set out in note (a) above. Details RIEE  FzMen X
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (a)HRFR - SR TP (20224 « =
(2022: three) highest paid employees who are neither a BINT ST -

director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
—E=HF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TTT ARET T
Salaries and other benefits RONEFFT SR 4,162 4,251
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEZMENFUATEHE :
2023
—E-=
Number of
individuals individuals
IN | N
HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001/87T—1,500,0007T 4 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017%;7T —2,500,000/87C - 1
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of FA - AEETERNEER
the Company and the five highest paid individuals of the LEREFEATHRZARTES
Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group TS - AR B 1R & Hn A K
or as compensation for loss of office during the year. S B EA A S sk BB
& -
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13.

14.

126

DIVIDENDS 13. RE

2023 2022
—m— = =

— m—— =

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT

Dividends for ordinary shareholders FREREDRARNT]

of the Company recognised as LB ZRE.
distributions during the year:
2022 Final, paid — RMB16.0 cents 2022F B R A AR B
(2022: 2021 Final, paid - FRARE16.09
RMB45.0 cents) per share (20224 : 20215k H
B AREA45.0%) 250,696 705,083
A final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 of RMBA4. 1 ERgNmEHRAERRERIRTE
cents per share (2022: RMB16.0 cents per share) amounting to £2023F12A3MHILFERAREE
approximately RMB64,241,000 (2022: RMB250,696,000) has been ARBA1S(2022F - BRARE
proposed by the directors of the Company after the end of the 16.09) » & H 4 AR #64,241,0007T
reporting period. The proposed final dividend for the current year (20224 : AR¥250,696,0007T) ° 2
is subject to the approval of the Company's shareholders at the FREBRABAR SRR A RIRRNE
forthcoming general meeting. [ERFBEFERGHME - FAMEE o
EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BREA
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to RATHB ANEHBRERBNIEZ T
owners of the Company is based on the following data: BREE -
2023 2022
—EZ=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETTT
Earnings 2%
Earnings for the purposes of basic STESREKRRT 2 BT
earnings per share (profit for the (RREHEA
year attributable to owners of the FEIREF PR A])
Company) 106,088 420,072

Number of shares B ®
Weighted average number of ordinary s+ EEREREF|Z
shares for the purpose of basic AR INAE AR ER
earnings per share 1,566,851 1,566,851
No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company did not AR AARRWEFES AABERD
have any dilutive shares in issue during both years. BITEERG - WARZIEGREER

A o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H IFFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ - BMENMRE

Furniture, Trucks,
Buildings fixtures loaders
and  Plantand  andoffice  andmotor  Leasehold Construction
structures  machinery  equipment vehicles improvement in progress Total

BLBEE RE-RER  HRMR
B BEREE  RMOLG RiRE k¢  =RIR it
RVBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RVBOOD  RMBOOD  RVBOOD  RMBOOO

ARETn  ARETn AR ARETn  ARETn  ARETR  ARETR

COST 19

Asat 1 January 2022 R00E1A1E 4,316,112 12,214,584 401,070 299,745 531 90,19 17322236
Additions RE - 440 1,000 3127 - 372,416 376,983
Transfer b 46,839 256,554 31,384 8,39 - (343171) -
Disposalshurite-off HE /i - (11.479) (14273) (6,289) - - (32,041)
As at 31 December 2022 R00ENANE 4,362,951 12,460,099 419,181 304977 531 119,439 17,667,178
Additions WE - 26 3 6,058 - 291,347 297,463
Transfer 25 15473 209,893 49,198 6,005 - (280,569) -
Transfer to quarry BRTER - - - - - (8,751) (8,751)
Disposalshurite-of e /Hi (7649) (78975) (7.131) (167) - - (101.427)
As at 31 December 2023 #2023%12831R 4370776 12,591,043 461,280 309,367 531 121466 17,854,463

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ EHHiER#E
AND IMPAIRMENT

Asat 1 January 2022 MEIR1E 1465754 8353900 285,109 176373 345 - 10281481
Provided for the year EfE 131,625 561,709 25,983 22,903 18 - 742406
Impaiment loss recognised in profit o loss 37 A% 7 BB % 63,455 20868 429 3,065 - - 87817
Eliminated on disposalswite-off HE /s - (9,385) (12,826) (5,725) - - (27.936)
As at 31 December 2022 R0ENA3IE 1660834 8927092 298,69 196,616 531 - 1083768
Provided for the year Eni 130,028 556,527 7m 19756 - - 734,033
Eiminated on disposalsfwrite-off HE /R (2353) (60,523) (6,363) (6,836) - - (76,079)
As at 31 December 2023 18202312318 1788509 942309 320054 209,536 531 - 174726
CARRYING VALUES Rl

As at 31 December 2023 18202312318 2582267 3167941 141,226 99,831 - 466 6112737
As at 31 December 2022 H002%128318 270117 3533007 120,486 108361 - 119439 6583410

—m o= R | ERKR(REDRRAE 127



For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

Buildings and structures are located in the PRC on medium-term
leasehold land.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis
with the following useful lives:

Buildings and structures 20-40 years
Plant and machinery 10-20 years
Furniture, fixtures and office 5-15 years

equipment
Trucks, loaders and motor vehicles 5-15 years
Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of term of
the relevant leases or 5
years

Impairment assessment

In 2022, due to the products of Wuhan Yaxin had a negative
gross profit, the management of the Group concluded there was
indication for impairment and conducted impairment assessment
on certain property, plant and equipment with carrying amounts of
RMB87,249,000. The recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment are estimated individually. The recoverable amounts of
the property, plant and equipment have been determined based
on their value in use. The Group estimates the value in use of the
property, plant and equipment using a discount rate of 5.09%
per annum. The relevant assets were impaired to their recoverable
amount of nil, which is their carrying values as at 31 December
2022 and the impairment of RMB87,249,000 has been recognised
in profit or loss within the relevant functions to which these assets
relate during the year ended 31 December 2022.

In 2023, the Group considered no impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment.

The Group leases out a number of properties under operating
leases. None of the leases includes variable lease payments. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, the cost and the accumulated
depreciation of the leased out properties amounted to
RMB4,954,000 (2022: RMB4,239,000) and RMB1,037,000 (2022:
RMB1,676,000), respectively.

ZEETFHUNTEZHHHEE L -

oy

A LEWZ - BB MR %IEH(EEI&
BRON IR E BREA T 51 BT B 5 205
e

gF 2052404

5% 5= M i 23 102204

RE -HER 5% 154
NG

BE - RHKNEAE S5EI1SF

HEMEREE KA RTE A
H5FZ
B

AR

2022%F  AREVETZEERTHIRAETE
M REBEEERATGFERETR -
HHRE B E A AR 87,249,000 7T HY
HOME - BEMEEHEETT T REST
f o % - BERZE A RESEETY
EREE - % - BEREE 2 TRE
TEIBBEFERAEEETE - A&E U
5.09% FABRREEWE - BE KRG
ZFRAEE - HEEECREZETY
BeEAT  ENFRMNKREE - M
A A R87,249,0007T 2 £ 2022 5
12A31BIEEZEEERB 2 HEEY
BE MBI RER -

2023%F  AEERBIBE - BE R
RIEELBRMELR -

$’EI$E¢J§%«%%E s ZHEH A ZEY
% TAEEHTEE]EES N
s BZE 2023412 31 A ILEE -
MH%¥E}ZZK&E%§HE%%W%A
R #4,954,000 T (20224 : AR
4,239,000 7T ) K A K # 1,037,000 7T
(20224 : AR¥51,676,0007T) °



For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

COST 5%
At 1 January 2022 & 31 December 2022 7202291 1B %2022 12 A31H 1,493,628
Additions INE 2,669
Transfer from property, plant and equipment Y - B MR EE 8,751
As at 31 December 2023 720235%12A31H 1,505,048
AMORTISATION e
As at 1 January 2022 202291 A1H 551,955
Provided for the year FRNEE 63,032
As at 31 December 2022 72022512 A31H 614,987
Provided for the year FREE 64,441
As at 31 December 2023 7#20235%12A31H 679,428
CARRYING VALUES AR {E
As at 31 December 2023 72023%12A31H 825,620
As at 31 December 2022 2022412 A831H 878,641
Quarry is amortised over the shorter of the estimated useful life or WS PG ET O] (o FB A H o R S B 2 A
the period of excavation permit of the quarry. Quarry is amortised A WA B HARS RS - BRI IR E

on a straight-line basis over 5 to 30 years. 4RSEER Y5 304F o



For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

FAIR VALUE DFEE

As at 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1H 132,286
Additions (note) #2n(hEE) 1,656
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss P8z HER A FELZ N 200
As at 31 December 2022 72022412 4318 134,142
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss P8z R HER A FE R D (790)
As at 31 December 2023 720235%12A31H 133,352

Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s PRC subsidiary
obtained properties from their trade debtors as full settlement of their
trade balances and these properties were recognised as investment
properties at their market value when the Group completed the
property registration process.

The investment properties are held under medium-term leases in
the PRC and are rented out under operating leases. The fair value
of the Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2023
have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that
date by CCIS Real Estate Joint Appraisers Firm (“CCIS”) (2022:
Dehenham Tie Leung Real Estate Appraiser Office), an independent
qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best
use of the properties is their current use.

Btat : REF2022412 8311 F/F » K%
[ EfT B 1 Al iR F R {E — B Y
ES 029 1 ¢ ¢ - MB35 734

BRES o

KWEMENPBIAFEASESE - WA
LEHAERME - REEMN2023412 A
3INEREMEZ ATFEIRDPE-ESR
BEMEMBA B RE-REDE
ITEEHE BT E (20224 « #iiE
217) o PERMERE - RENEEER
BB AERBEMLER -

REHDEATES  WEZSBRE
ERR AR A AR -
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties

held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position 2023 2022 hierarchy

GAMBRREE

FRERECERME CBCSE CToCF ATHER
RMB'000  RVB00
ARRFR ARETRL

Commercial property 15,111 15,400 Level3
units located in Sichuan E]

iUl bASES)ES

Commercial property units 24,334 2750 Lewel3
located in Sichuan i
frRmIlz B E

Commercial property units 4119 5202 Level3
located in Sichuan £=4
N rdsE2E

TR =F FERS | ENKR(PER)EEAT

Valuation
technique
ERER
TERANE

Direct comparison
approach

BEEUBE

Direct comparison
approach
BB

Direct comparison
approach

BRBE

17. REYXE(E)

Relationship of
Significant unobservable input(s)
unobservable input(s) to fair value
EXTUERR FURERA
BARE BEEATECRE

Unit sale rate, taking into accountthe  Anincrease in the unit sale rate used
time, location, and individual factors, would result in an increase in the fair
such as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment
the comparable and the property, of property by the same percentage
RMB13,658 (2022: RMB14,407) per increase, and vice versa.
square meter on saleable floorarea (2 EMIEERENERASE NS
basis. MZREMELTEEN R

EfifER M ATELBIERAN
£ HmH  NENREREZ  f
IHERAE  RTHEERERET
TR NRHE13,658T0 (20225 «

ANRE14407T) L BEHE -

Unit sale rate, taking into accountthe  Anincrease in the unit sale rate used
time, location, and individual factors, ~ would result in an increase in the fair
such as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment
the comparable and the property, of property by the same percentage
RMB19,994 (2022: RMB18,692) per increase, and vice versa.
square meter on saleable floorarea (AR EfTHERANFRRSE A LS
basis. I RENF ATEEM - K2 -

BIHER B ATEHRNEELY
EABE NENREREZ A
IFERAE  RIHEEREREET
FRARHE99947(20225 -

AREB18.6927L) LB ERHE -

Unit sale rate, taking into account the ~ An increase in the unit sale rate used
time, location, and individual factors, would result in an increase in the fair
such as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment
the comparable and the property, of property by the same percentage
RIMB18,190 (2022: RMB19,801) per increase, and vice versa.
square meter on saleable floorarea BBz BN HERENERESA AL
bass. IMZREMELTEEN Rk

EfiffER W ATELRIEEAN
£7BzER UENRERRE
IFPERAE  RTHEERERET
FRARE8,1907 (2022 :

ARIE1980170) L BEHE -
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 17. BREYEE)

Investment properties

held by the Group in the Relationship of
consolidated statement Fairvalue  Valuation Significant unobservable input(s)
of financial position 2023 2022 hierarchy  technique unobservable input(s) to fair value

RRMERRERD fEERER EXFURR FURREA
SRERAIRANR ZBIZE CE-CF OFERG FESARE  BAEE BERATEZRE
RMB'000  RMB'000
AERTR ARETR

Commercial property units 11,542 11,830 Level3 Direct comparison  Unit sale rate, taking into account the ~ An increase in the unit sale rate used
located in Sichuan £=R approach time, location, and individual factors, would result in an increase in the fair
fRmIlzEEnE BRI such as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment

the comparable and the property, of property by the same percentage

RMB10,340 (2022: RMB10,597) per increase, and vice versa.

square meter on saleable floorarea  EFZ BNEERENFRRAZEAILE

asis. MZREMFATEEM - k27 -
EMHER  EATELENEELY

$7Mmz B8 fENREREE - fl

WEERAE - ETHEEREEST

FRARE103407(20225 :

ARI105977 ) BERE -
Commercial property units 12,009 11,690 Level3 Direct comparison  Unit sale rate, taking into account the -~ An increase in the unit sale rate used
located in Sichuan E= approach time, location, and individual factors, would result in an increase in the fair
fIRmI 2 EENE BRNEE such s frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment

the comparable and the property of property by the same percentage

RMB19,711 (2022: RMB19,187) per increase and vice versa.

square meter on saleable floorarea  FRZ BTHERANFRRSE AL

basis. MZRENELTEEM RITH -
EMHER M ATELEEELY

v H R NENRERRR

IARAE EUHEEREEST

FRARE19,7117T(20225 :

AEH19,18770) 2 B3 8 -

Commercial property units 2,106 2060 Level3 Direct comparison  Unit sale rate, taking into account the -~ An increase in the unit sale rate used
located in Sichuan F=1} approach time, location, and individual factors, would result in an increase in the fair
sz Az BB such a frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment

the comparable and the property of property by the same percentage

RMB9,510 (2022: RMBY,304) per square  increase and vice versa.

meter on saleable floor area basis. BRzEMREXENERAZAM L
BfiffER WA ATELBEEZN  MoREMELTEEN R4 -

7B BE  NENRENEE  f

IPEREE  RTHEERERET

Tk A9 5107(20225 -

BRI 3047 ) 2 B R E
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position 2023 2022 hierarchy
REMBRRERS
FEARACRENR ZECCE —SF ATERE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ABRTRT ARBTR
Commercial property units 3,926 3490 Lewel3
located in Sichuan £z
S A 3
Commercial property units 2,702 2920 Lewel3
located in Sichuan R
iz Bz
Commercial property units 13,218 14530 Level3
located in Wuhan 224

UENEY P4 E S

=F FERE | BiMKiR(PEDEERAT

Valuation
technique

fEERER

IERARS

Direct comparison

approach

ERIEE

Direct comparison

approach

BRUBE

Direct comparison

approach
BRIAE

17. REYXE(E)

Relationship of
unobservable input(s)
to fair value
FIRERA
BRELTECEE

Significant
unobservable input(s)
EXFugg

BABE

Anincrease in the unit sale rate used
would result in an increase in the fair

Unit sale rate, taking into account the
time, location, and individual factors,

such as frontage and size, between
the comparable and the property of
RMB13,982 (2022: RMB12,430) per
square meter on saleable floor area
basis.

value measurement of the investment
property by the same percentage
increase and vice versa.
FRBNEERENFRAZE LS
IMZEEMELTEEN  R2Hoh e

ERER  EHATEHBNZELN
KRB ENRENRE - i
WPERAE  RTHERREEET

FANRE13.9827T (20005 -
AEE18307) 2 B E -

Unit sale rate, taking into account the
time, location, and individual factors,
such as frontage and size, between
the comparable and the property of

Anincrease in the unit sale rate used
would result in an increase in the fair
value measurement of the investment
property by the same percentage

R\MB6,840 (2022: RMBT,391) per square  increase and vice versa.

meter on saleable floor area basis. ~ EEZENEERENERASAN L E
BffER MAATELBIESSD  MOREMEATERN  R27% o

E7EOBE  NENRERIRE 4

IHEREE  RTHEERERET

Tk AEE6,8407 (20205 :
AEH73017) 2 B E

Unit sale rate, taking into account the
time, location, and individual factors,
such as frontage and size, between
the comparable and the property of
RMB15,139 (2022: RMB16,642) per
square meter on saleable floor area
basis.

Anincrease in the unit sale rate used
would result in an increase in the fair
value measurement of the investment
property by the same percentage
increase and vice versa.

BRBUEERENFRAZEM LS
MZRENELTEEM R2TH -

EHET M ATELBNRELN
AR ENRERNRE - b
DFERRE  RUHEERARET

FARNREES, 13070 (2022 ¢
ARE16,64270) 2 BN E -
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 17. BREYEE)

Investment properties

held by the Group in the Relationship of
consolidated statement Fairvalue  Valuation Significant unobservable input(s)
of financial position 2023 2022 hierarchy  technique unobservable input(s) to fair value

RRMERRERD fEERER EXFURR FURREA
SRERREIRANR ZBIZE CE-CF OFERG FESARE  BAEE BERATEZRE
RMB'000  RMB'000
ABRER ARETR

Commercial property unit 43,625 4270 Lewel3 Direct comparison  Unit sale rate, taking into account the  An increase in the unit sale rate used
located in Shanghai £=R approach time, location, and individual factors, would result in an increase in the fair
fis H 2 EENE BRIRE stich as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment

the comparable and the property of property by the same percentage

RMB151,930 (2022: RMB154,176) per  increase and vice versa.

square meter on saleable floorarea 7 BEERANERRSE DI

asis. MZRENELTEEN RIHR -
EMHER  EATELENEELY

$7Mmz B8 fENREREE - fl

WEERAE - FTHEEREEST

FRARE519307 (2026 : ARHE

154,17670) Z B EHE «
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year. LMEFRREEASE L E = -
18. GOODWILL 18. B&E
2022
RMB’000
ARET T
cosT 5783
As at 1 January and 31 December ®1A1TBX12A318 693,000 693,000
IMPAIRMENT BERE
As at 1 January and 31 December MR1A1HX12A31H (138,759) (138,759)
CARRYING VALUES IRE{E
As at 31 December ®12H31H 554,241 554,241
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated BETRENR  mELESREER
to the Group’s subsidiary which constitute a CGU. The carrying WEAR  MEARZSEEK—ERS
amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU is as follows: EABEM([IREELSMN]) - 2ZHS

ELABMES R BHEREENT

2022

RMB'000
ARETT

Sichuan Lanfeng )R 554,241 554,241
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In addition to goodwill above, property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, right-of-use assets and other long lived assets
that generate cash flows together with the related goodwill are
also included in the CGU for the purpose of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation.

The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a 5-year period
(2022: 5-year period) and discount rate of 12.2% (2022: 12.6%)
per annum. Growth rate of 1.0% (2022: 1.0%) per annum is
extrapolated for the cash flows of the CGU beyond the 5-year
period (2022: 5-year period). This growth rate is based on the
cement industry growth forecasts and the production quota
adopted by the government.

Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to
the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales and budgeted costs. Such estimation is based on the CGU's
past performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
management of the Group determines that there is no impairment
on the CGU. The directors of the Company believe that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would not
cause the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable
amount.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount
of the CGU. The directors of the Company believe that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would not
result in impairment.

B B EIN - WK - BB R RERE
ERERENBVEE - ERABEER
HigRMEEERBRBE T ARS
EABAETTRERE -

ZERGELEN 2 RS BEERE
ERERERATIAETE -

ZBERIRAEIE R RS ST
(20224 : SFHAME) 2 AR E B 2
Benea@l MIREEREFF12.2%
(20224 : 12.6% )5t & - HBHEZ5FH
(20224 : SFEHE) 2R e RERH
EBEEERGE.0%(20224F - 1.0%)
HEET o I R RIBRAOREL RIE AT
- ABTHBBEKEEZFHRBAEE
Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁf’f{ﬁ EHFE 7 TBRRERE

EiHENTEE ﬁﬂxziﬁium)\///luﬂj
1E*+EF‘% ZIBERIERSELEN
BERBMEBEHMISER 2 TBEE
ﬁ o

EHZE2023F12A31 8 %2022F12 A31
HIEFE  AEEEEERTREES
BAERE - EEMRE  EAHERSR
ZAMAER R EB ST EEIR G E
A BN REEBEE A RE S5 -

AEeEERENREEEFM 2 KA
B ARARIEFERR » ZFER2EM
B AR m{biﬁxﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
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19.

20.

136

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

19.

Software
R
RMB’000

ARETTT
COST BE
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1 A1H 41,712
Additions NE 953
Write-off HE (1,407)
As at 31 December 2022 2022512 A31H 41,258
Additions nNE 854
Write-off k= (19)
As at 31 December 2023 72023%¥12A31H 42,093
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION RetEH
As at 1 January 2022 7R2022F1 318 37,334
Provided for the year FNEE 1,571
Write-off HE (1,407)
As at 31 December 2022 M2022912H31H 37,498
Provided for the year FNEE 1,456
Write-off HE (19)
As at 31 December 2023 72023%¥12A31H 38,935
CARRYING VALUES R {E
As at 31 December 2023 $#2023%¥12A31H 3,158
As at 31 December 2022 720225 12A31H 3,760

The software is amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

20.

AR ERORESF A -

2023
—E=F

2022

RMB’000
AR®TE

RMB'000
ARETT

Cost of unlisted investment in REECEIELET
joint ventures & Z AR 95,059 81,559
Share of post-acquisition profits and FEAL IR EB & R T &
other comprehensive income, H b2 mERA
net of dividends received (HBRE WA E) 31,604 35,676
Accumulated impairment losses REeLhEZ R
EwRERETE (32,595) (32,595)
94,068 84,640
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H IFFE

20.

— = —

=

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Details of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

Form
of entity

Name of joint ventures

RELRER ERvA

Wuhan Asia Marine Transport Sino-foreign equity
Corporation Ltd. ("Wuhan Asia") joint venture
RERTHERRAA Pag
Riptx
Hubei Xinlongyuan Mining Company  Sino-foreign equity
Limited (*Hubei Xinlongyuan") joint venture
R EEREEARAA fiag
Ript%
Jiangxi Ruiya New Material Co,, Ltd.  Sino-foreign equity
IERETTHERAR joint venture
hiaE
Rirtx

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
significant joint venture is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in

Country of

of operation

IREENR

PRC
oE

PRC
"

PRC

== N\ 2

20. RNEELEERE)
RREHRSER  AEEAS AR Y

BB -
establishment/ Proportion of Proportion of
principal place  Class of ownership interest voting rights

capital held held by the Group  held by the Group
ERSIER/ SRERS REME
FRERA Gt { e RRMLH
2023 2022 2023 202
ZEIZF "S- -F IZBIZE "I -
Registered capital 50% 50% 50% 50%
EfGER
Registered capital 40% 40% 40% 40%
Registered capital 45% 45% 45% 45%

hE

81755
PR -

FAERSA SR EEREEENGA R

Principal
activities

ERRH

Provision of
transportation
service

BB

Production and
sales of limestone

EERLERRA

Production and
sales of limestone

FERHERRD

BRAAKEA LR M BEMERH
FIENT o AT B E R B SR IBEIER
EEARREZE

EMBIHREK

the consolidated financial statements. FEBFEARALE o
Wuhan Asia RERED
2023 2022
—=E=-=
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
Current assets mENEE 43,442 36,247
Non-current assets IERENEE 100,576 91,328
Current liabilities REIBE (32,970) (22,237)
Non-current liabilities ERHAG (3,560) -
=F FERE | TMKIR(hE) AT 137



For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

Wuhan Asia (continued) RERD(HE)

The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following: FHMEENAEHERENATSE
Cash and cash equivalents BE MBS EY 17,736 16,405
Current financial liabilities mEEHasE

(excluding trade and other (TERSHNEMBENER KL

payables and provisions) BE) 494 721
Revenue W zs 128,148 99,683
Profit and total comprehensive FRaMEEEBABEE

income for the year 5,164 6,920
Dividends received from the BREEREFAZIRE

joint venture during the year 1,506 1,963
The above profit for the year FFRENBE T HIEIE

include the following:
Depreciation and amortisation HrEe M sy 3,836 3,237
Interest income F 2 U A 245 364

Income tax expense FTiSfiF > 1,535 2,510
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 20. REE&hEER(E)

Wuhan Asia (continued) HERDT(E)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to FalB RSB R B AR S B RS iR R AR
the carrying amount of the interest in Wuhan Asia recognised in RREELEZERRABEZEER

the consolidated financial statements:

2023 2022
—E_=F S

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETTT

Net assets of Wuhan Asia RNERDTEETE 107,488 105,338
Proportion of the Group’s ownership  {EAREBREZE K s

interest in Wuhan Asia FiA Rz 2 o Bl 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group's AEFERRERTZ

interest in Wuhan Asia EmIREE 53,744 52,669

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not BHUFREXSECEEREM

individually material

2023 2022
—— =

— ——

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT ARETT

The Group’s share of post-tax (loss) REE L (B8 )R

profit and total comprehensive 2HE (X H) WAL

(expense) income (5,148) 3,352
Aggregate carrying amount of AEERZEEEHE

the Group's interests in these 7 EmREE

joint ventures 40,324 31,971
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2022
T —F
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR®TT ARETFIT
Cost of unlisted investments R—EE A a2
in associates JELEHEER AR 726,190 726,190
Share of post-acquisition profit and FEAE U B 18 5 A1 &2
other comprehensive income H b2 mEBA 104,838 126,974
Impairment loss VERIEEEES (53,340) (53,340)
777,688 799,824

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period

REHREER - AEEBREQRZ
HEmT

Proportion of Proportion of
ownership interest voting rights Principal
held by the Group held by the Group  activities
SRERS REMS
Gt { e RRMLH EERE

2023
—g-=

— ——

2022 2023 2022

“E-CF ZEBIZE -F-C

are as follow:
Country of
establishment/
Form principal place  Class of
Name of associates of entity of operation capital held
EREIER/
AELRER Rig< TREENE  FRRERR
Yuan Ding Sino-foreign equity  PRC Registered capital
BREZ (L8 ARAR jont venture R EHER
fag
Ript%
Hubei Zhongjian Yadong Sino-foreign equity  PRC Registered capital
Concrete Company Limited jointventure  RE EgMAR
("Hubei Zhongjian") hieE

PR RERLARAA Rtz

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associates are set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.

40%

40%

40% 40% 40%  Property leasing
nERY

40% 40% 40%  Production and
sales of concrete
LEREERRL

BRAANEEBERR 2V HEMERH
FIEATS o LUREI BB R B B IRIE B
PSR B2 A AMEIRE
FRELEE -

B2 N BE AR AT AR B B SRR A
AR ©
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 21. REERNT 2R (E)
Yuan Ding ey )
Yuan Ding was established in 2013 to undertake the commercial RS MR2013FK - UAEABEREDE
property development and operation. The Group is able to exercise FENES - AEERIEERIEINE
significant influence over Yuan Ding because it has the power to T2 AARBARERFHATE &
appoint two out of the seven directors in Yuan Ding under the SEARCRBLEZESPEGME °

provisions stated in the articles of association of Yuan Ding.

2022
RMB'000
ARET T
Current assets mENEE 249,939 277,576
Non-current assets IERENEE 1,653,520 1,672,682
Current liabilities BB E (6,475) (4,265)
Revenue Wz 18,729 21,111
Loss and total comprehensive FREBEREES HE5HE
expense for the year (49,009) (11,565)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to it AR E RS A B RE AT
the carrying amount of the interest in Yuan Ding recognised in the R RIE D REZSER A > HEE ¢

consolidated financial statements:

RMB'000

ARETTT

Net assets of Yuan Ding RREEFE 1,896,984 1,945,993

Proportion of the Group’s ownership  {hARNEER IR S FTAE KE

interest in Yuan Ding - s dlll 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group's FEERER 2 ERREE

interest in Yuan Ding 758,794 778,397

Aggregate information of an associate that is not BAFEXRELRERESR

individually material

RMB’000
ARBTT

The Group's share of post-tax (loss) AEE R (EE)RFI &

profit and total comprehensive 2 (X H) WA @R

(expense) income (2,532) 110
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBRZEHE D

Group's interests in an associate ZHERERTEE 18,894 21,427
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As at 31 December 2023 #2023%€12A31H
Carrying amounts FEE 88,213 6,960 627,482 722,655
As at 31 December 2022 #2022512A31H
Carrying amounts REE 95,421 964 652,119 748,504
For the year ended #E2023F

31 December 2023 12A318 LEE
Depreciation charge HEER (7,351) (2,862) (24,637) (34,850)
Expense relating to short-term leases 75 B2 EATAE I H Ef

and other leases with lease terms it T ZEARNEHZ

end within 12 months HilE v HY - 997 = 997
Expense relating to leases of EREEEEEREZHY

low-value assets, excluding short-  (FEHEEKEEEEY

term leases of low-value assets HMEE) = 5 = 5
Early termination of right-of-use assets $ZAT4X B FIE A& - (91) - (91
Variable lease payments not included K3t ABEEEHE2

in the measurement of lease AEEEMNR

liabilities 773 8,239 - 9,012
Total cash outflow for leases fHERS RERSE 8,309 13,624 - 21,933
Additions to right-of-use assets NERAEEE 143 8,949 = 9,092
For the year ended #E2022%

31 December 2022 12A310 L EE
Depreciation charge FEER (7,350) (3,320) (24,631) (35,301)
Expense relating to short-term B HHERAH

leases and other leases with lease  #Ezt+ {87 AfEH 2

terms end within 12 months HepHE 7 HY - 1,009 - 1,009
Expense relating to leases of FHEBELAERECRX

low-value assets, excluding short-  (TRFEEBEEZ

term leases of low-value assets RHHRE) - 5 - 5
Variable lease payments not included Kt AHEEEHEZ

in the measurement of lease AEEENR

liabilities 2,530 7,834 - 10,364
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRERSE 10,315 11,950 - 22,265




For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

For both years, the Group leases various properties, ports and
lands for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 1 year to 34 years (2022: 1 year to 34 years). Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all
leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with carrying amount
of RMB50,851,000 (2022: RMB55,429,000) which the Group is in
the process of obtaining.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for offices and
dormitories. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expenses disclosed above.

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB96,404,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of RMB95,173,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: lease liabilities of RMB94,879,000 and related right-
of-use assets of RMB96,385,000). The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

Spare parts and ancillary materials T R ER
Raw materials Er R
Work in progress S m
Finished goods BUAY T

RREFE  AEERELEREZM
Y - AO R+ - HEA LIRETEH
ﬁﬁ1¢§34¢(2022¢ 1EFE34E)E
B TN XTI A] = AT R AR
R o FREIR AR A LEEEBEBSAET
EMEFR G o REEEFRE R EHE ]
BRIz RER AEBEAALHZ
EEIWETA LA 88T 2 8RS -

BRI (E A A R #50,851,0007T (2022
F . AR¥55,429,0007T) 2 FAE T
(REEHEREBIEF I - ZISEIE
TR T E T ES T b (F AR RS

ﬂxﬁlmﬁﬂﬁifﬂ#“*&@%Jﬁ HiH
BA2023¢12H31E%H2022¢12H

31E| RHHEEREAR DG A E

%ﬁiZLﬂHa"ﬁiﬁ%ﬂ/\iﬁE

AN - B ZE2023F12A31HIEFE -
HRHEE a8 E ARY96,404,000T
FEREE Ak E E AR #95,173,000 T
(20224 : HE&E AR®94,879,000
JC © R A = AR 96,385,000
T0) c BB ABENHEEE LAE
RiEzIN - HEBZE TR YL -
HEEETSIERETER -

117,720 146,929
225,512 393,445
114,221 171,732
149,494 193,406

606,947 905,512
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H L FE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. X5 REMEWFIE
2023 2022
—E=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
Trade receivables from contracts R S EKGRE

with customers 546,159 661,973
Less: Allowance for credit losses o S ERREE (220,381) (287,693)
325,778 374,280

Other receivables Hip el I8 32,258 35,011
Less: Allowance for credit losses o EERREE (9,552) (9,552)
22,706 25,459

Interest receivable from banks FEUERITHIE 159,193 101,439
Advances to suppliers A FER R 125,362 184,860
Notes receivables A GEE 2 110,989 210,734
Bills receivables at FVTOCI FEWERI TR 72,366 257,848
Refundable deposits b 36,872 39,024
Value-added tax recoverable AR BB {E R 33,473 50,881
Prepayments for utilities TaftERIA 7,247 8,135
893,986 1,252,660

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with  72022F 1818 - fERZFRFTNE L KE
customers amounted to RMB580,609,000, net of allowance for ZEZ%EE\H&?KIEZ%J\EMSSO,GOQOOOT_E(E?I:l
credit losses of RMB314,946,000. MRIs BB E AR®314,946,0007T) ©

The Group has a policy of allowing a credit period of 30 to 180 AKBEBRRATE T KEREF302180H &R
days for cement customers and 180 to 365 days for concrete R+ FEF180E3658 2 zEH @ EETEE
customers whereas longer credit terms are allowed to certain RIFEERHFIARBEFIXNEE 2 HFEEFA
selected customers with good credit histories or settled by bills. ERTEREEH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z=2023F12 A31H I FE

24,

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses presented based on the invoice dates:

24. RZKkEARWEIE(E)

TRAXSEYA(C HRERBRABE) B
EREHREE A REZT AR ZREDN

Cements Concrete Total

ik REL &t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

k- S} g k- S} S k- S} T

RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARETT ARBTRE AR%TT AR®TR ARETR
0-90 days 0Z90H 143,223 213,138 35,273 33,230 178,496 246,368
91-180 days 91£180H 62,628 62,994 23,792 25,504 86,420 88,498
181-365 days 1812365H 42,156 804 17,619 25,577 59,775 26,381
Over 365 days 3658 £ - 9,580 1,087 3,453 1,087 13,033
248,007 286,516 77,771 87,764 325,778 374,280

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately RMB42,156,000 (2022: RMB10,384,000) and
RMB1,087,000 (2022: RMB3,453,000) for cement and concrete
segment, respectively, which are past due as at the reporting date.
Out of the past due balances, approximately RMB14,080,000
(2022: RMB10,384,000) for cement segment has been past due
90 days or more and is not considered as in default as the Group
holds collateral over part of these balances in which the estimated
value of collateral exceeds the overdue trade balances.

TR =F FERE | ENKR(hE) AT

P2023F 128318 » AEER 5 ERFIAL
BEEEREREDHETMESAAR
#42,156,0007T (20224 : AR #10,384,000
7T) R AR 1,087,0007T (2022 F « AR
3,453,00070) Z R FTE - )RS B E A -
BAFIEE ST - KR EB%14,080,000 7T
(20224 : AR#10,384,0007T) D #Bi1EB90 K
S AAEEFEH S SR EKBRITT
SWARABEL  EHEVNETEEBBRSE

Wekog
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Bills receivables at FVTOCI

As part of the Group’s cash flow management, the Group will
discount bills receivables to financial institutions or endorse
bills receivables to suppliers before the due for payment, and
derecognise the discounted and endorsed bills receivables on the
basis that the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards to the relevant counterparties. Thus, bills receivables at
FVTOCI are managed within a business model whose objective is
both to collect the contractual cash flows and to sell. Therefore,
these bills receivables were subsequently classified as debt
instruments at FVTOCI upon adoption of IFRS 9.

The following is an aged analysis of bills receivables at FVTOCI, net
of fair value remeasurement under the requirement of IFRS 9, at
the end of the reporting period:

0 to 180 days 0Z2180H

BAVPEFAHMEZERE 2BV
RITRE
ERASERSREEE 2 5 - &
SR B B SR AT R UGERTT RIBREIR
EETORBBIBRKRTRESS
THER  WEASBECDEANERME
R AE R TR HE TTIE - LI o
At - BaFEF AR MEEK R E
WERTTE B R A — EAWEE RERE SR
EMHESBRABERBERA THET
BIE o A - ZFRUERTTRERNRA
BB B 7% i = R FE 95k D M ARIE AT
Bt ARfb2ERR EBTA -

TRAERSHRIRAFEFAEME
T Yo e 2 FEMER 17 SR 38 (AN PR B BR B 75
WEERIFFRMRER N A FHEEH
FHE)ZIRER DT

72,366 257,848

The bills receivables at FVTOCI are all issued by reputable banks
of good credit quality. The management of the Group considered
the credit risk of these bank issued bills is insignificant and no
impairment was provided on them at the year end.

Transfers of financial assets

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group has
transferred bank issued bills receivables to its suppliers to settle its
payables and discounted some bills receivables to banks.

The Group considers the issuing banks of the bills are of good
credit quality and the risk of non-settlement by the issuing banks
on maturity is insignificant. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Group has transferred and does not retain
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of these
bank issued bills. Accordingly, the Group has derecognised these
bank issued bills receivables and the payables to suppliers in their
entirety.

As at 31 December 2023, the discounted bank issued bills
and endorsed bank issued bills were RMB9,027,000 and
RMB329,152,000 (2022: nil and RMB609,378,000), respectively.

All the bank issued bills receivables discounted to banks or
endorsed to suppliers of the Group have a maturity date of less
than one year.

BRAFER AR M 2 HYES 2 RUERTT
SEEHHRERRFIRITET - A
SEEEERSZFRITRENEAR
BB - ERREIRRELER

TREEEY

72023912 A31H k2022412 A31
A AEBEBBIETHE 2R IERE
BT ER AN A RIE R E EES
U =R R T IRTT o

AEBRRZERBEZRITEAREE
HERY  RERITIHTELNZE
iR - AAREEEAR  ARED
EHER LA ERH A SR
R Koz o BEE - KSR ERERR DA R UL
SHEEEEFEYEHRER ZEMNR
I8 o

HZE2023F12HA31H » BAB 2R 1T
AHESFEEMEE 7 IRITANES
2RI R 59,027,000 T & A R
329,152,000 7C (2022 E R AR
609,378,0007T) °

FIAREIR TIRTTHEEERE T AEEH
e Z1E - BRI E—FIAR -
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24,

—T o= FIERE | ENKE AR R AT

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

24,

R 5 K EABRRYGRIE (&)

Notes receivables ERmEERE
The following is an aged analysis of notes receivables presented TRAMEZBEEPELRIERR Y
based on the dates of notes issued by the customers: BEES AT -
Cements Concrete Total
kiR REL &%
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023
B —T-—F ZBCIZE —T-_—&F ZB-=
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AEETRE ARETT AER®TR ARETT AER®%TR ARET:R
0-90 days 0%90H 56,169 98,475 - - 56,169 98,475
91-180 days 91£180H 54,820 112,259 - - 54,820 112,259
110,989 210,734 - - 110,989 210,734

As at 31 December 2023, notes receivables are received amounting
to RMB110,989,000 (2022: RMB210,734,000) with a maturity
period of less than one year.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables

are set out in note 40.

M2023F 128318 HEZEEZE
110,989,0007T (20224 : 210,734,000
7T ) B HAHARR BB —4F o

5 KA EUGRIRRE S IEE R

BiI5E40 -
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25. AMOUNTS WITH RELATED COMPANIES 25. FEUW () BEELATFRE
B
(@) Amount due from an associate (a) JFEWEEEATFIE

(b)

(9]

(d)

148

RMB’000
ARETT
Hubei Zhongjian (trade related) WL (32 5 48R) 6,057 7,778
The amount was unsecured, non-interest bearing and aged ZREAEEMETA 12
within the credit term of 90 days. EHA90H -
Amount due from a joint venture (b) EWEELEIE
2023 2022
=5 B
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREBTT
Hubei Xinlongyuan IR
(non-trade related) —3ER H 18 5,461 5,461
The amount represented the dividend receivable from 2B ARG AE B R R IR
Hubei Xinlongyuan, which was unsecured and non-interest HEREBEZEE o
bearing.
Amounts due to joint ventures (0 EFEELEFTE
2023 2022
—E_=f —E_fF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREBT T
Wuhan Asia (trade related) RERI(Z5EH) 22,515 17,213
Hubei Xinlongyuan (trade related)  #itZiEIR (X 5HE) = 2,354
22,515 19,567
The amounts were unsecured, non-interest bearing and A RBEERE TS &
aged within the credit term of 90 days. BHA90H -
Amount due to an associate (d) ENBEEATRE
2023
==
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREBTTT
Yuan Ding (non-trade related) R ER51EE) - 256
The amount was accrued rental expense, which was ZRBEAENESER I
unsecured and non-interest bearing. WE RS o
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(@) Restricted bank deposits

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances that are placed in
restricted bank accounts in accordance with the applicable
government regulations amounting to RMB6,016,000

(2022: Nil).

(b) Bank balances and cash
The Group

The bank balances and cash include bank deposits with
an original maturity of over three months amounting
to RMB3,538,532,000 (2022: RMB925,844,000) as
at 31 December 2023 and the remaining balances of
RMB5,718,017,000 (2022: RMB7,974,604,000) are bank
balances and cash with an original maturity of three months

or less.

The bank balances with fixed interest rates which range
from 1.30% to 5.25% (2022: 1.00% to 3.99%) per
annum and floating interest rates which range from
0.01% to 1.45% (2022: 0.01% to 0.85%) per annum
amount to RMB7,054,949,000 (2022: RMB7,024,245,000)
and RMB2,201,600,000 (2022: RMB1,876,203,000),

respectively.

The Group’s bank balances and cash that are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the

relevant group entities are set out below:

Denominated in United States dollars LAZE TTEHE

("Usb")

Denominated in Hong Kong dollars LA TTEHE

("HKD")

Denominated in Singapore dollars LA AN T EHE

(IISGDH)

(a)

(b)

ZRHEIRITER
M2023F12A318 @ IREHE
BARBFRESTAZRG R
TEREFNBETHEAARE
6,016,0007C(20224F = 48) o

RITERRERS

REME

A2023FE12 8310 » BITHEE
FREeBERINEA A=A
NWE—FURETERAR
# 3,538,532,000 7T (2022 4F :
AR #925,844,0007T) © H &
4 % A R #5,718,017,000 JT
(20224 : AR#7,974,604,000
TT)ARIEAA=@ANIAT
ZIRITHEBNIRS o

LA F B 1.30% & 5.25%
(20224 : 1.00% £3.99% ) &
F£% 50.01% & 1.45% (2022
£ :0.01% & 0.85% ) &
ZIRITHEBD RN BARE
7,054,949,000 7T (2022 4F : A
R #7,024,245,0007T ) K& 4 A
E # 2,201,600,000 7T ( 2022
F . AR#1,876,203,0007T) °

AEEZERAEEERNEE
BAINE R EHE 2 RITHER R
Re#@onT

2,641 3,130
1,931 3,982
1,281 -
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26. BANK BALANCES AND CASH/RESTRICTED 26. RITHERRIRE(E)
BANK DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
(b) Bank balances and cash (continued) (b) SRITHEBRRES(E)
The Company VNN
The bank balances and cash include bank deposits with M2023F 12 A318 - BITHH
an original maturity of over three months amounting to KRS BEERIBAE A=A
RMB1,000,000 (2022: RMB1,000,000) as at 31 December N E—FUARRITERARE
2023 and the remaining balances of RMB4,618,000 (2022: 1,000,0007T (20224 : AR#
RMB14,158,000) are bank balances and cash with an 1,000,0007T) @ Etp#EHAR
original maturity of three months or less. #54,618,0007T (20224 + AR
#14,158,00070) BREHHE &
— @A T ZRITEH IR
@ o
The bank balances with fixed interest rates which is AFFEB1.3%(2022%F :1.00%
1.30% (2022: range from 1.00% to 1.80%) per annum 2£1.80%) KFFE0.05% 2
and floating interest rates which range from 0.05% to 1.45% (2022 F : 0.05% =
1.45% (2022: 0.05% to 0.45%) per annum amount to 0.45% ) 5t B 2 R1T &% 5 7
RMB 1,000,000 (2022: RMB1,000,000) and RMB4,618,000 #49 & AR ¥ 1,000,0007T (2022
(2022: RMB14,158,000), respectively. £ AR%1,000,0007T) K4
ANER#4,618,0007T (20224
AFE#14,158,0007T) °
The Company’s bank balances and cash that are AEEREAEEEREE
denominated in currencies other than the functional BN EE I ECRITEBR K
currencies are set out below: BEEFHNNT
2023 2022
==
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
Denominated in USD AZETTEHE 406 968
Denominated in HKD PAVETTEHE 1,924 3,974
27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 27. U REBEITEEHS

AEHBENTRERE
The Group and the Company REBRAAT

2023
—E=F

2022
—EFE-—

RMB’000

AREFIT

RMB’000
AR®TE

Unquoted fund investment (note) IERMNER IR E (H77F) 138,726 117,156

Details of the fair value measurement for financial assets measured at
FVTPL are set out in note 40(b).

Note: Hret - K2R EBEFZEARZETAZ IR
wmHEBEENLA BEFTEFIER

MizE40b) ©
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. RZKRHEMENTRIA

2023 2022

—E_=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREBT T
Trade payables RS IEN A 224,532 260,952
Accruals et E A 68,865 110,686
Mine reserve fund payable FE R ERE S 299,724 299,724
Staff wages and welfare payable FERTBE B T & K A& F| 73,098 96,969
Value added tax payable FEIB(ER 3,801 7,603
Construction cost payable FET SRR AR 30,790 46,519
Other taxes payable HibFERTIE 14,455 33,498
Interest payable JERTFIE 4,412 3,604

Consideration payable for acquisition 720144 Uk B —

of a subsidiary in 2014 B AR ERRE 6,681 6,681
Refundable deposits from suppliers FERHER RS 66,788 51,690
Other payables HAb B FRIA 32,017 30,322
825,163 948,248

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice dates:

TRRERRZENFTIARENREBEBER
SHRAE BB R AR ZREO -

RMB’000

ARET T

0-90 days 0z290H 159,722 212,450
91-180 days 912 180H 36,497 18,611
181-365 days 181%F365H 14,739 21,494
Over 365 days 365H A E 13,574 8,397
224,532 260,952

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade
purchases. The average credit period for trade purchases is 30 to
90 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place
to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

—T o= FIERE | ENKE AR R AT

2 BRENEEE B AR B RE 2 K
REE - X BB THISEHA30
Z=90R - AL E AR HERE R
% BRAARNREREEBNY
fit o
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29.

2023 2022
—m— =

— m——

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT

Receipt in advance for sales of cement U BI|7K B & & 32 & AU

and related products 118,218 147,700
Receipt in advance for sales of concrete U EI SR 5 £+ 22 & A% 849 441
119,067 148,141

As at 1 January 2022, the balance of contract liabilities amounted
to RMB183,948,000.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

HE202F1H1H  aRaEHREA
AFRHE183,948,0007T °

TRETRAFEERNBASRE S D
HEARAEER - AREUTFER
RHOBHEBEZRRIE -

Sales of

cement
and related Sales of
products concrete

KiRE & REL
RMB’000 RMB’000
UN: UN:

For the year ended #BXE2023F12A31H
31 December 2023 ISR
Revenue recognised that was ROBABS
included in the contract EFYIHNERAREHR
liability balance at the
beginning of the year 147,700 441 148,141
For the year ended #%2022%12A31H
31 December 2022 ILSFE
Revenue recognised that was BROBABS
included in the contract TEFEINEREEF

liability balance at the

beginning of the year 183,174 774 183,948

Typical payment term which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised is as follows:

The Group enters into goods supply contracts with customers and
receives advance payments from customers which are interest-free.
When the Group receives a deposit before the delivery of goods,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract,
until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the
amount of the deposits.

HEHRNERABERELTENHA
BN

AEEREFFILEMHEER - AWK
REFREZEMNFE - EAKEER
NEYzKEEER - S ESRA
mRELARAR  BE2ERARER
B ABBES SR
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30. BORROWINGS 30. f&E&
The Group and the Company REBERAAT
2023 2022
—E_=fF =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
Bank borrowings — unsecured and IRITIEE — BB NEER
unguaranteed 1,773,000 2,375,646
The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s bank EESIHEmENT

borrowings are repayable:

2023 2022
—E_=F %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TT ARETTT
Within one year —ER 1,148,000 1,014,000
Within a period of more than one year 88— F TR IBRE
but not exceeding two years 625,000 1,361,646
1,773,000 2,375,646
Less: Amounts due within one year W BNt ZEARNERZ
shown under current liabilities FERRBAEEZY) (1,148,000) (1,014,000)
Amounts shown under non-current IEREBEE e
liabilities 625,000 1,361,646
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30. BORROWINGS 30. EE(&E)
The Group and the Company (continued) AEBERAKAAT(E)
The interest rates of bank borrowings are as follows: IRITEENXEENT

Carrying Carrying
amount Interest rates amount  Interest rates
BEE #E REE  FIX
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTT N S
Fixed-rate RMB bank borrowings AREERREE 1,493,000  3.31% to 4.45% 1,791,000 2.15% t03.51%
3.31%ZE4.45% 2.15%%3.51%
Fixed-rate USD bank borrowings ~ ETFEEE - NA 69,646  5.09%
TER
Variable-rate RMB bank borrowings  AREZE{EE 280,000  3.55% to 3.78% 515000  2.48%103.29%
3.55%%3.78% 2.48%%3.29%
1,773,000 2,375,646
The Group’s and the Company’s borrowings that are denominated RNEB T EBINE S AN E XTI a0
in currencies other the functional currencies of the relevant group T

entities are set out below:

2022
—e-=% —F=—

=

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT ARETT

usb EIH - 69,646

154 Annual Report 2023 | ASIA CEMENT (CHINA) HOLDINGS CORPORATION



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B 78R 3= ff 3

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H IFFE

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HHE&SE
2023 2022
—=E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
Lease liabilities payable: EfAgAHE
Within one year —ER 6,464 6,112
Within a period of more than one year A&H— A+ BTBBMF
but not more than two years 6,623 3,310
Within a period of more than two years AEIRRE - BTBBRESE
but not more than five years 9,513 10,872
Within a period of more than five years AHRFIA 73,804 74,585
96,404 94,879
Less: Amount due for settlement with & : ZI{ERBIBE
12 months shown under current KT ZEAREH
liabilities EE 2 FIR (6,464) (6,112)
Amount due for settlement after 12 SWEIE B aE IR
months shown under non-current +-EARBEEE
liabilities RIE 89,940 88,767

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to  EAREEBEMINEFLHIEEERENE A
lease liabilities range from 4.75% to 4.90% (2022: from 4.75% t0  4.75%%4.90% (20224 : 4.75%%4.90%) °
4.90%) per annum.
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32.

156

DEFERRED TAX 32. IREEMIA

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement REIEEMBHRRERE - & TRER
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities BEENBECDEH HUKEHAE
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax IEEFRIEASR O ¢

balances for financial reporting presentation purposes:

Deferred tax assets FEREFRIBE &= 139,633 161,804
Deferred tax liabilities FERIEE R (89,620) (51,615)
50,013 110,189
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets FAEBRFEEEHIB(BBEER
recognised and the movement thereon during the years: B E T

Fair value
adjustment  Allowance

on assets of ECL  Adjustment Undistributed

acquired in of trade on earnings

business  andother  additional of PRC  Right-of- Lease

acquisition  receivables  quarry cost subsidiaries use assets liabilities  Others Total

REkhw

BRRER XARRAM  ENRE MERETLR

AFERR BEREAE  MXMR  CXOGEY GRERE  ERAR Ef ait
RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBO00  RMBO0D  RMBOOO  RMBIOD

AEBTT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARBT ARETR ARETR ARETR

As at 1 January 2022 R02F1A1R
(auditec) ) (13.704) 81,674 60,778 (49,551) - - BB 112451
Adjustments (Note 2) BR() - - - -5 5 - -
As at 1 January 2022 R02F1A1R
(restatec) &) (13.704) 81,674 60,778 (49551)  (5124) 2504 BB 112450
Withholding tax paid BRI - - - 39,621 - - - 961
Credit (charge) to profit orloss st AR E ) B% 793 (3,600) (2,599) (28,774) 1542 (1,542) (7,703 (41,883)
Asat 31 December 2022 (restated) 5202212 5318
(&) (12911) 78,074 58,179 (38704 (358) 2358 2551 110189
Withholding tax paid EEENS - - - 140,217 - - - 140217
Credit (charge) o profit orloss s A(SIB B )% 793 (15,337) (2,599) (179,015) (518) 518 (4235 (200393)

Asat 31 December 2023 1#2023%12531R (12,118) 62,737 55,580 (77502) (241000 24100 21,316 50,013

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates RIERIBE E R AEREN RS HRE
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised FEACEMIAMEREE - IRIEAE
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have AREREENERE B Rt
been enacted at the end of the reporting period. o
As at 31 December 2023, the Group has deductible temporary HZE2023F12A318 » REEHEAA]
differences of RMB666,681,000 (2022: RMB734,465,000) PR SEA SRR AT 2R B
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset AR #666,681,00070(2022F « AR
has been recognised in respect of RMB139,633,000 (2022: #734,465,0007T) © AEEE R
RMB161,804,000) of such deductible temporary differences. h A B #139 633,000 7T (20224 : A
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the R 161,804,000 7T ) &) A] 45 #1187 % 2
remaining RMB108,149,000 (2022: RMB87,249,000) due to the EE’J;EU)ElﬁﬁF‘ o HREUETEEIR
unpredictability of future profit streams. AE AR - FER AR 108,149,000
(2022$ AR #87,249,0007T ) & 5
WIRTERIAE EE
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As at 31 December 2023, the unused tax losses were
approximately RMB446,804,000 (2022: RMB253,606,000)
available for offset against future profits. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the unused tax losses with approximately
RMB7,005,000 (2022: RMB7,184,000) were expired. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of unused tax losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit stream.

The unused tax losses will expire as follows:

B Z2023F12A31H » AFABEOFIE
E518 4 A A R ¥ 446,804,000 7T (2022
£ AR®253,606,0007T) » A] K8
KRIAE o #HZE2023F12A31HILE
E - #“ AR¥7,005,00075T (20224 ¢
ARBE7,184,0007T) 2 A H B EE
EEIE o AR EEATBRRIEF R
ARAF AR BESERERELHIEE
é o

RBABIREBRRIZA T FRER :

2023 20234 - 12,017
2024 20244 3,928 3,928
2025 2025%F 4,544 4,544
2026 2026%F 1,695 1,695
2027 20274 224,501 231,422
2028 20284 212,136 -

446,804 253,606

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by Group’s PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. As at 31 December 2023, deferred
tax liability has been provided in respect of RMB775,044,000 (2022:
RMB758,280,000) undistributed earnings of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries. Deferred tax has not been provided in respect of the
remaining temporary differences attributable to the undistributed
earnings as the Group is in a position to control the quantum and
timing of the distribution thereof, deferred taxation is only provided
to the extent that such earnings are estimated to be distributable in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax in respect of the undistributed
earnings of the Group’s associates and joint ventures in the PRC
have not been provided as the amount involved is not significant.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of undistributed
earnings of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries in respect of which
deferred tax liability has not been provided for were approximately
RMB12,797,595,000 (2022: RMB13,735,691,000).

RIEPBECEMBRE - B2008F
TA1THRE  AEBZHBEKBRG
AT REUR A TR 2 KB BMTE
B o 2023128318 B iR
SEPEMBRAR ZADIRAFA
R #775,044,00070 (20224 : AR
758,280,000 T ) fEHIEEF 1B & FE#
B> AR AEEAIES BRI REE L
B - AT B A D IREF 2 8 T
ERENRERERE  mERE@ER
AT RARE DR Z BN T T a1
EETRIBEA - ARFTFRRETK
B ERAEERPRZBERRNE
B EZ R IRABFE L IEE R
1 o

M2023F 1204318 - K&EFEFEH
BB AR RIELELTIE G EEG
ZADREBFBESNODAEARE
12,797,595,000 7T (2022 F : AR ¥
13,735,691,0007T) °
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33. PROVISION FOR ENVIRONMENTAL 33. RIBWMERE
RESTORATION
Environmental
restoration
BIR xR
RMB'000
ARETFIT
As at 1 January 2022 R2022F 1 F1H Z 8458 51,845
Provision for the year FREAE 22,178
Settlement for the year FREE (15,855)
As at 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A318 2 &8k 58,168
Provision for the year FREHE 21,442
Settlement for the year FREE (25,638)
As at 31 December 2023 120235128310 1L#EER 53,972
According to the regulation issued in 2009 by the Ministry of Land BIEE T & IJRIFH 2009 F 8 20k
and Resources (B4 &R &), the user of quarry should undertake BoESERAEEREREREZE
the obligation of environmental restoration. After taking into T - ZEF|R2020F F 2047 F B A
account the quantity of limestone excavated and the timing of WEZ RS E MIRBIIERRE - A&
environment restoration in between 2020 to 2047, a provision B O i TEEIR IR IR (S B A 2 AR AR HE R
has been recognised for the costs expected to be incurred for the B ANBREERLEFRRLNEEE
environmental restoration. Addition in provision is recognised as FAIRAZSEERKA o

cost of sales of the related limestone excavated.

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. R

Shown in the

consolidated

Number financial
of shares Amount statements as

REHME

B ] WRMAT
HK$'000 RMB'000

TAT ANEBTTT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SIRE(E0. 162 L@

Authorised: ETE
At 1 January 2022, R20225 20235
31 December 2022 1A18 ~12A318
and 2023 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
At 1 January 2022, R20225 20235
31 December 2022 1H1H ~12A318
and 2023 1,566,851,000 156,685 140,390
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35. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 35. KEHE
The Group as lessor AEBEREBEA
Gross rental income earned was RMB6,675,000 (2022: HZE2023F12A31HIEFEARNREZ
RMB3,172,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group HE WA R ARME,6750007T (2022
leases its plant, property and machinery under operating lease F: AREE3,172,0007T) - REERE
arrangements. The leases typically run for an initial period of one KEHEZHHBEME  BELK
to nine years (2022: one to nine years). - HMEMBRE R —ENF(2022F :
—ZENF) - FTAEREH TSR EHEE
IR -
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: RGBS EBEEREWOT ¢
2023 2022
—EZ= —F—=
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREBT T
Within one year FA 5,756 1,950
In the second year E_F 5,702 1,637
In the third year F= 5,509 1,665
In the fourth year FOE 5,331 1,509
In the fifth year ERF 5,112 1,331
After five years BB hE 9,882 2,994
37,292 11,086
36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. BEAREIE

2023 2022

ol Sl - T

RMB’000 RMB'000
UN: ARETT

Capital expenditure contracted for WEEIZE -« BB KR
but not provided in the consolidated GHENEESS 3

financial statements in respect of BTSRRI B
the acquisition of property, ZEXRAY
plant and equipment 77,910 57,692
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37.

38.

160

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit plan operated by the government of
the PRC. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense charged to profit or loss of approximately
RMB38,729,000 (2022: approximately RMB42,882,000) represents
contribution paid/payable to the schemes by the Group in respect
of the current accounting period. As at 31 December 2023,
contributions of RMB5,471,000 (2022: RMB5,476,000) as at 31
December 2023 have not been paid over to the schemes.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Other than disclosed in elsewhere, the Group had also entered into
the following significant transactions with related parties during
the year.

37.

38.

BIREAETE

AEERFEZ BEHAEREE LR
RIERIEHBIAKE - 23t B REIRATE
i o AN BA BT ERA L IEE
AL ERERIH IR - AR
HERRHES - AEEAMENEFE
B — BT AIFH A -

FrABRZ BRI HARE38,729,000
J0(20224F : HHARH42,882,0007T)
BAEERASTHBRESEE
/R Z R o 2023412 A 31
B #ZE2023F12A318 2R A
R # 5,471,000 7T (2022 F : AR #
5,476,00070 )W R [AZEFTEIZ AT »

BEEALRS

BREM T RE 2RSS NRENE
WITEEBEA LRI LA TEARS ©

2023 2022
—E=HF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREBT T
Joint ventures: BEME
Wuhan Asia HZERTD
- Transportation expenses — BT 125,871 98,743
Hubei Xinlongyuan L EREIR
— Purchase of goods —BEE®D 8,241 31,169
Associate: VNI
Hubei Zhongjian B
- Sales of goods —HEE® 2,830 7,224
Yuan Ding RE
— Rental expenses —HEfX 860 929
Compensation of key management personnel FTESIE A ST
The remuneration of directors of the Company and chief executive BERITHOH ZHMOT

officer was as follows:

SR E R

Short-term employee benefits

RMB’000
ARBTT

4,500 6,834

The remuneration of directors of the Company and chief executive
officer is determined by having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

B MITIRARE 2 HERIREARIR &
MZBBETE
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The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
throughout the relevant periods.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt that includes
the borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in note 30 and note
31 respectively, net of bank balances and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves
and retained earnings.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure from
time to time. As a part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of
the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, the issue of new shares, new
debts or the redemption of existing debts.

EEEREEAURRAEEAN T
SRS  DEBE(CEY L
SEREEEINEROY - AEERE
R B S

2 B a8 Bt

$‘§I2£$ LR EEBEHE(BRE

E‘JECM%BO&%?)32&%21%%&%@%
’EF) HBRRITAERR AR BERA
E(Eﬁi)\ =m(BREEBITRA - #E &R
EEl/ﬁﬁﬂ

EETHRBEARER - EARF 2 —
By EEEEEAKNARZEEARE
ﬁZH $E@hﬁﬁﬁ$@m s
BRI R~ BT - FEES B
@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ TET R E ARGEE o

a.  Categories of financial instruments a. SRIAEH

The Group xEE
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost LM%&'E%W$E+EE’Ji%§£F 9,929,621 9,664,623
Bills receivables at FVTOCI Qj‘ﬁ{ﬁfﬁﬁﬂ\ﬁﬁﬂi@

Wz 2 FEUERT TR IR 72,366 257,848
Financial assets at FVTPL UWAREBEFEEEED

STABEIERNSREE 138,726 117,156
Financial liabilities eMaR

Financial liabilities at amortised cost  # $5A% Zx 2,529,324 3,205,647
Lease liabilities HERE 96,404 94,879
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b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, trade and other payables, financial assets
at FVTPL, bills receivables at FVTOCI, amount due from an
associate, amount due from a joint venture, amounts due
to joint ventures, amount due to an associate, borrowings
and bank balances and cash. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risks

The Group's activities expose it primarily to foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk. Market risk exposures are further
measured by sensitivity analysis. Details of each type of

market risks are described as follows:

(i) Currency risk

Certain bank balances and cash (note 26) and
borrowings (note 30) of the Group are denominated
in USD and HKD, being currencies other than the
functional currency of the relevant group entities,
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amount of foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the

reporting dates is as follows:

usb e
HKD BT
SGD b

THAREEREREE

AEEBZEELMTAEBER
&ﬁﬁﬂf”ﬂln R RE
o pE 3R E - L/(/D\/"ETEEE‘I'E
BHEZHHFTASHIEZNSE
BE  UWARBETENEK
fﬁﬁmﬁ% FEUER L N AR A
EEFIE FEH/\“/JE%M
H - ENEBSRE - R -
ﬁEﬁ%ﬁﬁ%&ﬁ% ZEE2®MT
AHBRSWERE - 8232
”%EEIEHF%ZHI@&%
% A k2 (ﬂfﬂ B

%)~ EER um@)éf%ﬂ
% /F-MEWHE%H R R E T
wr - EREERERETZSE
ﬂ¢ R X B U R EUE
n—‘-‘uﬁﬁmo

TEER
AEELEEY 2 ARIE A
R LR E AR o TS
@Ai& J-':J//\ !ﬁ( /\;;\J_g Tﬁ§+§ o
SETSRREE AN T -

(i) RERE

AEEETIRITFER R
Be (M) kiR
TREE (KM FE30)
(3T )) MABTT([E
Tl (AEREEEEY
EEEBIAIN G ) 5T
B WAEEEEINE
[z o

WMEBMINEFEZE
A EMBENERER
BEIT :

3,130 - 69,646
3,982 - -
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b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risks (continued)

()

Currency risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, management of
the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign exchange
exposure should the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to 10% (2022: 10%) increase and decrease in RMB
against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% (2022:
10%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 10% (2022: 10%) change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profit where RMB strengthened
10% (2022: 10%) against the relevant currency.
For 10% (2022: 10%) weakening of RMB against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit post-tax and the
balances below would be negative.

Post-tax profit BB R

227

THEREERERBX

(&)

i k()

(i)

6,690

Ewmpes i)

NEEE AL A INEY
SRR o AT E B ELIE
SNER  WERNBE
B & & Y 8 KON T
TERFANAEEUAR
B HAEBEINE Z210%
(20224F : 10% ) 38R
1B 2 BT » BURELL
K10% (20224 : 10%)
5 TR B Y TE R4 1 Al
B IR 2 BB FTVERTS ©

FRREDTIEBRIEARE
BINEIER - WHENRS
HIRABRETE BINE
PE REE)10% (20224 :
10%) e EHEXTAR
KSR EEAEI0%
(2022%F : 10% ) B35 )
23800 o i AR K8
&7 E10% (2022
F110%)  mAEeTiE
EREZHARZELT
HEBEAAH -

(193) (398)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B 78R 3= M3

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H L FE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. ERITEAE(E)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HEREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (&)
Market risks (continued) sk (&)
(i) Currency risk (continued) (i) E¥mE&E)

Impact of SGD
o E

164

2023 2022
—EC=HF ==
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETFIT
Post-tax profit BB & s A 106 -
(i)  Interest rate risk (i) FIERE

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate bank balance (note 26),
borrowings (note 30) and lease liabilities (note 31).
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances
(note 26) and variable-rate borrowings (note 30).
The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate or TAIFX3 arising from the

REBZ AFEMEMR
B R B8R 1T 45 o4 (Bt
F26) « BEE(HFE30)
MEEaE(HE3)A
B AEETEE AR
ZERTT 4R (M FE26)
M2 BEE (MFE30) 2
BEREF AR - &
EEZRERENERE

Group's borrowings. The Group manages its interest BEEEFNKREAE
rate exposures by assessing the potential impact EEE 2 BBRITEZE

arising from any interest rate movements based on
interest rate level and outlook. The management will
review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and
floating rates and ensure they are within reasonable
range.

Interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

HENERHGBIRITRA
EFRBAEZRE - K
SEEBFEERN R
SRR R SR S
BERELNECETE
KEZBEMERER - &
BB ERE E R F
7 R B £ R L R 3 TR
HEREHEN -

A SHAK AR 8 2 & 3
BEMBWRABELT

2022
—z——

RMB’000
AERBTT

Interest income FEMA
Financial assets at B A
amortised cost SREE 189,193 159,102
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b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risks (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

Interest expenses on financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost:

Interest expenses FEZH
Financial liabilities at B 2
amortised cost e =L

THEREERERBX

(&)

i k()

(i)

FIEmBE (&)
TRABENNEXE
VAR SERKANETE

73,443 52,327

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2022: 50
basis points) increase or decrease in interest rate
of variable-rate bank balances and a 50 basis
points (2022: 50 basis points) increase or decrease
in interest rate of variable-rate borrowings are
used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

Restricted bank deposits/bank balances

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2022: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2023 would increase/
decrease by approximately RMB8,700,000 (2022:
RMB7,552,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable-
rate bank balances.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risks (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (continued)
Borrowings

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2022: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2023 would decrease/
increase by RMB1,400,000 (2022: RMB2,575,000).
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure
to interest rates on its variable-rate borrowings.

There has been no significant change to the Group’s
exposure to interest rate risks or manner in which it

manages and measures.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets, except that the credit risks associated with certain
trade receivables is mitigated because they are secured
on properties in which the estimated fair value of the
properties exceeds the carrying amounts of the related

trade receivables respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Trade receivables arising from contracts with

customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting
any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit
scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed once a
year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. In
addition, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in IFRS 9 to measure the credit loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for trade receivables that are credit-impaired
are assessed individually, the Group determines the ECL
on the remaining balances by using a provision matrix
grouped by common risk characteristic. As part of the
Group'’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
aging, repayment history and past due status to assess the
impairment for its customers in relation to its operation
because these customers consist of a large number of
small customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms. The estimated
loss rates are estimated based on historically observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are
adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort, such as economic data and
forecasts published by governmental bodies and industrial
information published by relevant institutions. At every
reporting date, the historically observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information

are considered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Notes receivables

The credit risk on notes receivables is minimal since the
settlement parties are reputable or state-owned enterprise

with high credit ratings.

Other receivables

For other receivables, management makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. The management believes that there
was no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment

based on 12m ECL.

Financial assets at FVTOCI

Financial assets at FVTOCI were all bills receivables. Since
the issuers were reputable banks of good credit quality,
the management of the Group considered the credit risk of
these bank issued bills is insignificant and no impairment

was provided on them at the year end.

Amounts due from an associate and a joint venture

No allowances for credit losses was made to these balances
since the Group consider the probability of default is
minimal after assessing the counter-parties’ financial

background and creditability.

Restricted bank deposits/bank balances

The credit risk on restricted bank deposits/bank balances is
limited because the counterparties are reputable banks or

financial institutions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H IFFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. R TAE)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HREAREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) FEERBRERET(E)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment KEB 2 AEBEE R T HRFT
comprises the following categories: HBEATER

Trade receivables,
bills receivables at Other financial

Internal FVTOCI and assets/
credit rating Description notes receivables other items
RHEBRE » LAR
REEAHSEHA
HthiG & i R R
PIER(E S AT AR i TRENEXRE Hth@mEE HtFEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
default not credit-impaired
VEE S HFHzEDRBRBIE FHESEEEE +EAEHREESR
—YEEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates  Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
but usually settle the amounts not credit-impaired
BRLE BERALERIBHBRESR BRFe 20EHEEER T ERAEHREESE
HESR —TREERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in -~ Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
credit risk since initial recognition through  not credit-impaired not credit-impaired

information developed internally or
external resources

AT &R BRAANSREC ENFSNERTN 2 PRBEEER FHEBEEER
RBIAK - EERBREZEILM —TEREERE —ITEREERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
18 RRBBRTEELRIEERE FHRMEEEE T HEBEEESE
—EERE —FERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off

debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
HisH BERBERER AR AR E M BN MiHEBTE MiEEBE
BREETEEREY 2 ATae 1t

—T o= FIERE | ENKE AR R AT 169



For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of

the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL
assessment:

Financial assets at FVTOCI
DAREEHELESEHHA

Htiir el enEE
Bills receivables at FVTOCI 24 Low risk
AR BENEEEZEHHA EE R

Hivkr e m RARTTRR

Lifetime ECL
2 HTEHEEEE

THEREEEERBKE
()

fE BB RO SRS ()
TRESIAEBSMEE 2
R  BARTEBEER
83T -

72,366 72,366

Financial assets at
amortised cost

BRESRFHENERMEE
Bank balances 26(b) Note 1 12m ECL 9,256,549 9,256,549
RITEEER =l TEAEHEE

B8
Restricted bank deposits 26(a) Note 1 12m ECL 6,016 6,016
ZRHRITER g TEAEHEE

B8
Other receivables 24 Low risk 12m ECL 228,323 228,323
H A e WRIR 1K\ T EAEHEE

BiE
Notes receivables 24 Low risk Lifetime ECL 110,989 110,989
EERE 1K\ 2 HEEEEEE
Trade receivables 24 Note 2 Lifetime ECL 451,148

(provision matrix)
RS EMFIA fzE2 2 HEHEEEE

(B spE)

Loss Lifetime ECL 95,011 546,159
- credit-impaired
BE T HEREEEBE

—ZERE
Amount due from an associate 25(@a) Low risk 12m ECL 6,057 6,057
JRE st & A B FRIE 1K 2\ +ZEAEREE

B8
Amount due from a joint venture ~ 25(b) Low risk 12m ECL 5,461 5,461

A E IR (KRR

T EAREHEE
BB




For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HREAREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (4%&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) FEERRE KRR ETME(E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of T&REH uREﬂ TEH I i%ﬁ R B
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL HEERMH D @ ELt EUSAW
assessment: (continued) ORESEEEETE : (8)
Financial assets at FVTOCI
DAREEHELHESEHHA
Htiiz a2 enEE
BI||S receivables at FVTOCI 24 Low risk Lifetime ECL 257,848 257,848
’Afﬁfﬁﬁ fiﬂﬁ%iﬁ?{)\ igE o cHEHEEEE
HAibsr A W m O BRI TR
Financial assets at
amortised cost
BEEREHENERMEE
Bank balances 26(b) Note 1 12m ECL 3 8,900,448 8,900,448
RITHR =l Jr:_1ﬂ HEEE
&8
Other receivables 24 Low risk 12m ECL 175,474 175,474
Hib i za ey T EAEHEE
[
Notes receivables 24 Low risk Lifetime ECL ) 210,734 210,734
[SEE3 1K\ ‘1'1_1)3 HEEE
&8
Trade receivables 24 Note 2 Lifetime ECL 546,147
) (provision matrix)
RS EMFIA B2 2HEEEEEE
(FtfEs e )
Loss Lifetime ECL 115,826 661,973
— credit-impaired
B ZHEHEEEE
—EERE
Amount due from an associate 25(a) Low risk 12m ECL ) 7,778 7,778
JRE st & A B FRIE ligEEt T EAAEHEE
[t
Amount due from a joint venture 25(b) Low risk 12m ECL 5,461 5,461
A EDER ey T EAEHEE
B8
Notes: gt -
1. The counterparties are licensed banks with high credit ratings 1. HFHBIEETRERZ 15
and the risk of default on liquid funds is limited. W RBEEZENRE
2. For trade receivables, the Group applied the simplified 2. MR ZEMFETE - AE
approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime 3] e A BT RR AT 75 27 2RI 9
ECL. Except for trade receivables that are credit-impaired T L 75 %5 BT R

are assessed individually, the Group determines the ECL on
those items on a collective basis, grouped by common risk
characteristic.

EEE B EE RN o &
BT EE //a?f@ﬂ’]x%/f
WK TS - N E
#Tu/ﬁ/zf #ED%#IEEZ
fﬁggfugEﬁE“



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 424 B 78R 3= M3

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H L FE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. =T RA(E)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HEREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EFEERRERET(E)

172

Provision matrix — debtors’ aging

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for
its customers in relation to its operation because these
customers consist of a large number of small customers with
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on provision matrix
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired). Debtors that are credit-impaired with gross
carrying amounts of approximately RMB95,011,000 as at
31 December 2023 (2022: RMB115,826,000) were assessed
individually.

Gross carrying amount

R IFAERE — FEI i = R 2

EBAEEFEERBEREZ —
oy o NEBAEKRERZE
BRI EEEREPEBZR
B WIERZEEPEEK
sAFHERRBEHRZ PR
F o RURMEFIRESLIE
RIS A B BFIENE S -
TRIEEEBER2HBEHESR
EERN(CREEEERE)EH
R ZEWGRIAR2023F 12 A 31
H %2022 12 A31 BIg & #
TEFHEERBRZER - KB
202312 A3 HERmEAREN A
AER#95,011,0007T (20224 -
AR ¥ 115,826,0007T ) 2 FE UL
RRBEERAEELEHRRER
FERBE EREITEM -

2023 2022

2= —E-—
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
FHERE RZMERE TFHEEX IHEIGUE
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFT
0-90 days 0%90H 10% 198,654 9% 271,514
91-180 days 91£180H 18% 104,282 26% 120,165
181-365 days 1812365H 45% 108,275 75% 103,790
Over 365 days 3658 93% 39,937 74% 50,678
451,148 546,147
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. TREBEEBEEREXK
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) ZER R NRET S (E)
Provision matrix — debtors’ aging (continued) FRIFAERE — FEYS IR =k Z AR B2 (#8)
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical (HEtERRIRBEKREZ
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors FEHFHAZESBRENEK
and are adjusted for forward-looking information, which migst  WBANETIHKE
included the gross domestic product of the PRC and the FX AN 3K 45 0 BN AT ERAS 2 AT BE M
industry sector index in the coming financial year, that BERELAZE  BEPEHEH
is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping NEERENM TN —FRFEET
is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant EIEE - AEBETHEMATE
information about specific debtors is updated. DFE - ARERETEEBGRIEZ
TERE R VEE 3T -
As at 31 December 2023, the Group provided HZE2023F12A318LFE -
RMB125,370,000 (2022: RMB171,867,000) impairment REBFBREBEEERMEAT
allowance for trade receivables, based on the SREBUKREFRARE
provision matrix. In addition, impairment allowance of 125,370,0007T (20224 : AR
RMB95,011,000 (2022: RMB115,826,000) was made on #171,867,0007C ) F{A%ERE -
debtors which are having financial difficulty. HEBEREBRNEKRERR
B EBAGTIRABEBEEAR
#95,011,0007T (20225 « AR
#115,826,0007T) °
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRINABREBEBC A HER
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the REEWHE 2 HBEHEE
simplified approach. EiEZ EE) -
As at 1 January 2022 202291818 223,513 91,433 314,946
Transfer to credit-impaired S &R1E (25,286) 25,286 -
Impairment loss recognised B R EET 1B 92,984 18,849 111,833
Impairment loss reversed B &[] (E E5 18 (119,344) (22,914 (142,258)
Recover of write-off s - 3,172 3,172
As at 31 December 2022 #2022412831H 171,867 115,826 287,693
Transfer to credit-impaired  {ZE & (1,963) 1,963 -
Impairment loss recognised B FEzR 5 (8 E718 13,512 1,451 14,963
Impairment loss reversed B #EIR{EEE (58,046) (23,760) (81,806)
Write-off B! ~ (469) (469)
As at 31 December 72023%F12A31H
2023 125,370 95,011 220,381
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H L FE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. TRITAGE)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HEREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) FEERE R ETE(E)
Provision matrix — debtors’ aging (continued) IR IFAERE — B IR e AR e (#8)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are EUWE ZRFTIBRERNES
mainly due to: FERHERN

2023 2022
Increase/(decrease) in Increase/(decrease) in

lifetime ECL lifetime ECL
—2-= —E-o—fF

EMRMEREGE EHEMEERR
@, (RP) B/ (R

(not credit- (credit- (not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) impaired) impaired)
(REEEE) (BE8RE) (B2EEREBE) (BEERE)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®BTT AR®Tr ARETT

Trade debtors with gross FEAEARE
carrying amounts of 8,703,0007T
RMBS,703,000 (2022%F : AR
(2022: RMB31,005,000) 31,005,0007T)
defaulted and transferred 7% 5 fELEUE

to credit-impaired EOWERE
EERE (1,963) 1,963 (25,286) 25,286
Settlement in full of trade ~ BHAESEAAEAR
debtors with a gross #457,040,0007T
carrying amount of (2022F : AR
RMB457,040,000 664,929,0007T)
(2022: RMB664,929,0000 7 X FEWFIE (58,046) (23,760) (119,344) (22,914)

New trade receivables with  BREE{E AR
gross carrying amount of 341,695,0007T

RMB341,695,000 (20225 : AR¥
(2022: RMB428,175,000) 428,175,0007T)
IR S ENGIIR 13,512 1,451 92,984 18,849

As at 31 December 2023, the Group wrote off a trade EEENETERARNESR
receivable with the gross amount of RMB469,000 when MMEER - REBSIHEIHE
there was information indicating that the debtor is in Uy FRaE - 7A2023512A31H -
liquidation process. A5t AR®469,0007T °
As at 31 December 2022, the Group has recovered A2022F 124318 » REEW
RMB3,172,000 of the trade receivables that were written B ZAEHENRZ S ERFTAR
off before. #3,172,0007C °
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Provision matrix — debtors’ aging (continued)

During both years, there was no movement for the ECL
allowance of other receivables.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The directors of the Company monitors the
utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants. As at 31 December 2023, the Group and the
Company have available unutilised banking facilities of
RMB9,171 million (2022: RMB9,785 million).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities
based on agreed repayment terms. The tables have been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest dates on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. The weighted average interest rate for
the variable-rate borrowings has been calculated using the
interest rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.

%?@%%EE%&&%
FE R KR E R ()
FRIBIERE — (B IR A Z AR (#8)

RAEFER - HibEYERZ
BHMEERAEIR G EE -

REERBESRBRME © &~
SEER &Z&F“fir‘ﬁﬁﬁ
DB AEEEEZHEERR
TEEYKTE - URRIEBES
//\LE/&@Z%Q; ° §$%T§@J
FEZ\ W WHERE

% @I2m3¢uﬂ
31EI ZK%@&ZIS EICES
FRAMBITEEEEAARE
9,171,000,000 7T (20224 = A
[R#9,785,000,0007T) ©

TREZEERAFIIAEER
FITESMBERNREOF
B o TRIEBAEEEAN
H2&xFHBMzEmBERM
RBEMERH - Ti‘%@%ﬂ
BRERAEHRERE - 18 fﬁg
Zi]l]ﬁéii’]ﬂ?@iﬁ ﬁﬁiﬁﬂ
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b. Financial risk management objectives and b. TREBEEBEERERX

policies (continued) (&)

Liquidity risk (continued) REELE(E)

Liquidity tables nEERFE
2023 2023
Trade and other payables RARAE ﬁ’ - 733809 - - - 733809 733,809
Amounts due to joint ventures  E[TA B0 E5UE - 22,515 - - - 2,515 2,515
Variable interest rates borrowings ,;%Paiﬁ 310 - - 292633 - 292633 280,000
Fixed interest rate borrowings ~ EEEE 351 280,231 667,875 579,144 - 1,527,250 1,493,000
Lease labilities EGfE 4.76 2,599 8,192 30,825 130,056 171,672 96,404

1,039,154 676,067 902,602 130,056 2,747,879 2,625,728

2022 2022%
Trade and other payables X%)}iﬁ/ﬁf&ﬁ* - 810,178 - - - 810,178 810,178
Amounts due to joint ventures  ERFASMEZE - 19,567 - - - 19,567 19,567
Amount due to an associate ﬁﬂ%ﬁ‘éﬁ%#\ - 256 - - - 256 256
Variable interest rates borrowings /;,%J B 296 - - 533,093 - 533,093 515,000
Fixed interest rate borrowings ~~ FE(EE 285 692,428 331,665 881,709 - 1,905,802 1,860,646
Lease liabltes HERE 476 2809 6,915 20364 134450 173558 94,879
1,525,258 338,580 1,444,166 134450 3,442 454 3,300,526
The amounts included above for variable interest rate 1ﬁBA¥&ﬂ=HﬁFEj tEAEBET M
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject SRR 8RR EE G R
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to A FiidEfTAE SR BEZ T A
those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of TR T EE5EIE &8 o

the reporting period.
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b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and inputs used).

Unquoted fund investment 138,726 117,156
FEHNEEDIRE
Bills receivables at FVTOCI 72,366 257,848

NAREEFELEES
T A AR A et HfE
WIRTTRE

Level 2
FH

Level 3

agmm%@a%&&%
BAEREEEUATENES
ARBEMAEDATE

AREBH S BEENEBE
MARATEE - FRIEH
EMMABEXSeRAERD
FE (R IR B 2 (AT
RBABR) 2 AR -

Net asset value as published
by the fund manager
E2BBARMZ EEFE

Discounted cash flow method
was used to capture the
present value of the expected
future economic benefits

to be derived from the
ownership of bills receivables.
FRAMRIR S REEEER
JEWIRI TR IBVE B PR EE &
%%Eﬂﬂik%%@ﬁﬂﬁéﬂ@iﬁ
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H L FE

Value-added tax refund (note a) AR (K ta) 20,304 23,443
Others (note b) Hpth (B75b) 3,819 3,889
24,123 27,332
Notes: Kzt -
a. Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group received refund of value-added a. TN B E T B 2 5] 5t S AT 6]

tax from the relevant PRC tax authorities for purchasing reusable
materials. It was granted quarterly when the total reusable materials
consumed were more than 20% or 40% of the total materials
consumed for production. There were no other specific conditions
attached to the grants and, therefore, the Group recognised the grants
upon approval being obtained from the relevant PRC authority.

b. The amount includes certain incentives to attract foreign investment
from the relevant PRC tax authorities in the form of profits tax refunds.

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

Wl FAHT KR 2 B B B 75 2 /5.2
IEEFRF o fi A B AE R RS FE
AE BRI 1B A EE I BT FEFA T FI 48 8820 %
2640% -« RlA] tr EHERIEEFRF -
ZE B AN R 5T IR F
W A EE B RIS B 5 F 2 S i 1
SR

b. EHEEETEE NG EERBRSI
BREBETHEFHERZETREE
B e

TRAMASERORERHNE EE
B BRASNMIFRSEE - BETD
ELNEBEAHSREIARKRERE
ReEEEFeReRERTOERE
BEBHRERE -

As at 1 January 2022 R2022%1 A1H 101,023 1,468,963 - 1,178 1,571,164
Interest expenses (note 9) H &3 H (47:79) 4,743 - - 52,327 57,070
Dividends declared FIRIE - - 706,968 - 706,968
Financing cash flow BREEHRENE (10,887) 906,683 (706,968) (49,901) 138,927
As at 31 December 2022 M2022912 8318 94,879 2,375,646 - 3,604 2,474,129
Interest expenses (note 9) H &3 H(#1:79) 4,613 - - 73,443 78,056
Dividends declared SIRE - - 295,298 - 295,298
Financing cash flow REEBHSRE (3,088) (602,646) (295,298) (72,635) (973,667)
As at 31 December 2023  1#2023%12H31H 96,404 1,773,000 - 4,412 1,873,816




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 73R < i 5-
For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H IFFE

43. SUBSIDIARIES 43. MIBA T
(@) General Information of subsidiaries (@) KBATR—RER

Place of Class of
incorporation/ shares/ Paid up issued/ Proportion Proportion
registration/ registered  registered of ownership of voting
Name of subsidiaries operations capital capital interest held power held Principal activities

HRaL/ R/ HERfT/ L] L
KELRER EENR FRRORN RS L e RERELA  ERE
2023 2022 2023 2022

~§-Sf T % “BCIE T -

— = — = — ———

*Perfect Industrial Holdings Pte., Ltd. British Virgin Islands ~~ Ordinary 589,719,535 100%  100%  100%  100% Investment holding
ERRLEE LRk £79,719,535 REZR

Oriental Industrial Holdings Pte., Ltd. Republic of Singapore  Ordinary U5$838,043,787 100%  100%  100%  100%  Investmentholding
("Singapore”)

HRNE AR £71838,043,787 REER
(T3 1)
Asia Continent Investment Holdings Singapore Ordinary 55288,846,900 100%  100%  100%  100% Investment holding
Pte., Lid. e LER F71.288,346,900 RERHK
Shanghai Ya Li Cement PRC Registered US$15,000,000 100% 100%  100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of concrete
Products Co., Ltd.2 capital
LEENRERBRAR: hE &R 715,000,000 RERRERRL
Jiangxi Ya Dong Cement PRC Registered US$356,104,433 95% 95% 67% 67%  Manufacture and sale of cement
Corporation Ltd! capital products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products
TRERKEARAF P AfER  %73%,104433 RERHENKEER  BF-
FERENREBER
Wuhan Ya Dong Cement Co,, Ltd? PRC Registered US$36,140,000 100%  100%  100%  100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products
RETRKEARAR: P HRER F736,140,000 RERHENEER  BE-
FERENREBER
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43.
(a)

Name of subsidiaries

HELARER

Jiangxi Ya Li Transport Co., Ltd.!
TREHERRRAA

Oriental Holding Co,, Ltd 2
EREARRLT

Nanchang Yali Concrete Produce Ltd!
BESNKRERERAA

Nanchang Yadong Cement Co,, Ltd.!

BEERIRARAE

Hubei Yadong Cement Co,, Ltd 2

BLERKRARLEY

180

Place of
incorporation/
registration/
operations

il i/
EEE

PRC

RE

PRC

o8

PRC

T

PRC

T

PRC

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
General Information of subsidiaries (continued)

Class of
shares/
registered
capital

FERARR

Registered
capital
e
Registered
capital
Ry
Registered
Capital

AR

Registered

AR

Registered
capital

AR

43.

Ff 2~ 5] (48

(a)

Paid up issued/ Proportion

registered of ownership

capital interest held

BERT/ FLFFHE

s fRsih
2023 2022
—$-=F "3°F%

RMB12,500,000 974%  974%

AR%12,500,0007

158204,191,000 100% 100%

F7204,191,000

RMB60,000,000 95% 95%

ARE60,000,00070

RMB90,000,000 725%  725%

ARE90,000,0000

US$154,800,000 100% 100%

71.154,800,000

B2 A —RER (&)

Proportion
of voting
power held
LN
RRRELH

2023
—

— ——

100%

100%

100%

67%

100%

100%

100%

100%

67%

100%

2022
—E-CF

Principal activities

IRRH

Provision of transportation services
REEGRE

Investment holding

REER

Manufacture and sale of concrete
HERHERRT

Manufacture and sale capital
of cement products, clinker,
blast-furnace slag powder and
related products
HERHENEER  BH
FERENREBER

Manufacture and sale of cement
products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products

HEREEKRER  BH
FERENREBER
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H IFFE

43. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 43. HIBAR (&)
(a) General Information of subsidiaries (continued) (a) KMBAR—RER(E)

Place of Class of
incorporation/ shares/ Paid up issued/ Proportion Proportion
registration/ registered  registered of ownership of voting
Name of subsidiaries operations capital capital interest held power held Principal activities

ERaL/ &/ fRRf/ FLRRHE Ll
HEARER HER FRRnEN ERES L RRRHLA  IERE
223 02 w3 A

ZBCcE "To-F ZBITE “3oC

Sichuan Yadong Cement Co., Ltd.2 PRC Registered US$368,340,000 100%  100%  100%  100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furace
slag powder and related
products
mIERAEARAF: P HRER E7368,340,000 REREENRER BH
FERENREBER
Chengdu Yali Cement Products Co,, Ltd2  PRC Registered US§4,100,000 100%  100%  100%  100%  Manufacture and sale of concrete
Capital products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products
RBENKERRERAT i HfER 74100000 RERHENEER  BE -
FERERREBER
Huanggang Yadong Cement Co,, Ltd 2 PRC Registered US$86,170,000 100%  100%  100%  100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products
EMERIRARAA hE &R 786,170,000 BEREEKRER  BH
RERERREEER
Hubei Ya Li Transport Co,, Ltd 2 PRC Registered RMB13,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Provision of transportation services
capital
AL EHERARAT I HER ARHEI13,000000T RitERRY
Sichuan Ya Li Transportation Co,, Ltd PRC Registered S§3,500,000 100%  100%  100%  100% Provision of transportation services
Capital
B EHERERAR HEl AR 713,500,000 RUERRHG
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023%12 A31H L FE

(@) General Information of subsidiaries (continued) (a)

B2 A —RER (&)

Yangzhou Ya Dong Cement Co,, Ltd? PRC Registered 15$35,530,000 100%  100%  100%  100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
Capital products, clinker, blast-fumace
slag powder and related
products
AMEFKEERA: i AER £7135,530,000 RERBEKEER BH-
REREHRARER
Sichuan Yali Cement Products Co,, Ltd2 ~ PRC Registered 15$3,300,000 100%  100%  100%  100%  Manufacture and sale of concrete
Capital
BN KERRERAR: ke BV %713,300,000 RERBERRL
Wuhan Ya Li Cement Products Co,, Ltd2 ~ PRC Registered RMB60,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of concrete
capital
RESHKERRARAD: hE iMER AR H60,000,0007T HENHERRL
Wuhan Yaxin Cement Co., Ltd3 PRC Registered RMB90,000,000 90% 90% 67% 67%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furace
slag powder and related
products
RETRKERRAT hE iMER ARH90,000,0007T RERBENEER  BH-
BERERREEER
Taizhou Yadong Building Material Co, Ltd2  PRC Registered USD16,000,000 100% 100%  100% 100%  Sale and storage of cement
capital product
FMERRHERAT hE ER £7716,000,000 HERERKEER
Sichuan Lanfeng Cement Co,, Ltd.? PRC Registered RIMB600,000,000 100%  100%  100%  100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
Capital products, clinker, blast-fumace
slag powder and related
products
BIEEkRERARR i AER AE® BERBEKEER  BH-
600,000,0007C BERENLIEBER
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(a) General Information of subsidiaries (continued)

Sichuan Lanfeng? PRC
s hE

Ruichang Yadong New Material Co,, Ltd."  PRC

RESRAMHARLT PE

Jiangling Yadong Building Materials Cement - PRC
Co, Ltd3

TESREMKEARAR PE

Registered
Capital

G-

Registered
Capital

iftax

Registered
capital

iftax

RMB20,000,000

ARE
20,000,000

RMB2,000,000

AR2,000,0007

RMB280,000,000

ARH
280,000,000

100%

100%

95%

85%

L These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

3 This company was established in the PRC in the form of

foreign-invested enterprise.

* This subsidiary is directly held by the Company and it held
Asia Continent Investment Holding Pte., Ltd. of 100% which

indirectly held the remaining subsidiaries.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of the year.

(a)

B2 A —RER (&)

100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
products, clinker, blast-fumace

slag powder and related
products

100%  100%  BERHEKEER B

BERENLIEBER

100% 100%  Sale and storage of cement

product
HENRRENH

85% 85%  Manufacture and sale of cement
products, clinker, blast-fumace

slag powder and related
products

RERHEKRER  BH-

RERERRABER

3 NGNSl RS LN e

* ZARBEMAE(PE)E
BRARE#FER R THWE
A A F8 100% [i% # .2 Oriental
Industrial Holding Pte., Ltd.#F

Ao

MEMBRARNFLRARTE

EHES
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(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEEARFEREZZIER
have material non-controlling interests =IENG E
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TREREAE AIEEER
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling ZAREEIFEEENBARFE
interests:
Jiangxi Ya Dong Cement PRC 5% 5% 33% 33% 16,051 23085 308466 337,016
Corporation Ltd. (note)
IRGRKRERAAM) i
Indivicually immaterial subsidiaries (10,904) (19,165 55,484 66,389
with non-controlling interests
EAFERER  BREEENBLT
5141 3920 363,950 403405

Note:

Summarised financial information in respect of the above
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Wet . BRI LB EXFERE
wm ZWE R A HFERE
BIT o A THHEEHEE
ERYHEERR ST
B o
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(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests

(continued)

Jiangxi Ya Dong Cement Corporation Ltd.

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of the

Company

Non-controlling interests

Revenue

Expenses

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

Profit and total comprehensive
income attributable to owners of
the Company

Profit and total comprehensive
income attributable to non-
controlling interests

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Net cash inflow from operating
activities

Net cash inflow from investing
activities

Net cash outflow from financing
activities

Net cash (outflow) inflow

MBEE

FERBEE

mEaE

FERBEE
EAYNCIE 2 DN Y S

ES g 3

Yezs

RS2
FRENMEERA

RRBRE ANBERH M

2HEBA

TR 2 PR A5 1 ) B
2HEEA

A FRAE A a1 AR
RERHAEHRLFR
RERBE

WE PR

BERDTABE SR

e Oid) RN FE

(b) EREXEEREZRZER
BB A AR ()

IADRARERRE

3,451,186
3,276,072
(523,392)
(34,555)
5,860,845
308,466
3,454,952
(3,133,927)

321,025

304,974

16,051
44,602
539,785
25,696

(892,013)
(326,532)

3,968,751
3,402,279
(589,445)
(41,259)
6,403,310
337,016
4,276,029
(3,814,325)

461,704

438,619

23,085

604,980

345,835

(462,865)
487,950
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Information about the statement of financial position of the

BREARRRHEHEEE BB

Company at the end of the reporting period includes: MR ZERBIE
NON-CURRENT ASSET EREBEE
Unlisted investment in a subsidiary RMBAE 2 IELTIRE 8,231,182 8,231,182
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Interest receivables R B, 13 18
Dividend receivable FEM A I 196,386 196,386
Financial assets at FVTPL U AREstE B EE T
AZHBEMSMmEE 27 138,726 117,156
Bank balances and cash IRITEERR 26 5,618 15,158
340,743 328,718
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEnaR
Borrowings — due within one year BE——FRNEHE 30 1,148,000 1,014,000
Other payables HAbFERFRIE 4,375 3,673
Loans from subsidiaries (note) B ABRMEE (H1:E) 702,581 853,764
1,854,956 1,871,437
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES nE & ERE (1,514,213) (1,542,719)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EFE#{E
LIABILITIES WnE AR 6,716,969 6,688,463
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY ERBAMR
Borrowings — due after one year BE——F%5H 30 625,000 1,361,646
NET ASSETS BERE 6,091,969 5,326,817
CAPITAL AND RESERVES 2. 9211
Share capital N 34 140,390 140,390
Reserves R 5,951,579 5,186,427
TOTAL EQUITY =tk 6,091,969 5,326,817

Note:  The loans from subsidiaries were unsecured, interest bearing at 2.61%
and 4.19% (2022: 2.47% and 2.62%) per annum and repayable on

demand.

Wit : KEBARFIEEBEME  HEFE
2.61% F4.19% (2022 % : 2.47% =

2.62% )it B RAZZEFIEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &% 2023412 A31H IFFE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Movement in the Company’s reserves

44,

BRAAQAMBARNRERZ
EX(E)
EEEE

Share Other Retained
premium reserve earnings
B s (R it G i RERR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARETTT ARBTT ARETT
(Note)
(B1at)
As at 1 January 2022 20221 A1H 508,060 2,073,316 3,478,167 6,059,543
Loss and total comprehensive & XEE &
expense for the year FRNEEKAAEEE - - (168,033) (168,033)
Dividends recognised as BRBDIKLZ
distribution (note 13) BB (HaE13) (508,060) - (197,023)  (705,083)
As at 31 December 2022 R2022F181H - 2,073,316 3,113,111 5,186,427
Profits and total FRE A
comprehensive income FALEBALRE
for the year - - 1,015,848 1,015,848
Dividends recognised as WEREDIKZ
distribution (note 13) RB(Hrat13) - - (250,696)  (250,696)
As at 31 December 2023 1%2023%¥12A31H - 2,073,316 3,878,263 5,951,579

Note:  In accordance with the Cayman Islands Companies Law, share premium

is one of the Company’s reserves available for distribution.

TR =F FERS | ENKR(PER)EEAT
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Financial Summary

MGER

RESULTS ¥EE

For the year ended 31 December
BE12A31HLFE
2019 2020 2021 2022

—T-NEF —ZT-TF —T—_—F T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETRT ARETT ARETT

Revenue Wz 12,608,716 10,823,753 11,755,908 9,614,330 7,427,010
Profit before tax BT AT A 4,350,080 3,686,761 2,564,771 689,001 471,631
Income tax expense FTisfifs (1,119,984) (936,352) (743,468) (265,009) (360,396)
Profit for the year FEREH 3,230,096 2,750,409 1,821,303 423,992 111,235
Attributable to: AT AT
Owners of the Company ~ AAFEA A 3,147,340 2,668,708 1,768,307 420,072 106,088
Non-controlling interests IR AR i A 82,756 81,701 52,996 3,920 5,147
3,230,096 2,750,409 1,821,303 423,992 111,235
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE

As at 31 December
W+=-BA=+—8H
2020 2021 2022 2023

—T-TE B T —E-=fF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AER¥TT

Total assets BERE 23,985,754 21,634,251 21,416,855 21,146,284 20,282,899
Total liabilities afEwE 9,342,760 5,103,023 3,743,015  3,755420 3,076,098
14,642,994 16,531,228 17,673,840 17,390,864 17,206,801

Equity attributable to: VAT AL REfh s -
Owners of the Company AL FEAE A 14,263,801 16,149,083 17,272,470 16,987,459 16,842,851
Non-controlling interests FEfE Rt 379,193 382,145 401,370 403,405 363,950

14,642,994 16,531,228 17,673,840 17,390,864 17,206,801
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